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| etter from the Chairman

In a macroeconomic environment that continues to be characterised by increasing uncertainty outlook, in 2018
the ltalian economy continued to grow, even though at a slower pace than in 2017, thus proving that fundamen-
tals are still strong. Despite slowing down in the second half of the year, the GDP grew by +0.8% and the labour
market gave positive signs, with the unemployment rate going down.

The Italian banking system is stronger than in the past, because it has increased its resilience to severe econom-
ic shocks and impacts on capital, as shown by the favourable results of the stress test exercise carried out by
the EBA,; furthermore, asset quality has markedly improved, with a strong decrease in non-performing loans and
a concomitant increase in the coverage ratio. Nevertheless, the scenario uncertainty has negatively impacted
banking stock prices, which decreased by over 30%. Moreover, regulatory developments and the competition
from non-banking players are increasingly requiring transformation of the business model and a different way of
interacting with customers, which goes well beyond the provision of financial services.

In this scenario, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group did stand out, as it closed the 2018 financial year
with still better performances. Net income came to euro 274 million, up by 10% vs. 2017. This is an important
contribution to the excellent performance of the set the entities of Crédit Agricole in Italy, which, also thanks
to constant increase in cooperation and synergies, posted aggregate net income of euro 793 million, up to +8%
YOY.

The Bank’s loan showed a considerable increase of +6% YQOY, driven both by home loans and by loans to
businesses; asset management also increased by +3% YOY, with a positive contribution of all business lines,
in spite of the unfavourable performance of markets. Evidence of strong commercial effectiveness is the acqui-
sition of 140 thousand new customers, with an increasing contribution of the digital channel and the devel-
opment of the in-house network of financial advisors. The implemented strategy was based on three scopes:
continuous support to households, with home loans up by over +10% and consumer credit intermediation
volumes up by 33%; support to the economy with loans to businesses up by +4%, with specific focus on the
segments that are key for the Group, such as the Agri-Food one; development in asset management driven by
higher distribution of insurance products (up by +19%).

These performances were achieved paying special attention to improving asset quality: the NLP stock strongly
decreased (down by -37% YQY), based on an NPL sale plan for a gross amount of euro 1.4 billion, and with the
concomitant increase in the coverage ratio of non-performing loans. The liquidity position remained well above
the regulatory requirements and capital strength proved once again more than adequate.

2018 was an important year not only in terms of performances, but also for the integration of the Rimini,
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Cesena and San Miniato savings banks, which had been acquired at the end of 2017. A successful path
that ended with their merger into the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia and with their full business
revival.

In line with the business plan ambitions, in the last three years investments were made for over euro 350
million, aimed at supporting the Group’s growth through customer centrality and attention to people. Fur-
thermore, important projects were started with the objective of making the bank 100% human and 100%
digital, through the evolution of multichannel tools and the development of innovative models to share and
create business.

Along with the above projects, actions were implemented to enhance operational efficiency, to rationalize
and transform physical structures, which also led to the opening of important hubs throughout Italy. Among
these, worth mentioning are the hubs in Verona, Genoa and Salerno, as well as the opening, in Milan, of
the first Village of Crédit Agricole in Italy, a Start-Up accelerator dedicated to business innovation, sharing
and creation.

The event that made 2018 a special year was the opening of Crédit Agricole Green Life. The new head-
quarters of the Banking Group in Parma were built thanks to an investment of euro 50 million, house over
1500 colleagues in a state-of-the-art environment that features innovative work arrangements (such as
smart-working) and is environmentally sustainable and technologically innovative to the highest standard.

The above reported actions were born of the enhancement of people and areas where the Group operates,
two of the core purposes that have always guided our Group. Therefore, it was no coincidence that, in 2018
alone, 200 new resources were recruited, 70% of whom are young people, and that actions were imple-
mented aimed at improving worklife balance and at enhancing the role of women in the company. Tangible
commitments that go along with the many initiatives that were supported working side by side with players
strongly rooted in the communities, especially the Foundations, which led to donations of euro 5 million.

The 2018 Annual Report gives evidence of the Group’s importance for the Italian economy. Continuous in-
vestments, focus on innovation and our international identity guarantee constant growth also in the years to
come, relying on the trust that our customers place in us and on the commitment of all the people working
within our very sound company.

The Chairman
Ariberto Fassati

Letter from the Chairman 5



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Governing, Control Bodies
and Independent Auditors

Board of Directors

CHAIRMAN

Ariberto Fassati

DEPUTY-CHAIRMAN
Xavier Musca

Fabrizio Pezzani ()

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Giampiero Maioli (*)

DIRECTORS

Gian Domenico Auricchio (¥)
Alberto Bertoli (°)

Evelina Christillin (°)
Francois-Edouard Drion (*)
Jacques Ducerf

Daniel Epron

Alberto Figna (°)

Nicolas Langevin

Michel Mathieu

Thierry Pomaret (¥)

Annalisa Sassi (°)

O'Members of the Executive Committee
©lndependent Directors

6 Governing, Control Bodies and Independent Auditors



Credit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Board of Statutory Auditors

CHAIRMAN

Paolo Alinovi

STANDING AUDITORS
Luigi Capitani

Maria Ludovica Giovanardi
Stefano Lottici

Germano Montanari

ALTERNATE AUDITORS

Alberto Cacciani

Roberto Perlini

General Management

DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGER FOR RETAIL BANKING

Roberto Ghisellini

DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGER FOR CORPORATE BANKING

Olivier Guilhamon

FINANCIAL REPORTING OFFICER

Pierre Débourdeaux

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

EY S.p.A.

Governing, Control Bodies and Independent Auditors 7



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Key figures of the Credit Agricole Italia

Banking Group

As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by Crédit Agricole SA., has excercised the option
envisaged in the IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparison figures related to the IFRS 9 first-time

adoption financial statements.

Income Statement data (thousands of euro) m 2017 m

Net operating revenues 1,937,971 1,711,188 1,712,290
Operating margin 664,527 666,172 651,755
Net profit (loss) 273,898 690,240 208,124
[cooceShet i thovmsoowrd —————_________|___aw__an| o]
Loans to customers 51,001,282 44,251,456 ‘ 38,209,279
Of which securities measured at amortized cost 4,985,559
Funding from customers 48,159,170 50,358,320 39,892,679
Indirect funding from customers 63,477,921 64,172,911 64,892,521

Number of employees 9,878 10,271 8,268
Number of branches 984 1,015 815
ot oficoncy and ot sty ios a1 o]
Cost © /income ratio 63.6% 57.6% 56.3%
Net profit/Average equity (ROE) @ 4.6% 4.6% 4.2%
Net profit/Average Tangible Equity (ROTE) @ 6.9% 7.2% 6.7%
Net non-performing loans/Net loans to customers 3.8% 7.6% 7.6%
Total adjustments of non-performing loans/Gross non-performing loans 52.5% 44.9% 42.2%
T ) 2
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio 11.2% 11.6% 11.4%
Tier 1 ratio 13.8% 12.8% 11.8%
Total capital ratio 16.8% 15.1% 13.3%

OThe net profit takes account of the badwill and integration expenses resulting from the Fellini Banks

) This item reports debt securities and loans in the amortized cost portfolio. Previously, this item reported financial assets that were not listed on an active

market (Level 2 and Level 3) to customers

) Ratio calculated excluding ordinary and extraordinary contributions given to support the banking system

@ For the figure as at 31 Dec. 2017, the item used was net “operating” earnings

Key figures
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Significant events

JANUARY

Crédit Agricole ltalia successfully launched its first public issue in Italy of covered bonds with 20 year maturity for euro 500 million..

FEBRUARY

For the 10th year in a row, the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group was awarded the Top Employers certification

MARCH

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group won the title of “Highest Climber” for having climbed up the highest number of positions in the Potential-
Park 2018 list on Digital Talent Communication, which assessed the ability and effectiveness of companies in communicating and proving attractive on
the web to look for candidates and to attract young talents.

JUNE

Crédit Agricole Green Life - the new headquarters of the Group - opened, which embody an innovative approach to worklife and to welcoming its
stakeholders.
The complex is environmentally sustainable and technologically advanced at the highest standard and it can house approximately 1,500 employees.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group won a prize within the Private Banking and Wealth Management Award, the annual event organized by AlFin
in order to analyze the trends and prospects for Private Banking. The Group ranked first for the Private Banking Division of Commercial Banking for
“Soluzione Valore Plus”, the customized advisory services that have been designed for Private Banking customers.

At the 16th Milano Finanza Global Awards, dedicated to the ltalian lending and financial industry, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group was awarded
the Leone d’Oro Prize for the Best Institutional Campaign. The Group also performed very well in the Value Creators category, where Crédit Agricole
FriulAdria was elected the Best Bank in the Friuli Venezia Giulia Region and Crédit Agricole Carispezia the Best Bank in the Liguria Region.

Merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato into Crédit Agricole ltalia

JULY

The partnership between Crédit Agricole and the University of Parma started and, far from being simply a dedicated range of banking products and
services, is a true value proposal to the community.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group became the Official Bank and Top Partner of F.C. Internazionale Milano. Merger by incorporation of Cassa di
Risparmio di Cesena into Crédit Agricole Italia.

SEPTEMBER

Merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini into Crédit Agricole Italia.

Giampiero Maioli, the CEO of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group and Chief Country Officer of Crédit Agricole in Italy, was invested with the title
of Chevalier dans I'ordre de la Légion d’Honneur by Christian Masset, the Ambassador of France to ltaly, during a ceremony held at Palazzo Farnese,
the seat of the French embassy in Rome.

OCTOBER

An important agreement was signed by and between Crédit Agricole and Barilla, the forerunner in Italy of supply chain agreements for high-quality and
sustainable durum wheat. Thanks to its signing, the 5,000 farms supplying this raw material will be able to directly access dedicated banking services
and loans.

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank launched its first green investment solution for the customers of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking
Group.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group was awarded AlFIn first price “2018 CSR-Sustainability Prize”, in the Banks category, and a mention of merit
for the FReD VOLONTARI DI VALORE project, carried out in cooperation with Legambiente.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group launched the new instant payments service, which can be used directly through Internet Banking and with the
Mobile Banking app. All holders of current accounts with one of the Banks of the Group can send and receive instant credit transfers directly on their
PCs, smartphones and tablets through Nowbanking in its desktop, app and mobile-responsive versions.

NOVEMBER

The Plan of merger of Crédit Agricole Carispezia into Crédit Agricole ltalia was approved. The merger is going to result in additional new other synergies
for the Banking Group and in higher operational efficiency, thanks to the streamlining of its corporate structure and decision-making processes and is
going to generate no impact no impact on employment levels.

DECEMBER

Relying on long-standing experience in France, Le Village by CA opened its doors for the first time in Italy, in Milan, in a bewitching setting, a former
convent dating back to 1400. Le Village by Crédit Agricole supports young businesses with high innovation and growth potential through a cooperative
system comprising public and private partners. The startups that decide to join the Village can access, at favourable economic terms and conditions,
the infrastructure they need for their business operations, state-of-the-art technology environments that include closed offices, co-working areas,
meeting and conference rooms.

Significant events 9



The Crédit Agricole Group
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The Creédit Agricole Group
in ltaly

No.

CONSUMER CREDIT ASSET

PLAYER MANAGER
IN ITALY IN ITALY*

4 MILLION 15,000
CUSTOMERS STAFF MEMBERS
| ] II
aos| ©
4] =~
793 MLN € 3,5 BLN €
NET INCOME - SHARE NET OPERATING
GROUP REVENUES
; %
a é“
250 BLN €** 67 MLD €
CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS LOANS
AND FUNDS UNDER TO CUSTOMERS
MANAGEMENT

* Source: Assogestioni, “Mappa trimestrale del Risparmio Gestito”, 3Q 2018. Data gross of duplications.
** Including “out-of-Group” Amundi AuM, CACEIS Assets under Custody
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The Group’s operations
in Italy
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The Crédit Agricole Italia
Banking Group

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, through its commercial banks,
is a proximity banking player that covers all market segments, thanks to its

distinctive positioning based on customer centrality.

CO¢ CREDIT AGRICOLE

Una grande banca, tutta per te.

m

RETAIL BANKING PRIVATE BANKING

984 BRANCHES AND 25 MARKETS AND
61 SMALL BUSINESS 12 SUB-CENTERS
CENTERS
PRIVATE BANKING FINANCIAL
25 MARKETS ADVISORS
AND 14 SUB-CENTERS, 11 MARKETS

1 LARGE CORPORATE
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Parent Company of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, it is strongly rooted in the communities it operates
in and originated from local banks. In addition to its provinces of origin, Parma and Piacenza, it operates in
Italy’s most productive cities: Turin, Milan, Florence, Bologna, Rome and Naples

A 91.0h

bin €

WORTH OF
TOTAL FUNDING

36.1
bin €

WORTH OF
LOANS

827

POINT
OF SALE

In 2007, Crédit Agricole FriulAdria became part of the Group, with the objective of expanding its operations to
cover the entire Triveneto Region. It has 16,000 mutual shareholders, who give evidence of its strong bond
with the local fabric; today it is a reference point for households and businesses in North-eastern ltaly and is
implementing a significant project to expand operations to the Veneto Region.

WORTH OF
WORTH OF
LOANS TOTAL FUNDING

Carispezia, one of the oldest savings banks in ltaly, joined the Group in 2011. It is the market leader in its orig-
inal provinces of operation, La Spezia and Massa Carrara; since 2014 it has been operating also in the provinces

of Genoa, Savona and Imperia.
99 M 6.9 h
bin €

POINT WORTH OF
OF SALE TOTAL FUNDING

2.8 A
bin €

WORTH OF
LOANS

CH? CREDIT AGRICOLE
S LEASING

Credit Agricole Leasing ltalia operates in the equipment, seacraft and aircraft, vehicle, renewable energy and real
estate leasing segments. At the end of 2018, the loan portfolio amounted to approximately euro 2BIn.

@5 CREDIT AGRICOLE
L GROUP SOLUTIONS

CAGS is the consortium company of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group in charge of all activities
relating to: Operational Processes, Information Systems, Technical Logistics, Safety and Security, Business
Continuity, Purchases and Real Estate Management, as well as Human Resources Administration.
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Group financial highlights and ratios

As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparative figures included in the IFRS 9

first-time adoption annual report.

Income Statement highlights © (thousands of euro)

31 Dec. 2018

31 Dec. 2017

Changes

Absolute

%

Net interest income 990,512 915,676 74,836 8.2
Net fee and commission income 898,245 760,307 137,938 18.1
Dividends 12,614 8,839 3,775 42.7
Income from banking activities 34,705 41,391 -6,686 -16.2
Other operating income (expenses) 1,895 -15,025 16,920
Net operating income 1,937,971 1,711,188 226,783 13.3
Operating expenses -1,273,444 -1,045,016 228,428 21.9
Operating margin 664,527 666,172 -1,645 -0.2
Cost of Risk -241,408 -354,104 -112,696 -31.8
Of which net value adjustments of loans -260,194 -295,885 -35,691 -12.1
Profit for the period(#) 273,898 690,240 -416,342 -60.3
Balance Sheet highlights © (thousands of euro) 31 Dec. 2018 | 31 Dec. 2017
Loans to customers ©) 51,001,282 44,251,456 6,749,826 15.3
Of which securities measured at amortized cost 4,985,558 n.a n.a
Net financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value 51,642 n.a n.a
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,260,746 n.a n.a
Investments held to maturity 2,234,277 n.a n.a
Financial assets available for sale 5,344,090 n.a n.a
Equity investments 27,755 33,868 -6,113 -18.0
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 2,783,987 2,797,622 -13,635 -0.5
Total net assets 60,138,935 59,400,307 738,628 1.2
Net financial liabilities/assets measured at fair value - 67,102 -67,102 -100.0
Net financial liabilities/assets held for trading 1,569 n.a n.a
Funding from customers 48,159,170 50,291,118 -2,131,948 -4.2
Indirect funding from customers 63,477,921 64,172,911 -694,990 -1.1
of which: asset management 34,366,212 33,632,942 733,270 2.2
Net Loans to banks 2,492,554 -178,795 2,671,349
Equity 6,193,214 6,114,634 78,579 1.3

Operating structure

31 Dec. 2018

31 Dec. 2017

Absolute

%

Number of employees 9,878 10,271 -393 -3.8
Average number of employees © 9,452 9,755 -303 -3.1
Number of branches 984 1,015 -31 -3.1

O The income statement and balance sheet data are those restated in the reclassified financial statements on pages 27 and 38
0 This item reports debt securities and loans in the amortized cost portfolio. Previously this item reported financial assets not listed on an active market

(Level 2 and Level 3) to customers

™ The 2017 “Net oans to banks” item was reclassified (asset mismatch) for smoothing with 2018 (liability mismatch)
® The average number has been calculated as the weighted average of employees and atypical workers, where the weight is the number of months wor-

ked in the year; part-time staff has been conventionally weighted at 50%

® The profit for FY as at 31 Dec. 2017 takes account of the badwill and integration expenses regarding the Fellini Banks

18 Group Financial highlight and ratios
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Structure ratios )

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Loans to customers/Total net assets 76.5% 74.5%
Direct funding from customers/Total net assets 80.1% 84.7%
Asset management/Total indirect funding from customers 54.1% 52.4%
Loans to customers/Direct funding from customers 95.5% 88.0%
Total assets/Equity 10.3 10.9
Net interest income/Net operating income 51.1% 53.5%
Net fee and commission income/Net operating income 46.3% 44.4%
Cost 0/ income ratio 63.6% 57.6%
Net income/Average equity (ROE) @ 4.6% 4.6%
Net income/Average Tangible Equity (ROTE) @ 6.9% 7.2%
Net profit/Total assets (ROA) 0.4% 1.0%
Net profit/Risk-weighted assets 1.0% 2.5%
Gross bad loans/Gross loans to customers 4.2% 6.3%
Net bad loans/Net loans to customers 1.4% 2.7%
Gross non-performing exposures/Gross loans to customers (gross NPE ratio) 7.6% 10.9%
Impairments of loans/Net loans to customers © 0.6% 0.7%
Cost of risk®/Operating margin 36.3% 53.2%
Net bad loans/Total Capital © 13.5% 28.5%
Net non-performing loans/Net loans to customers 3.8% 7.6%
Total Impairments of non-performing loans/Gross non-performing loans 52.5% 44.9%
Operating expenses/No. of employees (average) 135 128
Operating income/No. of employees (average) 205 207
Loans to customers/No. of employees (average) 4,868 4,455
Direct funding from customers/No. of employees (average) 5,095 5,064
Gross banking income®/No. of employees (average) 16,680 15,980

Capital and liquidity ratios

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Common Equity Tier 1@ /Risk-weighted assets (CET 1 ratio) 11.2% 11.6%
Tier 1©/Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 ratio) 13.8% 12.8%
Total Capital ©/Risk-weighted assets (Total Capital Ratio) 16.8% 15.1%
Risk-weighted assets (euro thousands) 27,842,151 27,839,234
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 148% 197%

OThe ratios are based on the balance sheet and income statement data of the reclassified financial statements on pages 27 and 38

O Ratio calculated excluding ordinary and extraordinary contributions given to support the banking system

@The ratio of net earnings to the equity weighted average (for ROTE net of intangibles); for the figure as at 31 Dec. 2017 net “operating” earnings were

used
®The cost of risk includes provisioning for risks and charges, net value adjustments of loans and impairment
©Total Capital: total regulatory own funds
@Common Equity Tier 1: CET 1
© Tier 1: Tier 1 Capital
®Loans to customers + Direct Funding + Indirect Funding

of securities

Group Financial highlight and ratios

19



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Management Report to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

THE MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO AND THE FINANCIAL
SYSTEM

THE INTERNATIONAL MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO IN 2018’

At the beginning of 2018 the world economy showed momentum and, in the first months of the year, inter-
national trade grew vs. the slowdown in 2016 and mid-2017. The USA budgetary policy and the budgetary
and monetary policies of China were the foundations for the good growth of these economies’ GDPs in the
summer months.

However, in the last few months a forthcoming slowdown was increasingly perceived, although, in the
third quarter, the decrease in the GDP growth and in world trade was modest. Many emerging countries in-
volved in the tensions on exchange rates experienced slower activities, contributing to the slowdown in world
trade. This slowdown impacted more on the Euro Area than on other Countries. The EMU slowed down
considerably, with the GDP growing by no more than +1.6% in the third quarter, vs. +2.3% in the first part of
the year.

The trade tensions between the USA and China and, in general, the development of the USA trade policy
represented one the most material risks in the international scenario. They fuelled uncertainty on businesses’
development prospects as the present value chains could change generating negative effects both for the
Countries that have considerable trade exchanges with the USA, and for those with modest direct exchang-
es. Trade tensions went along with political uncertainty caused by Brexit and by the negotiations between the
EU and the Italian Government on the budget law.

In 2018, the world gross world product increased by +3.7%, remaining stable vs. the previous year. Overall,
the world economy is in transition: the economy is slowing down, but to a modest extent at a global level.

Monetary policies
In this economic scenario, the main central banks are implementing different monetary policies:

e the Federal Reserve continued with its policy for the increase of interest rates, which started in 2015,
with four rate increases in 2018 (March, June, September and December) of 0.25 points each, thus taking
the Fed Funds rates within a 2.25%-2.50% range;

e the European Central Bank confirmed the Quantitative Easing termination, tapering down the monthly
purchases from 30 to 15 billion, effective from October and up to the end of December 2018. Further-
more, in January, it decided to leave interest rates unchanged: on the main refinancing operations at
0.00%, on the marginal lending facility at 0.25% and on the deposit facility at -0.40%;

e the Bank of England, subsequent to the increase in uncertainty caused by Brexit, in December 2018
decided to leave the interest rate unchanged at 0.75% and confirmed that the increase in rates will have
to be “gradual”.

1 Source: Prometeia, Forecast Repost (December 2018).
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Main economies

The different geographical areas showed different growth rates:

e the United States continued to grow, with the GDP coming to +2.9% at the end of the year, increasing
from 2.2% of 2017, benefiting from an increase in domestic demand. The labour market improved, with
the unemployment rate decreasing vs. 2017. Worth mentioning are the decrease in residential real estate
investments and the higher uncertainty regarding trade policies;

e Japan: The GDP increased by +0.7%, markedly slowing down vs. +1.9% in 2017, with a general de-
crease in all demand components, but especially in investment in plants and machinery. This perfor-
mance was heavily affected by natural disasters, such as the earthquakes in Hokkaido and Osaka, floods
and typhoons, that interrupted production chains, transports and, consequently, exports;

e despite the slowdown expected at the beginning of the year, China’s GDP posted a +6.6% increase
vs. +6.8% in 2017, thanks to the continuous support of the national economic policy. Investments and
production outlook were affected by unclear developments in foreign demand. Exports and imports con-
tinued, but it cannot be ruled out that this was the result of strategic choices of purchasing in advance
(made both by China and by the USA) in order not to incur impending tariffs. Competitiveness of goods
increased along with the progressive depreciation of the euro against the US Dollar;

¢ India’s GDP progressively increased: up by +7.8% vs. +6.4% in 2017. Domestic demand was stable
thanks to private investments and to the impressive public expenditure, while real net exports remained
negative. Consumption decreased due to the slowdown in agricultural income and acceleration in prices;

e the economy of Brazil grew by +1.2%, essentially in line with 2017 (1.1%). Stronger financial stability and
lower political uncertainty did not prove sufficient to drive strong economic growth. The unemployment
rate continued to progressively decrease and an overall stable inflation rate allowed the Central Bank to
keep policy rates at 6.5%;

¢ Russia: The annual GDP grew by +1.6%, in line with 2017. The extension of sanctions affected economic
players’ confidence, which impacted on investments and caused capital outflows with subsequent de-
preciation of the Rouble. This fostered exports, with net exports remaining positive;

¢ the United Kingdom’s economy grew by +1.3% vs. +1.7% in 2017: both exports and domestic demand
decreased vs. the previous year. As regards Brexit, after completing the first negotiation phase, the focus
in on a possible deal for the UK exit from the EU.

EURO AREA

In the Euro Area, the slower growth in the GDP, which, in 2018, came to +1.8% vs. +2.5% in 2017, was
the result of more limited development in demand, both domestic and foreign. The economic scenario was
affected by modest international exchanges, political uncertainty, less favourable financial conditions and
higher inflation. Although still high, economic players’ confidence was affected by the above factors and,
thus, resulted in lower spending decisions made by economic players.

After being at the top between the end of 2017 and the beginning of 2018, business confidence progres-
sively worsened during the year; this was caused, to a large extent, by the more pessimistic assessments
of demand. Consumer confidence also decreased, reflecting especially fears about the labour market and
economic outlook in the last months of the year.

Germany, after 8 years of continuous growth, slowed its pace in 2018, with the economy growing by +1.5%
vs. +2.5% in 2017. This slowdown was caused by temporary factors linked to the automotive market, which
weakened exports and private consumption. Investments continued to increase with acceleration in expend-
iture for capital goods and in residential investments.

In France, the GDP grew by +1.5% vs. +2.3% in 2017, driven by stable domestic demand and by the positive
contribution of net exports. Private consumption was partly affected by the tax reform and by the increase in
inflation on purchasing power in the first part of the year, while exports reflected the recovery in deliveries in
the sea and air transport sector. The events occurred in the last part of the year, such as the protests against
the increase in fuel prices, negatively impacted manufacturing output.
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Spain proved again the top performer among the EMU largest economies, with the GDP growing by +2.5%
vs. +3.0% in 2017. Domestic demand remained robust thanks to the favourable financial conditions and to
the measures provided for by the 2018 Budget Law, which supported consumption and fostered its accelera-
tion, as well as to residential investments that gained momentum. Exports were impacted by modest foreign
demand and the contribution of international trade to economic growth remained negative.
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Source: Prometeia - Brief, Italy in the global economy (February 2019).

THE ITALIAN ECONOMY

After closing 2017 with the GDP up by +1.6%, the highest growth in the last seven years, in 2018, within a
general slowdown in the world cycle and increasing fears about future prospects, both domestic and foreign,
Italy continued to grow, even though at a slower rate, with the GDP up by +0.8%. The growth was entirely
achieved in the first part of the year, followed by an essentially stable second half.

One of the causes of this slowdown, shown also by the largest economies in the Euro Area, was lower do-
mestic demand. Spending decisions of households and businesses were affected by domestic factors,
such as the uncertainties on the economic policy of the new government and the subsequent increase in the
spread. Exports experienced markedly lower growth in extra-EU markets, whereas this decrease was less
considerable in EU Countries. The total contribution of exports (+1.0%) was lower than in the previous year
(+6%).

In October, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s assigned their ratings to Italy: the former downgraded its rating
from Baa2 to Baa3, while S&P downgraded the outlook from “stable” to “negative”; before these two rating
agencies, at the end of August, Fitch had already downgraded the previously “stable” outlook to “negative”.
Among the reasons for their ratings, both agencies mentioned the government’s economic plan, which could
weaken ltaly’s growth performances, and higher deficit prospects. Financial markets were impacted by these
tensions, with the BTP-Bund spread that started to increase in early May and arrived above 300 basis points,
reflecting the uncertainties about the budget law. As a direct consequence of Iltaly downgrading, Moody’s
assigned lower ratings also to various Italian banking groups.

In the first part of the year, overall consumer confidence® remained high; however, in last months of 2018, it
progressively decreased with all its component worsening: the economic one, the personal one, the current
one and the future one.

2 Source: ISTAT (the ltalian National Institute of Statistics), Flash press release on Consumer and Business Confidence (December 2018)
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Also the Business Confidence Composite Index started to worsen in July, going back to the 2016 levels. In
In the manufacturing sector, the decrease in confidence reflects further worsening in demand assessments
expecting slight growth and, in terms of sectors, a decrease in intermediate goods. The service sector also
worsened with assessment of lower business performances and demand, whereas in the retail sector all the
index components improved. In the building sector, both assessments on orders and employment expecta-
tions worsened.

Total investments increased by +4.1%, essentially stable vs. the previous year. Although tax incentives re-
mained, uncertainty prevailed, also as regards the new government’s economic policy, which led to lower
spending by businesses in capital goods. Investments in constructions proved again to be progressively
increasing.

The annual industrial output decreased by -5.5%; as to trends®, the related indices reported a marked
decrease in consumer goods and intermediate goods; less marked decreases were reported in energy and
capital goods.

The unemployment rate* continued to decrease: in December 2018, it came to 10.3% (youth unemployment
to 31.9%); the number of employed persons increased (the employment rate came to 58.8%) thanks to the
increase in employees with fixed-term contracts and in self-employed persons; the number of NEETs (young
people not in employment, education or training) decreased (rate to 34.3%).

On average, in 2018 consumer prices® increased by 1.2%, with the same annual performance posted in
2017. “Core inflation”, net of energy and fresh food products, was stable at +0.7%. Specifically, non-regulat-
ed energy products (home and automotive fuels) affected the performance of consumer prices.

Italy: GDP and its components
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Source: Prometeia, Forecast Report (December 2018).

3 Source: ISTAT (the Italian National Institute of Statistics), Flash press release on Industrial Output (February 2019)
4 Source: ISTAT (the Italian National Institute of Statistics), press release on Employed and Unemployed Persons (January 2019)
5 Source: ISTAT (the Italian National Institute of Statistics), Flash press release on Consumer Prices (January 2019).
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THE BANKING SYSTEM

After the 2017 results in the black, driven also by significant non-recurring components (badwill recognition and
State contributions), in 2018 the banking system was impacted by the tensions in the market of government se-
curities. Vulnerability, which started to increase in mid-May with the rumours on the government programme and
continued to increase at the end of the summer when the cabinet’s proposal were defined, caused an increase
in the spread, which negatively impacted the prices of Italian banks’ shares.

Nevertheless, the banking industry is stronger than it used to be, it is more capitalized, the asset quality has
improved thanks to the considerable decrease in NPLs, funding is more stable and less expensive and operat-
ing costs are decreasing. Capitalization proved again well above the supervisory and regulatory minimum
levels, but it decreased mostly due to the impacts generated by the first adoption of IFRS 9 and by the higher
spread on lItalian Government securities, which increased from approximately 130 bps at the beginning of April
to over 300 bps in November.

Furthermore, in November the EBA published the results of its stress test exercise, which were very good
for Italian banks, giving evidence that the efforts they made in the last few years to improve their capital basis
have actually contributed to strengthening their resilience and ability to withstand severe economic shocks and
material impacts on capital.

In 2018, there were several developments in the legislation and regulatory scope, specifically:

e asregards transparency and consumer protection, one of the most important asset management meas-
ures implemented in 2018 was the entry into force of MiFID2 (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive)
and of the IDD2 (Insurance Distribution Directive);

e the PSD2, which concerns payment services, also entered into force and, among the many innovations
introducedi, aims at fostering the entry of new players and the development of new business opportuni-
ties;

* In order to accelerate the already started reduction in banks’ NPL stocks, calendar provisioning was
implemented, with the statutory prudential backstop, presented in March by the European Commission,
which introduced, among the measures for NPL management and reduction, common minimum loss
coverage levels (first pillar) that mandatory for all the banks in the European Union;

e the publication by the European Central Bank of the final version of the Addendum to the Guidance to
banks on new non-performing loans, whereby banks are required to increase and speed up provisioning
for problem loans, up to 100% coverage in two years in case of unsecured positions, in seven years for
positions secured by immovable property or other eligible collateral;

¢ International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9), which entered into force on 1 January 2018,
entailed material changes in the classification, measurement and estimate of impairment of financial in-
struments. The First Time adoption of the new standard impacted on banks’ equity.

In general, the new legislation has strengthened security and protection of investors.

The reform of the Italian cooperative banking system continued, with the definition of a new organiza-
tional structure aimed at ensuring higher integration of all the Cooperative Banks operating throughout Italy,
which should result, starting from 2019, in the incorporation of three cooperative banking groups, two na-
tional ones led by Cassa Centrale Banca and Iccrea, and a provincial one led by Cassa Centrale Raiffesen.

In 2018, the asset quality continued to improve thanks to recovery processes and measures aimed at
optimizing internal management of non-performing loans. The State Guarantee on Securitisation of Non-Per-
forming Loans (ltalian acronym GACS), which was extended to March 2019, made NPL sales easier: in 2018,
NPLs were sold for a total gross amount of about euro 70 billion. The lower numbers of loans becoming
non-performing have gradually reduced also the cost of risk.

Adjustments decreased, also subsequent to the adoption of the new IFRS9, which, in accordance with the
First Time Adoption (FTA) scheme, allowed higher provisioning on the exposures being sold, through equity
rather than through Profit or Loss, with phase-in, where the case, on the supervisory capital ratios.

As at the end of 2018, net bad loans® had decreased to euro 29.5 billion down by 54% vs. the end of the
previous year. The weight of net bad loans on total loans came to 1.72%, decreasing from 3.70% recorded
at the end of 2017.

6 Source: ABI Monthly Outlook (February 2019).
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Loans to households and businesses increased by +2.2%7 vs. the previous year. Mortgage loans contin-
ued to increase, as did loans to businesses even though to a lesser extent.

Interest rates on loans to customers in December 2018 were even lower: the average interest rate on total
loans was 2.55%, yet another all-time low; interest rates on new home loans were slightly higher (1.94%),
while interest rates on loans to business remained at very low levels (1.39%).

At the end of 2018, direct funding (deposits from resident customers and bonds) showed a slight decrease
of -0.6% YOQOY. The medium/long-term funding component decreased, with bonds down by -15.4% on De-
cember 2017, with a concomitant increase in deposits (up by +2.2% YOY) or in asset management products,
which proved more profitable for customers in a phase of interest rates at their all-time low.

The yields on direct funding progressively decreased: the average interest rate on funding was 0.66%, vs.
0.76% in 2017.

The spread between the average rate on loans to and the average rate on deposits from households and
non-financial corporations has remained, in Italy, at very low levels; in December 2018 it came to 189 basis
points slightly increasing vs. 180 basis points in December 2017.

As regards the asset management industry?, in 2018, a year featuring market uncertainty, total net funding
came to euro 7 billion. The assets under management in this industry totalled euro 2,002 billion.

The banking system remained profitable, despite interest rates at their all-time low (average 3-month Euri-
bor in December 2018 was -0.31%). Also in 2018 non-recurring income was recognised, albeit for a lower
amount, mainly from disposal of problem loans management platforms, agreements for the distribution of
insurance products and asset management, capital gains from the sale of owned property and other business
units. Operating expenses continued to decrease, albeit at a slower pace than in 2017, subsequent to staff
reduction and rationalization of physical structures. Conversely, regulatory and technology factors have been
requiring higher investments and controls as regards digital operations.

The banking system’s net income came to approximately euro 10 billion, decreasing vs. 2017, when non-re-
curring revenues gave a considerable contribution to profits.

PERFORMANCE OF OPERATIONS

In a macroeconomic scenario with sound fundamentals but featuring some uncertainty elements, the Crédit
Agricole Italia Banking Group achieved net income of euro 274 million, increasing by +10% YOY vs. the 2017
operating profit (net of badwill), thanks to its business model that relies on the following pillars:

e constant financial support to households, with home loans increasing by over +10% and with consumer
credit intermediation volumes up by +33%;

e support to the real economy with loans to businesses increasing by +4% YOQOY, with specific focus on
strategic industries, such as Agri-Food up by +7% YOY, and the development of the supply chains in
which Italian players are the best in class;

e asset management on the increase driven by new placements in the insurance segment (up by +19%
YQY) and by the growing contribution given by the internal network of financial advisors, in a volatile
market scenario with slowdown in performances;

e cooperation and synergies continuously increasing with all the companies of the Crédit Agricole ltalia
Group, in order to supply a wide and integrated range of products and innovative solutions to the advan-
tage of all economic players.

Thanks to their full business and IT integration into the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia, full business
revival could be achieved of the three Savings Banks of Rimini, Cesena and San Miniato, which had been
acquired at the end of 2017, with strong increases in 2018 (the production of mortgage loans doubled from
the first to the fourth quarter).

7 Source: ABI Monthly Outlook (January 2019).
8 Source: Assogestioni (the Italian National Association of Asset Management Firms), Asset Management Monthly Map (January 2019)
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The virtuous cycle of effort has been continuing for asset quality improvement and decrease in the
cost of credit: the NPL stock decreased by -37% YQY, in accordance with a derisking plan that provided for
the disposal of NPLs for a gross amount of euro 1.4 billion, thus taking the weight of net non-performing loans
to its lowest since 2010 (to 3.8%).

THE PERFORMANCE OF BALANCE SHEET AGGREGATES
Reclassification of the Balance Sheet

In order to provide a more direct representation of the Company’s balance sheet and financial position, a
summary balance sheet was prepared by suitably grouping balance-sheet items. These grouping concerned:

e presentation of Financial Assets/Liabilities at fair value on a net basis;

e presentation of Loans from/Loans to banks on a net basis;

e inclusion of the value of hedging Derivatives and of the Value Adjustment of financial assets/liabilities
subject to macro-hedging in the Other Assets/Other Liabilities items;

e grouping of Intangible Assets and Property, Plant and Equipment into a single aggregate;
inclusion of the item “Cash and cash equivalents” in the “Other Assets” residual item;
grouping in the “Funding from customers” item of the “Loans to customers” and “Debt securities issued”
items;

e grouping of specific-purpose provisions (i.e. employee severance benefits and provisions for risks and
charges) into a single aggregate.

The figures reported in the next pages are expressed in thousands of euros.

As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparative figures included in the IFRS 9
first-tima adoption annual report.

26 Management Report



Credit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Reclassified Consolidated Balance Sheet

31Dec.2018 | 31 Dec. 2017
Net financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value 51,641 n.a n.a
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(IFRS 7, para. 8, letter h) 3,260,746 n.a n.a
Financial assets available for sale 5,344,090 n.a n.a
Investments held to maturity 2,234,277 n.a n.a
Loans to customers 51,001,282 44,251,456 6,749,826 15.3
Equity investments 27,755 33,868 -6,113 -18.0
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 2,783,987 2,797,622 -13,635 -0.5
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - 98 -98 -100.0
Tax assets 1,639,049 1,458,004 181,045 124
Other assets 1,374,475 3,280,892 -1,906,417 -58.1
TOTAL ASSETS 60,138,935 59,400,307 738,628 1.2
Liabilities 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 Changes
Net loans to banks 2,492,554 -178,795 2,671,349
Funding from customers 48,159,170 50,291,118 -2,131,948 -4.2
Net financial liabilities/assets at fair value - 67,102 n.a n.a
Net financial liabi
lities/assets held for trading 1,569 n.a n.a
Tax liabilities 264,790 231,849 32,941 14.2
Other liabilities 2,319,377 2,028,268 291,109 14.4
Specific-purpose provisions 524,334 585,083 -60,749 -10.4
Capital 962,672 934,838 27,834 3.0
Equity instruments 715,000 365,000 350,000 95.9
Reserves (net of treasury shares) 4,383,825 4,143,497 240,328 5.8
Valuation reserves -142,181 -18,941 123,240
Equity attributable to minority interests 185,496 259,479 -73,983 -28.5
Net profit (Loss) for the year 273,898 690,240 -416,342 -60.3
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 60,138,935 59,400,307 738,628 1.2
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Reconciliation of the official and reclassified balance sheets
[Assets | 31Dec.2018|  31Dec.2017

Net financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value 51,641
20 a. Financial assets held for trading 97,425
20 b. Financial assets designated at fair value -
20 c. Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 27,731
20. Financial liabilities held for trading -73,515
30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value -
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,260,746
30. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,260,746
Financial assets available for sale 5,344,090
40. Financial assets available for sale 5,344,090
Investments held to maturity 2,234,277
50. Investments held to maturity 2,234,277
Loans to customers 51,001,282 44,251,456
40 b. Loans to customers 51,001,282 44,251,456
Equity investments 27,755 33,868
70. Equity investments 27,755 33,868
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 2,783,987 2,797,622
90. Property, Plant and Equipment 847,790 838,358
100. Intangible assets 1,936,197 1,959,264
Tax assets 1,639,049 1,458,004
110. Tax assets 1,639,049 1,458,004
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - 98
120. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - 98
Other assets 1,374,475 3,280,892
10. Cash and cash equivalents 295,958 1,990,365
130. Other assets 463,033 694,075
50. Hedging derivatives (Assets) 575,331 570,367
60. Fair value change of financial assets in macro-hedge portfolios 40,153 26,085
TOTAL ASSETS 60,138,935 59,400,307
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Liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Net Loans to banks 2,492,554 -178,795
40 a. Loans to banks -3,537,099 -7,059,113
10 a. Loans to banks 6,029,653 7,237,907

Funding from customers 48,159,170 50,291,118
10 b) Loans to customers 39,698,913 40,575,365
10 c) Debt securities issued 8,460,257 9,715,753

Net financial liabilities/assets at fair value - 67,102
20. Financial liabilities held for trading -

30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value -
20 a. Financial assets held for trading -
20 b. Financial assets designated at fair value -
Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value -

Net financial Liabilities/Assets held for trading 1,569
40. Financial liabilities held for trading 75,821
20. Financial assets held for trading -74,252

Tax liabilities 264,790 231,849
60. Tax liabilities 264,790 231,849

Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - -

Other liabilities 2,319,377 2,028,268
40. Hedging derivatives (Liabilities) 564,549 527,675
50. Fair value change of financial liabilities in macro-hedge portfolios 361,962 373,754
80. Other liabilities 1,392,866 1,126,838

Specific-purpose provisions 524,334 585,083
90. Employee severance benefits 135,722 151,130
100. Provisions for risks and charges 388,612 433,953

Capital 962,672 934,838
170. Capital 962,672 934,838

Equity instruments 715,000 365,000
140. Equity instruments 715,000 365,000

Reserves (net of treasury shares) 4,383,825 4,143,497
150. Reserves 1,266,117 1,150,176
160. Share premium reserve 3,117,708 2,997,386
180 Treasury shares (+/-) - -4,065

Valuation reserves -142,181 -18,941
120. Valuation reserves -142,181 -18,941

Minority interests 185,496 259,479
190. Minority interests 185,496 259,479

Net Profit (Loss) for the period 273,898 690,240
200. Net profit (loss) for the period 273,898 690,240

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 60,138,935 59,400,307
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Balance sheet aggregates

The changes occurred in 2018 in its balance sheet aggregates have allowed the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking
Group to strengthen its role in supporting the real economy, while striving to always maintain good balance
between funding and lending and while improving overall asset quality.

Loans to customers

T

%
- Current accounts 2,739,740 2,813,237 -73,497 -2.6
- Mortgage loans 28,110,213 27,165,159 945,054 3.5
- Advances and credit facilities 13,415,567 10,978,089 2,437,478 22.2
- Repurchase agreements 0 342,913 -342,913
- Non-performing loans 1,750,204 2,785,831 -1,035,628 -37.2
Loans 46,015,724 44,085,229 1,930,495 4.4
Securities measured at amortized cost 4,985,558 n.a n.a
Loans represented by securities 166,227 n.a n.a
LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 51,001,282 44,251,456 6,749,826 15.3

As at 31 December 2018, loans to customers, net of debt securities, came to euro 46.0 billion, increasing by
euro 1.9 billion (+4%); vs. the figure recalculated on 1 January 2018, in order to account for the first adoption
of IFRS9, the increase is 6%.

Lending volumes continued to increase with constant focus on credit quality: net of repurchase agreements,
performing loans increased by +8%; mortgage loans grew considerably, thanks to new home loans to house-
holds for over euro 3 billion (up by +18% vs. 2017), as did technical forms with shorter maturities, such as
advances and credit facilities (up by +22%).

Non-performing loans decreased YOY by over euro 1 billion (down by -37%), thanks to the effective action
to reduce the number of positions becoming non-performing, and thanks to the disposal of non-perform-
ing loans (Unlikely to Pay and Bad loans) for a total (gross) amount of approximately euro 1.4 billion. These
disposal transactions fall within the scope of a wider strategy for the liquidation of non-performing loans, by
structuring a competitive bidding process among investors that are specialized in this asset type, thus col-
lecting the relevant cash flows earlier than with ordinary loan collection management.
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Credit quality

exposure adjustments exposure exposure adjustments exposure
- Bad loans 2,003,316 1,370,074 633,242 2,950,066 1,754,196 1,195,870
- Unlikely to Pay 1,635,482 556,568 1,078,914 2,037,025 511,843 1,525,182
- Past-due/overlimit loans 42,616 4,568 38,048 72,590 7,810 64,779
Non-performing loans 3,681,414 1,931,210 1,750,204 5,059,681 2,273,849 2,785,831

Performing loans - stage 2 3,034,482 195,683 2,838,799

Performing loans - stage 1 41,506,229 79,509 41,426,720
Performing loans 44,540,711 275,192 44,265,519 41,525,056 225,658 41,299,397
Loans to customers 48,222,125 2,206,402 46,015,723 46,584,737 2,499,508 44,085,229

Securities measured at amortized cost 4,990,406 4,847 4,985,559
Loans represented by securities 166,227 166.227
TOTAL 53,212,531 ‘ 2,211,249 ‘ 51,001,282 46,750,964 2,499,508 44,251,456
Gross | Net exposure Coverage Gross | Net exposure Coverage
exposure weight ratio exposure weight ratio

weight weight

- Bad loans 42% 1.4% 68.4% 6.3% 2.7% 59.5%
- Unlikely to Pay 3.4% 2.3% 34.0% 4.4% 3.5% 25.1%
- Past-due/overlimit loans 0.1% 0.1% 10.7% 0.2% 0.1% 10.8%
Non-performing loans 7.6% 3.8% 52.5% 10.9% 6.3% 44.9%

- Performing loans - stage 2 6.3% 6.2% 6.4%

- Performing loans - stage 1 86.1% 90.0% 0.2%
Performing loans 92.4% 96.2% 0.6% 89.1% 93.7% 0.5%
TOTAL 100.0% 100.0% 4.6% 100.0% 100.0% 5.4%

Thanks to the aforementioned actions, the weight of (gross) non-performing loans on total loans to customers
decreased from 10.9% to 7.6%; concomitantly, subsequent to new provisioning in 2018, the coverage ratio of
non-performing loans improved, up from 44.9% to 52.5%: specifically, the unlikely to pay coverage ratio increased
t0 34.0% (25.1% in 2017) and the one of bad loans to 68.4% (59.5% in 2017).

It is pointed out that, within the Fellini Project (the acquisition by Crédit Agricole Italia of CR San Miniato, CR Cesena
and CR Rimini), at the time of their acquisition the acquired Banks had non-performing loans for a net amount of
approximately euro 280 million (a gross amount of over euro 460 million). If these non-performing loans were recog-
nised net of provisions, the coverage ratio of non-performing loans would came to about 50%.
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Funding from customers

31Dec.2018| 31 Dec. 2017

-
- Deposits 2,238,444 2,013,974 224,470 111
- Current and other accounts 37,224,843 38,262,415 -1,037,572 -2.7
- Other items 234,493 289,306 -54,813 -18.9
- Repurchase agreements 1,135 9,671 -8,536 -88.3
Loans to customers 39,698,915 40,575,365 -876,450 -2.2
Debt securities issued 8,460,255 9,715,753 -1,255,498 -12.9
Financial Liabilities measured at fair value (debt instruments) - 67,201 -67,201 -
Total direct funding 48,159,170 50,358,320 -2,199,150 -4.4
Indirect funding 63,477,921 64,172,911 -694,990 -1.1
TOTAL FUNDING 111,637,091 114,531,231 -2,894,207 -2.5

In 2018, with interest rates at their all-time low, the funding strategy focused on controlling the cost of funding,
achieved both by reducing the most costly components for the bank, such as bonds that it has issued and
are held by retail customers (low rates have been causing customers to prefer products with possible higher
yields, especially asset management products) and by curbing the “volatile” funding component, while contin-
uing to have a more than satisfying liquidity position.

Furthermore, in order stabilize funding on long maturities and seizing the favourable market conditions in the
first months of 2018, the Group increased funding by placing covered bonds with institutional investors for
another euro 500 million, within the first issue in Italy with 20-year maturity. This issue has achieved very early
completion of the funding plan for 2018.

Subsequent to the implementation of the aforementioned strategies, as at 31 December 2018 direct funding
came to euro 48.2 billion, down by euro 2,2 billion (-4%), more markedly decreasing on the “Debt Securities
Issued” component (-13%).

Indirect funding

%
- Asset management products 15,587,669 17,041,680 -1,454,011 -8.5
- Insurance products 18,778,543 16,591,262 2,187,281 138.2
Total assets under management 34,366,212 33,632,942 733,270 2.2
Assets under administration 29,111,709 30,539,969 -1,428,260 -4.7
INDIRECT FUNDING 63,477,921 64,172,911 -694,990 -1.1

At the end of 2018, indirect funding came to euro 63.5 billion, down by 1% YQY; this aggregate was affected
by the adverse performance of markets, especially in the last months of the reporting year, which caused the
assets held in the customers’ portfolios to decrease by approximately euro 5 billion; net of such effect, indi-
rect funding would have increased by 6%.

Asset management, which was driven by new production mostly with products with higher pension and social
security contents, came to euro 34.4 billion, increasing vs. 2017 by 2% (+5% net of the market effect). Assets
under administration came to euro 29.1 billion (down by -5% YOY) and, net of market effects, would have
increased by +6% YOY.

Considering the aforementioned developments, total funding from customers as at 31 December 2018 came
to euro 111.6 billion, down by 2.5% vs. 2017 (it would be up by +1.7% net of market effects).
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Net interbank position

As at 31 december 2018, the net interbank position showed debt totalling euro 2.5 billion and comprised
loans to central banks amounting to euro 4.4 billion for TLTRO Il loans taken out in 2016 and 2017 with four-
year maturity.

Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value

Item 31 Dec. 2018

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

- Debt securities 89
- Equity instruments of collective investment undertakings 52,948
- Loans 6,439
- Financial derivatives with positive FV 65,680
Total assets 125,156
- Financial derivatives with negative FV 73,515
Total liabilities 73,515
NET TOTAL 51,641

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

- Debt securities 3,013,043
- Equity securities 244,674
- Loans

TOTAL 3,257,717

As at 31 December 2018, held Financial Assets amounted to euro 8.3 billion, of which euro 7.8 billion worth
of Italian Government Secuirities.

In terms of classification, in accordance with the new IFRS9 requirements, the component measured at
Fair Value through profit or loss was not significant, the component at Fair Value through equity amounted
to euro 3.3 billion, while the component measured at amortized cost amounted to approximately euro 5.0
billion (classification aimed at reducing equity variability); this allocation is consistent with the management
approach adopted by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group to invest liquidity, which gives preference to
securities that are High Quality Liquidity Assets, optimizing their contribution to net interest income and gen-
erating positive impacts on liquidity ratios.

Management Report 33



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Government securities held

31 Dec. 2018

Financial assets held for trading

Italian Government securities 11 14

Argentinian Government securities 47 -

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Italian Government securities 2,790,000 3,013,043 -86,172

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Italian Government securities 4,453,000 4,815,841 X
TOTAL 7,243,058 7,828,898 -86,172

The valuation reserve regarding held Government securities decreased subsequent to the increase in the
BTP-SWAP spread occurred in 2018. The duration of the Government securities portfolio is 3.28.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

At the end of 2018, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets amounted to euro 2.8 billion, es-
sentially stable vs. 2017 (-0.5%).

The “Intangible Assets” item reports goodwill and intangible assets that were recognised subsequent to
the acquisitions of Crédit Agricole FriulAdria and 202 branches in 2007, of the lease business transferred
to Crédit Agricole Leasing ltalia in 2008, of Crédit Agricole Carispezia and 96 branches in 2011 and of the
3 Fellini Banks in 2017. As at the reporting date, the intangible assets relating to the above business com-
binations were tested for impairment.

Specific-purpose provisions

Specific-purpose provisions came to euro 524 million, decreasing by euro 61 million (down by -10%) vs.
2017. This decrease mainly regarded the “Other provisions for risks and charges” item (down by euro - 80
million) and was caused by writebacks and uses of existing provisions. Subsequent to the entry into force of
IFRS9 in 2018, this aggregate shall report the provisioning for risks on commitments and guarantees issued
(amounting to euro 30 million) as recognised in 2017 under “Other liabilities” for euro 35 million.

Equity

Items 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Share capital 962,672 934,838 27,834 3.0
Share premium reserve 3,117,708 2,997,386 120,322 4.0
Reserves 1,266,117 1,150,176 115,941 10.1
Equity instruments 715,000 365,000 350,000 95.9
Valuation reserves for financial assets through other comprehensive income -94,806 n.a n.a
Valuation reserves for available-for-sale financial assets 25,771 n.a n.a
Valuation reserves for actuarial gains (losses) relating to defined-benefit pension plans -47,375 -44,712 2,664 6.0
Treasury shares - -4,065 -4,065

Net profit 273,898 690,240 -416,342 -60.3
TOTAL (BOOK) EQUITY 6,193,214 6,114,634 78,579 1.3
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As at the reporting date, equity, net of the earnings for the year, amounted to euro 5.9 billion, increasing by euro
0.5 billion vs. 31 December 2017, mainly subsequent to the share capital increase of euro 147 million (of which:
euro 26,678,766 as share capital contribution and euro 120,321,234 as share premium reserve) made by Crédit
Agricole Italia and to the issue of Additional Tier 1 subordinated bonds (euro 350 million). The share capital item
reports another increase of euro 1.2 million regarding the merger of the Fellini Banks.

The share capital increase of euro 147 million was made in the first half of 2018 in order to handle the impacts
resulting, on the one hand, from the end of the Basel 3 phase-in arrangements and, on the other hand, from the
entry into force of the new IFRS9.

The increase in reserves mainly resulted from the undistributed portion of 2017 earnings and from the negative
effect of the first-time adoption of IFRS9; valuation reserves decreased due to the worsening in the BTP-SWAP
spread, which negatively impacted on the valuations of Government securities held as financial assets measured
through other comprehensive income.

The Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia does not hold treasury shares. No company of the Group holds shares
in the Parent Company. The treasury shares held by the companied consolidated on a line-item basis and rec-
ognised under the “Treasury shares” item in the statuatory financial statements, as at 31 December 2018 were
reclassified under the “Reserves” item in the consolidated financial statements.

Own Funds
Own funds and capital ratios 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) 3,116,124 3,239,971
Additional Tier 1 (AT1) 732,220 323,726
Tier 1 (T1) 3,848,344 3,563,697
Tier 2 (T2) 831,137 633,410
OWN FUNDS 4,679,481 4,197,107
Risk-weighted assets 27,842,151 27,839,234
of which by credit and counterparty risks and by the risk of value adjustment of the loan 24,657,313 24,696,755

CAPITAL RATIOS

Common Equity Tier 1 ratio

11.2%

11.6%

Tier 1 ratio

13.8%

12.8%

Total Capital ratio

16.8%

15.1%

On 19 December 2017, the European Central Bank (ECB) informed the Crédit Agricole S.A. Group, with a letter
containing the indications to be applied also to the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group, of its decision regarding
the minimum capital ratios to be complied with on a continuous basis.

This decision is based on the supervisory review evaluation process (SREP) carried out pursuant to Article 4(1)(f)
of Regulation (EU) no 1024/2013. Therefore, in compliance with Article 16 (2) (a) of Regulation (EU) no. 1024/2013,
which vests the ECB with the power to require the supervised institutions to hold own funds in excess of the
capital requirements laid down in applicable legislation, a 1.50% additional requirement was introduced, which
has already been included in the requirements set forth below.

Taking account of the requirements pursuant to the aforementioned communication, the Crédit Agricole ltalia
Banking Group shall comply, at a consolidated level, with the capital ratios set forth below:

e CET1 ratio: 7.875% (phased-in, including the capital conservation buffer (CCoB));
e Total Capital ratio: 11.375% (phased-in, including the capital conservation buffer (CCoB)).

As at 31 December 2018, the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio came to 11.2%, slightly decreasing vs. the previous
year (11.6% as at 31 December 2017). This change was essentially due to the developments in the related equity
items, the end of Basel 3 transitional arrangements (end of the application of the transitional provisions laid down
by: Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013; Bank of Italy Circular no. 285) and to higher deductions from Common Equity
Tier 1 in the period relating to DTA impact generated by the new developments in the ltalian tax policy.
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The Tier 1 ratio came to 13.8%, increasing vs. the end of 2017 (12.8% as at 31 December 2017) subsequent
to the issue of an Additional Tier 1 subordinated bond worth euro 350 million.

The Total Capital ratio came to 16.8%, increasing vs. the end of 2017 (15.1%) also subsequent to the issue
of a Lower Tier 2 subordinated bond worth euro 100 million.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group decided not to apply the transitional arrangements provided for by
Regulation (EU) 2017/2395 amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR) as regards transitional arrange-
ments for mitigating the impact of the introduction of IFRS 9 on own funds inserting Article 473a “Introduction
of IFRS 9”.

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) came to euro 27.8 billion, in line with 31 December 2017, with a performance
that resulted from the development in business and the effects generated on DTA by the budget law approved
at the end of 2018 offset by the decrease in defaulted exposures, thanks to the sales of NPLs made in the
year, and to the shift to the advanced internal rating-based (AIRB) approach on the retail perimeter of the
Fellini Banks that were merged by absorption into Crédit Agricole Italia in the reporting period.

In short, having kept, once more in 2018, the consolidated Common Equity Tier 1 ratio above the SREP re-
quirements of 8.5% (required CET1 required full ) is evidence of the widely acknowledged capital strength and
quality of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group.

Following the results of the supervisory review evaluation process (SREP), with a letter dated 14 February
2019, the European Central Bank communicated its decision on the minimum capital ratios that the Crédit
Agricole Italia Group shall comply with, on a consolidated basis and continuously as of 1 March 2019: CET1
of 8.75% and Total Capital Ratio of 12.25%.
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PROFIT OR LOSS

The acquisition of Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena, Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini and Cassa di Risparmio San
Miniato (the Fellini Banks), finalized on 21 December 2017, contributed to the consolidated profit for 10 days in
2017 and for the full reporting year in 2018; moreover, the profit as at 31 December 2017 was affected by the
recognition of the badwill regarding the business combination of the Fellini Banks: as a consequence, the YOY
profit (loss) comparison is not smooth.

It is also specified that, in 2018, the Fellini Banks were merged by absorption into Crédit Agricole ltalia. However,
as regards the Consolidated Financial Statements, the merger did not change the consolidation perimeter.

Income Statement reclassification

In order to represent performance more effectively, a summary income statement has been prepared with
appropriate reclassifications and based on appropriate criteria so as to report the various items on the basis
of consistent operational standards.

The reclassifications concerned the following:

e net Gains (Losses) on trading activities, Net Gains (Losses) on hedging activities and Net Gains (Losses)
on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss have been reported under
Profit (Loss) from Banking Activities;

e gains and losses on disposal or repurchase of securities classified as financial assets measured at amor-
tized cost and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and of financial liabilities have
been reported under Profit (Loss) from banking activities;

e expenses, taxes and levies recovered have been reported as a direct decrease in Administrative Expens-
es, rather than being recognised under Other operating income/expenses;

e expenses for the management of non-performing loans and the relevant recoveries have been reclassi-
fied as Net Value Adjustments of Loans;

e commission income for fast loan application processing has been taken to “Fee and commission In-
come” rather than being recognised under “Other operating income/expenses”;

e the effect of the amortized cost of hedging of debt instruments has been reported under the “Net Interest
Income” item rather than under “Net Gains (Losses) on Hedging Activities”;

e net provisions for risks and charges regarding commitments and guarantees issued have been reclassi-
fied under “Net value adjustments of loans”;

e net value adjustments for credit risk of securities classified as financial assets measured at amortized
cost and financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income have been restated
under the “Impairment of securities” item.
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Reclassified income statement

%
Net interest income 990,512 915,676 74,836 8.2
Net fee and commission income 898,245 760,307 137,938 18.1
Dividends 12,614 8,839 3,775 42.7
Income from banking activities 34,705 41,391 -6,686 -16.2
Other operating income (expenses) 1,895 -15,025 16,920
Net operating income 1,937,971 1,711,188 226,783 13.3
Personnel expenses -742,023 -610,772 131,251 21.5
Administrative expenses -402,407 -330,204 72,203 21.9
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible
assets -129,014 -104,040 24,974 24.0
Operating expenses -1,273,444 -1,045,016 228,428 21.9
Operating margin 664,527 666,172 -1,645 -0.2
Impairment on goodwill - - - -
Net provisioning for risks and charges 18,786 -58,219 77,005
Net impairments of loans -260,194 -295,885 -35,691 -12.1
Impairment of securities -2,068 -
Profit (loss) on other investments -181 1,246 -1,427
Negative consolidation difference (badwill) - 493,569 -493,569
Profit (loss) on continuing operations before taxes 420,870 806,883 -386,013 -47.8
Taxes on income from continuing operations -128,817 -105,003 23,814 22.7
Profit (loss) after tax from group of assets held for sale and discontinued - - - -
operations
Net profit (loss) for the year 292,053 701,880 -409,827 -58.4
Net profit (loss) for the year attributable to minority interest -18,155 -11,640 6,515 56.0
NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT
COMPANY 273,898 690,240 -416,342 -60.3

# Net profit as at 31 December 2017 took account of the badwill generated by the acquisition of the Fellini Banks
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Reconciliation between the Official and the Reclassified Income Statements
| 3iDec2013| 31122017

Net interest i 990,512 915,676
30. Net interest income 993,282 866,223
90. Net profit (loss) on hedging activities: of which amortized cost effect of hedging of debt instruments -4,679 -6,920
130. Net losses on impairment of: a) loans of which time value on non-performing loans © 55,320
230: Calit IAS profit 1,909 1,053

Net fee and i 898,245 760,307
60. Net fee and commission income 891,547 734,061
60. Net fee and commission income: of which penalty for Lower Tier 2 repayment/settlement - 12,993
230. Other operating expenses/income: of which Commission income from Fast Loan Application Processing 6,698 13,253

Dividends and similar i = item 70 12,614 8,839

Profit (loss) on banking activities 34,705 41,391
80. Net profit (loss) on trading activities 10,711 18,510
90. Net profit (loss) on hedging activities -10,832 -12,592
90. Net profit (loss) on hedging activities: of which amortized cost effect of hedging of debt instruments 4,679 6,920
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: a) securities classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost 464
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 26,428
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: c) financial liabilities 79
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: b) financial assets available for sale 43,128
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: d) financial liabilities -1,552
110. Net profit (loss) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 3,176
110. Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value -30
60. Net fee and commission income: of which penalty for Lower Tier 2 repayment/settlement - -12,993

Other operating i (ex 1,895 -15,025
230. Other operating expenses/income 294,346 770,410
230. Other operating expenses/income: of which Badwill - -493,569
250. Gains (losses) on disposal of investments 8,829 7,151
To deduct: expenses recovered -287,109 -253,342
To deduct: recovered expenses for the management of non-performing loans -5,564 -8,025
To deduct: Commission income from Fast Loan Application Processing -6,698 -13,253
To deduct: Calit IAS profit -1,909 -1,053

Net operating income 1,937,971 1,711,188

Personnel expenses = item 190 a) -742,023 -610,772

A ative -402,407 -330,204
190. Administrative expenses: b) other administrative expenses -713,563 -602,684
230. Other operating expenses/income: of which expenses recovered 287,109 253,342
190. Administrative expenses: b) other administrative expenses: of which expenses for the management of non-performing loans 24,047 19,138

Depreciation of property, plant and i and amortization of i ible assets -129,014 -104,040
210. Net adjustments of/recoveries on property, plant and equipment -44,266 -32,163
220. Net adjustments of/recoveries on intangible assets -84,748 -71,877

Operating expenses -1,273,444 -1,045,016

Operating margin 664,527 666,172

Impairment on goodwill = item 270 - -

Net provisioning for risks and charges = Item 200 b) other net pr 18,786 -58,219

Net impairments of loans -260,194 -295,885
100. Profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: a) financial assets measured at amortized cost 5,444 -
To deduct profit (loss) on disposal or repurchase of: a) securities classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost -464 -
100. Profit/losses on disposal of: a) loans -15,260
130. Net adjustments for credit risk of: a) financial assets measured at amortized cost -251,366
To deduct: net adjustments for credit risk of: a) securities classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost 1,120
130. Net losses on impairment of: a) loans -212,736
130. Net losses on impairment of: a) loans of which time value on non-performing loans -55,320
140. Profits/Losses on contract modifications without derecognition -1,037
190. Administrative expenses: b) other administrative expenses: of which expenses for the management of non-performing loans -24,047 -19,138
To deduct: recovered expenses for the management of non-performing loans 5,564 8,025
200. Net provisioning for risks and charges: a) financial guarantees and other commitments 4,592
130. Net losses on impairment of: d) other financial transactions -1,456

Impairment of securities -2,068
130. Net adjustments for credit risk of: a) securities classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost -1,120
130. Net adjustments for credit risk of: b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -948
Profit (loss) on other investments -181 1,246
250 Profit (losses) on equity investments 8,530 8,048
to deduct Profits (Losses) on equity investments: of which Price Adjustment on disposal of equity investments -8,829 -7,151

280 Profit ) on di of i 118 349
Negative consolidation difference - 493,569

230. Other operating expenses/income: of which Badwill - 493,569

Profit (loss) on operations before taxes 420,870 806,883

Taxes on i from operations = item 300 -128,817 -105,003

Net profit (loss) for the year 292,053 701,880

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO MINORITY INTEREST -18,155 -11,640

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY 273,898 690,240

0 The 5th update of Bank of Italy Circular 262 requires interest with time value effects, determined on impaired financial assets, to be recognised in net

interest income, management reclassification made in 2017
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Net operating income

In an economic scenario showing some slowdown and still negative interest rates, in 2018 operating income
came to euro 1,938 million, increasing by euro 227 million vs. 2017 (up by +13%), with the most considerable
increase in the fee and commission component (up by +18%) the weight of which on total income increased

to 46.3% from 44.4% in 2017.

Net interest income

Loans to customers measured at amortised cost 815,025 724,338 90,687 12.5
Loans to banks measured at amortised cost -12,693 3,074 -15,768

Debt securities issued -100,445 -98,038 2,407 2.5
Spreads on hedging derivatives 165,799 181,559 -15,760 -8.7
Financial assets held for trading 601 81 520

Financial assets measured at fair value through

profit and loss - n.a n.a
Financial assets measured at amortized cost 64,279 na na
Financial assets measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income 58,003 n.a n.a
Other net interest income -57 -95 -38 -39.9
Investments held to maturity 12,138 n.a n.a
Financial assets available for sale 92,618 n.a n.a
Net interest income 990,512 915,676 74,836 8.2

The Group achieved net interest income of euro 991 million, increasing vs. the previous year by euro 75 million
(up by +8%).

Despite the pressure on lending interest rates, loans have been driven by the increase in volumes, in their turn
driven by the new mortgage loans and loans to businesses; net interest income from business with customers
benefited from the decrease in the longest-maturity funding forms, in terms of both volumes and cost. The
differences on hedging transactions gave again a positive contribution of euro 165 million (down by -9%)
giving evidence of the effective strategy implemented by the Group to manage interest rate risk.

Dividend income

Dividend income came to euro 12.6 million, increasing by approximately euro 4 million, mainly due to the

dividends from the equity investments of the Fellini Banks in 2017.
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Net fee and commission income

- guarantees issued 8,566 3,908 4,658
- collection and payment services 55,464 44,236 11,228 25.4
- current accounts 216,132 186,658 29,474 15.8
- debit and credit card services 39,068 31,758 7,310 23.0
Commercial banking business 319,230 266,561 52,670 19.8
- securities intermediation and placement 194,308 176,342 17,966 10.2
- intermediation in foreign currencies 4,656 4,091 565 13.8
- asset management 9,723 10,366 -643 -6.2
- distribution of insurance products 263,749 222,916 40,833 18.3
- other intermediation/management fee and

commission income 41,058 30,944 10,114 32.7
Management, intermediation and advisory services 513,495 444,660 68,835 15.5
Tax collection services - - -
Other net fee and commission income 65,520 49,087 16,433 33.5
TOTAL NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 898,245 760,307 137,938 18.1

Net fee and commission income, which accounted for 46% of total income, came to euro 898 million (up
by +18%) benefiting from the synergies with the specialist companies of the Crédit Agricole Group, such as
Agos, the leading player in the Italian consumer finance business, CA Assicurazioni and CA Vita for the insur-
ance business and Amundi for Wealth Management.

The most noteworthy aggregate is that of management, intermediation and advisory services and contributed
with revenues amounting to euro 513 million (up by +16%), thanks to the increase in fee and commission in-
come from Wealth Management and in consumer loans. The Bancassurance segment performed remarkably
well (up by +18%) and contributed with revenues amounting to euro 264 million.

Fee and commission income from the traditional banking business also performed very well, coming to euro
319 million (up by +20%), despite the decrease in income from loan application processing and from account
management expenses.

Net income from banking activities
ltems 31 Dec.2018 | 31 Dec. 2017

Absolute %
Interest rates 7,590 -1,976 9,566
Stocks -2,986 450 -3,436
Foreign exchange 6,158 5,466 692 12.7
Commodities 27 23 4 17.4
Total profit (losses) on financial assets held for trading 10,789 3,964 6,825
Total profit (losses) on assets held for hedging -6,152 -5,672 480 8.5
Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 3,176 -30 3,206
Total profit (losses) on financial assets measured at amortized cost 464 n.a n.a
Total profit (losses) on financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income 26,428 n.a n.a
Profit (losses) on disposal of financial assets available for sale 43,129 n.a n.a
PROFIT (LOSS) ON BANKING ACTIVITIES 34,705 41,391 -6,686 -16.2

The contribution to the Income Statement of net income from banking activities came to euro 35 million (vs.
euro 41 million in 2017); this performance was restrained, in the second half of the year, by the higher spread
of the Italian Government securities, which penalized the prices of the securities held.

Other operating income (expenses)

The “Other operating expenses/income” aggregate was positive by euro 1.8 million, vs. euro -15 million in 2017;
this improvement (up by euro +16.8 million) was mostly due to the fact that the non-recurring components of 2017
(writedown of the equity investments in Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena S.p.A. for euro 25.2 million, mitigated by
euro 19.7 million resulting from the favourable settlement reached with Intesa Sanpaolo) no longer applied in 2018.
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Operating expenses

- wages and salaries -517,845 -436,350 81,495 18.7
- social security contributions -136,577 -115,926 20,651 17.8
- other personnel expenses -87,601 -58,496 29,105 49.8
Personnel expenses -742,023 -610,772 131,251 215
- general operating expenses -130,237 -99,629 30,608 30.7
- IT services -91,727 -69,122 22,605 32.7
- direct and indirect taxes -121,058 -101,794 19,264 18.9
- real estate property management -56,579 -52,647 3,932 7.5
- legal and other professional services -27,183 -31,237 -4,055 -13.0
- advertising and promotion expenses -16,483 -13,044 3,439 26.4
- indirect personnel expenses -12,349 -10,431 1,918 18.4
- contributions to SRF/DGS/SPS -40,188 -34,538 5,650 16.4
- other expenses -193,711 -170,963 22,747 13.3
- expenses and charges recovered 287,109 253,203 33,906 13.4
Administrative expenses -402,407 -330,204 72,203 21.9
- intangible assets -84,748 -71,960 12,788 17.8
- property, plant and equipment -44,266 -32,081 12,185 38.0
Depreciation and amortization -129,014 -104,040 24,974 24.0
OPERATING EXPENSES -1,273,444 -1,045,016 228,428 21.9

Operating expenses came to euro 1,273 million, increasing by euro 228 million (+22%) vs. the previous year,
mainly due to the contribution of the Fellini Banks, which impacted on the consolidated figure for 10 days
only in 2017 and for the full year in 2018. This figure reports also the expenses for the integration of the three
acquired Banks and the structural increase in expenses for investments as provided for by the Business Plan,
as well as the costs for the entry of new resources, which were offset by even more effective actions aimed
at reducing operating costs. It also reports the contributions to the banking system funds and schemes (SRF,
DGS), which overall increased by 20% YOY.

Specifically, personnel costs came to euro 742 million (up by +22%); this increase was almost totally due to
the absorption of the Fellini Banks and, to a residual extent (+2%), to the adjustments of remuneration fixed
components (ltalian national collective bargaining agreements, seniority pay increases) and of variable ones.

The “Administrative expenses” aggregate is to euro 402 million (up by +22%) and reports, especially for IT
expenses (up by +33%), the higher costs for the integration of the Fellini Banks, as well as higher ongoing
charges for the management of a wider commercial network; the costs for legal and professional services
decreased (down by -13%).

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets totalled
euro 129 million (up by +24%); this aggregate increased the most as regards the depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (up by +38%) given the higher weight, within the Fellini Banks, of property, plant and
equipment than intangible assets; the increase in amortization (+18%) was due to the higher investments
provided for by the Medium-Term Plan (MTP).

As a consequence of the developments reported above, the cost/income ratio came to 65.7% (63.6% net of
the contributions of euro 40 million to the Banking System funds and schemes SRF, DGS).

Net Provisions for risks and charges

In 2018, the “Net Provisions for risks and charges” item had a positive mismatch of euro 19 million as the
result of provisioning for risks on revocatory actions and litigation totalling euro 8 million, and reversals of
provisions for euro 27 million subsequent to the renegotiation of some supply and cooperation contracts with
suppliers and product companies that used to work with the Fellini Banks; in 2017, the balance of this item
reported provisions totalling euro 58 million, of which euro 44 million regarding the Fellini Banks.
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Net impairments of loans

- Bad loans -115,283 -204,668 -89,385 -43.7
- Unlikely to Pay -143,873 -97,522 46,351 47.5
- Past-due loans -2,304 -4,144 -1,840 -44.4
Non-performing loans -261,460 -306,335 -44,.875 -14.6
- Performing loans - stage 2 13,161 n.a n.a
- Performing loans - stage 1 3,035 n.a n.a
Performing loans 16,196 23,154 -6,958 -30.1
Net losses on impairment of loans -245,264 -283,181 -37,917 -13.4
Gains (losses) from contractual modifications without

derecognition -1,037 n.a n.a
Expenses/recovered expenses for loan management -18,484 -11,112 7,372 66.3
Net losses on impairments of guarantees and commitments 4,592 -1,592 6,183

NET IMPAIRMENTS OF LOANS -260,194 -295,885 -35,692 -12.1

The cost of credit continued with the decreasing trend shown in the last few years and was one of the main
factors of the Group’s good performance in 2018: net impairment losses on loans came to euro 260 million,
down by 13% vs. 2017, despite the larger perimeter of loans to customers. Consequently, in percentage
terms, the ratio that measures the cost of credit risk (i.e. the ratio of the relevant adjustments recognised in
the Income Statement to net loans to customers) decreased from 67 bps in 2017 to 57 bps in 2018, with a
concomitant improvement in the coverage ratios of non-performing loans.

Indeed, having regard to the single types of non-performing loans, the recognised adjustments for impairment
on Unlikely to Pay came to euro 144 million (vs. euro 98 million in 2017), with the coverage ratio going up to
34%, while the alignment of value adjustments of bad loans (euro 115 million) resulted in a coverage ratio of
68.4%.

Profit (loss) on continuing operations before taxes

Profit on continuing operations before taxes came to euro 421 million (up by +34% million vs. euro 313 million
in the previous year, net of the “Badwill” effect generated by the Fellini Combination).

Taxes on income from continuing operations

Current taxes and deferred tax liabilities came to euro 129 million, vs. euro 105 million in 2017 (up by euro
+19 million, +15%).

Net profit

The net profit for the reporting year, net of minority interests, came to euro 274 million, increasing by 10% vs.
the net operating profit (loss) for 2017 of euro 250 million (with a statutory net profit of euro 690 million, which
had been impacted by the badwill and integration expenses relating to the Fellini Banks).
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Comprehensive income

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017

10. Net profit (loss) for the FY 292,053 701,880
Other comprehensive income after taxes not recycled to profit or loss
20. Equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,945)
30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (changes in own credit rating) -
40. Hedging of equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income - -

50. 20. Property, Plant and Equipment - -

60. 30. Intangible assets - (794)
70. 40. Actuarial profit (losses) on defined-benefit plans (2,120) -
80. 50. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - (1,170)

90. 60 Share of Valuation Reserves on equity investments measured using the equity method -

Other comprehensive income after tax reclassified to profit or loss -

100. | 70. Hedges of investments in foreign operations - -

110. | 80. Exchange rate differences - -
120. | 90. Cash flow hedges -

130. Hedging instruments (non-designated elements)
100. | Financial assets available for sale (4,398)
140. Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value thorugh other comprehensive income (123,513)

150. | 110. | Non-current assets held for sale - -

160. | 120. | Share of Valuation Reserves on equity investments measured using the equity method - 1,125
170. | 130. | Total other comprehensive income after taxes (128,578) (5,236)
180. | 140. | Comprehensive income (Item 10+170) 163,475 696,644
190. | 150. | Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to Minority Interests 11,654 11,448
200. | 160. | CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY 151,821 685,195

Comprehensive income consists of the profit for the period and of the changes in assets directly recognised
in equity reserves. These items report a negative impact totalling euro 129 million (vs. euro -5 million in 2017),
mostly due to the decrease in valuation reserves for Italian Government securities recognised as “Financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”. It is pointed out that the inclusion in
comprehensive income of the item reporting “Financial assets measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income” entails strong volatility that must be taken into account when analyzing the table.

Net of the profit portion attributable to minority interests, in 2018 consolidated comprehensive income came
to euro 152 million vs. euro 685 million in 2017, as the previous year’s figure reported the “Badwill” resulting
from the Fellini Combination.

Operations and income by business segment

As regards operations and income by business segment, please refer to the Note to the financial statements
Part L — Segment Reporting.
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STRATEGIC PLAN AND CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT LINES

STRATEGIC PLAN

In 2018, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group continued to implement its “Ambizione Italia 2020” Strategic
Plan, which started in 2016, consistently with the Medium Term Plan to 2020 prepared by the Parent Com-
pany Crédit Agricole S.A.

The Plan ambition is to continue to strengthen the Group’s leading place as a customer-focused prox-
imity bank, thanks to a distinctive positioning in the Italian banking scenario, ensuring customer cen-
trality, using digital inovation to support a multichannel model, investing in people and talents as a key
driver of growth, leveraging on its belonging to the Crédit Agricole Group and on its strength in order
to continue in its organic growth on key segments and to achieve sustainable increase in profitability.

The transformation envisaged in the Plan provides for the action lines listed below:

repositioning in a customer-centric approach;

access to the new channels and strengthening of the domains the Group excels in;
people and Development;

efficiency;

rebranding.

oM

1. REPOSITIONING IN A CUSTOMER-CENTRIC APPROACH
In 2018, customer Satisfaction initiatives continued, in order to:

e establish and keep a high-quality relationship with customers, by providing high-value advisory services
and constantly high service level;
e improve customer Experience, which is more and more shifting to a multichannel approach.

Specifically, in the reporting year the following actions were implemented:

extending the Listening-to-customers system, with surveys of customers of all the business channels;
dedicated training programs, to continue in the challenging Change Management process;

targeted communication, both internal and external;

revision of the processes in order to streamline operations for customers and Colleagues.

“Around the Branch” multichannel integration

In order to face the sudden changes that technological innovation constantly brings to the market and to
customers’ behaviour, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has implemented a multichannel/digital trans-
formation programme, which has comprised the launch of new innovative tools and portals/App. Such pro-
gramme is based on the following strategic directions:

e innovation of digital platforms, in terms of evolution of the existing platforms and launch of innovative
ones. Among these, the implementation of the “Touch ID” biometric recognition system for Nowbanking,
the Nowbanking App designed for Small and Medium Enterprises and the Fastcash App for cardless
cash withdrawals at ATMs using a smartphone;

¢ Branch-Digital integration: tools have been implemented for contact with customers using advanced
techniques, also remotely (chat/ audio/ video), asset management platforms/processes have been devel-
oped (PFP, new sale process with remote assistance for wealth management products) with the possibil-
ity for customers to make remote transactions;

e evolution in Banca Telefonica (Phone Bank) role from customer assistance center to customer Experi-
ence core element. The organizational structure has been significantly strengthened in terms of resourc-
es, tools and skills, also providing for a “multi-center” organization throughout the communities the Group
operates in;

¢ increasing digital acquisition, through dedicated web portals (Conto Adesso, Mutuo Adesso), and im-
portant innovations in the opening process. To customers that do not live in the communities where the
Group has branches or that prefer to interact with their Bank remotely while all the same having a dedi-
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cated account manager, the new Virtual Branch is now available.

Thus, customers will have the possibility to decide at any time with which modality they prefer to interact with
the Bank.

2. ACCESS TO THE NEW CHANNELS AND STRENGTHENING OF THE DOMAINS
THE GROUP EXCELS IN NEW CHANNELS DRIVING GROWTH

As one of the channels driving the Group’s growth, the Financial Advisors new channel continued to be
strengthened, which now consists of about 200 Advisors. Moreover, important cooperation activities within
the Crédit Agricole ltalia Group started on the Mid-Corporate segment, on Bancassurance and on Consumer
Credit.

Strengthening of the domains the Group excels
In addition to starting operations in new market segments, our growth continues to rely on our roots and on
our tradition of community banking, constantly focusing on the following domains:

e small Business and Agri-Food: the application of the new distribution model continued, with the setting
up of specialist hubs (over 60 at the end of 2018) and with the signing of supply chain agreements with
some ltalian leading Companies;

e mortgage loans: in order to retain a leading position in the mortgage loan sector, a process was started to
streamline loan disbursement activities and to optimize the supporting methods and tools, driven by the
will to excel also in digital evolution;

e private Banking and WM: the Private Bankers Network, the technological tools made available to this
channel and the range of advanced services to customers continued to be strengthened also in 2018

3. PEOPLE AND DEVELOPMENT

The challenges that the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group has set will be achieved thanks to an ambitious
project for the enhancement of the Human Capital and of the Operational Machine.

HR transformation plan

Human Capital remains one of the main pillars for the Group’s transformation. In the reporting year, some
important strategic activities were started:

recruitment plan, supporting the projects provided for in the “Ambizione Italia 2020” Strategic Plan;
generational Turnover: approximately 171 staff members exited after joining the Solidarity Fund for vol-
untary early termination, with concomitant entry of about 20 young people;

e continuous development of our staff, through managerial training, career and job rotation plans, ex-
change programs with Italian and foreign entities of the Group. Specifically, the Alisei 2020 project was
started and aims at making all people active promoters of their professional development;

e corporate welfare and gender and diversity policies have been strengthened even further, along with a
Smartworking ambitious programme, which was joined by over 1,000 people in one year.

Operational Machine renewal plan
The enhancement of the Operational Machine is being pursued through some key initiatives:

e focus on several “Big Real Estate Projects”: completion and opening, in the first half of 2018, of the New
Management Headquarters in Parma (Crédit Agricole Green Life), a sustainable complex that allows
the Group to advocate environmentally friendly behaviours to the outside and that has been designed
and built to foster new methods of work (co-working, co-creation and smartworking) and exchange with
colleagues; the Milan Office on Via Armorari was also renovated;

e the services provided by Crédit Agricole Group Solutions have continued to be extended to other
Crédit Agricole companies in Italy (for example, the Group’s Insurance Companies in ltaly).
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4. EFFICIENCY
Transformation of the Network model

The new Network model has been designed to be based on customer centrality and in order to ensure
continuous improvement in the efficiency levels of our Branches.

To date, approximately 40% of the before-Fellini Network operates with a counter-free logic, as per the new
“Agenzia Per Te” format, which was implemented also for some branches of the three Fellini Banks, allowing
the automation of transactions with the machines located at the Branches, giving 24/7 service, providing
customers with more time for higher added value activities, such as advisory services.

Moreover, the geographical location of branches has been revised, optimizing their presence in extensively
covered areas, especially for low-traffic small/very small centers. At the same time, new development meth-
ods have started being implemented to extend operations to high-potential areas, through a new, innovative
and light model of branch (the “Hub” model), based on which the physical branch becomes the central hub
housing all “jobs”.

Lending and risk processes and platforms

Also in 2018, the Group was engaged in reducing the cost of credit, also thanks to the sale of a tranche of
non-performing loans. A new procedure stated to be developed, which aims at improving, in efficiency and
effectiveness terms, loan authorization processes, as well as at reviewing the related ones.

Enhancement of the efficiency of processes

The Group has continued to focus on the projects for the streamlining and digitalization of operations and
processes, in order to constantly improve the Group’s efficiency: some key processes were upgraded in this
perspective, such as current account opening, mortgage loan contract finalization and successions.

5. REBRANDING

In 2018, the brand positioning activities, which started in 2016 with the rebranding, continued, focusing on
enhancing the brand distinctiveness, with advertising campaigns on the most impacting media and on digital
and social media, in a business and sustainability perspective (especially centred on mortgage loans and
savings/investments), thus increasing people’s awareness of the Crédit Agricole Group throughout Italy and
their perception of the Brand’s internationality and strength.

Moreover, new strategic partnerships started with market leading brands, which are key drivers to trigger
business opportunities and accelerate brand awareness (such as the partnership with FC Internazionale Mi-
lano).

6. STRATEGIC TRANSACTIONS

Absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena S.p.A., Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini S.p.A. and Cassa di
Risparmio di San Miniato S.p.A. (the “Fellini Combination”)

After the acquisition, which was finalized on 21 December 2017, in the reporting period Crédit Agricole Italia
completed the merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena S.p.A., Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini
S.p.A. and Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato S.p.A., which ended with the migration of information systems
and was carried out in three steps, from June to September.
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CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT LINES

Commercial operations are reported below, along with the impacts of the above-described Medium-Term
Plan (MTP).

RETAIL BANKING DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

In 2018, the Crédit Agricole Iltalia Banking Group further strengthened its universal customer-focused proximity
banking model, always faithful to local commitment and attentive to the communities’ needs with special care for
the satisfaction of its customers, responding to their needs by developing dedicated products and services.

As regards the Individuals sub-segment, the Group once again achieved strong positioning on the market,
thanks to a constantly updated and high-value range of products and services, as well as to several commer-
cial initiatives designed and implemented starting from the analysis of needs as detected within relations with
customers and from the requirements and suggestions expressed by the Distribution Network.

Mortgage and other loans

As regards home loans, the Bank aimed at customization and digitalization of the products and services it
provides, cooperation and partnerships with leading companies and promotion of Green Economy, in order to
stand by its customers in their important projects, such as home purchase or renovation, with solutions that
are good value for money, simple and affordable.

In 2018, also thanks to stronger partnerships with loan brokerage companies (generally subsidiaries of the
main national real estate networks) and to the full establishment of the digital platform, business operations
posted a +16.9% YOY increase (up by +9.9% when considering the 2017 perimeter), considerably higher
both than the system figure of outstanding loans (closing forecast +3.5%) and than the expected increase in
residential real estate sales and purchases (+5.5%).

As regards digitalization, Mutuo Adesso, the online platform for mortgage loans became fully operational; it
gives a quote of the Group’s range of products and provides customers with all the necessary information for
full understanding of the products.

In the reporting year, the Group developed Mutuo Crédit Agricole, a mortgage loan that can be fully adjusted
and customized in accordance with customers’ requirements, thus providing a high-quality product in compli-
ance with the affordability and green innovation standards that are at the basis of the Bank’s responsibility policy.

In order to be perceived as highly innovative and advantageous as it is, this mortgage loan has been designed
to allow customers to choose:

e type of rate: fixed, to know, from the very beginning, the instalment amount throughout the loan duration;
floating rate, which changes in accordance with market rates, with the option for a fixed rate; floating rate
with cap, which gives the flexibility of a floating rate along with a rate cap;

e the “Skip instalment” or “Suspend instalment” flexibility options in order to handle small contingencies,
skipping payment of one instalment a year at no additional cost, or suspending payment of the instal-
ments up to a maximum period of 12 months;

e the benefits, which may be combined, of a free e-bike of the renowned make Atala; no payment of the
first instalment or the “ZeroPensieri” (no worries) service for free collection and certification of the re-
quired documents.

Within the well-established partnership with Agos, the leading player in the Italian consumer credit industry, in
order to ensure easy access to credit - the product range includes a personal loan for amounts up to €10,000
to be used, for instance, to pay for energy efficiency enhancement expenses, as well as a spread discount
for all customers that buy a property in the A/B energy class or renovate their home making it more energy
efficient and upgrading it to a A/B class.

In this scenario, the Group continued to be a member of the ABI/MEF convention for “Fondo di Garanzia Pri-
ma Casa” (main home guarantee fund), which fosters access to credit especially by young people, including
workers with atypical contracts; Parma Progetto Energia continued to be developed, which is the project
promoted and designed in cooperation with the Municipality of Parma aimed at improving the energy efficien-
cy of homes through a dedicated loan at advantageous conditions, called Energicamente Gran Prestito,
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which finances works to increase energy efficiency up to €50,000 and the installation of systems for energy
production from renewable sources.

As regards measures supporting access to credit, thanks to its cooperation with Agos, the Group has increased its
support to households, seizing market opportunities and leveraging on the recovery in consumption.

E-money
In terms of e-money, the number of debit cards increased considerably, up by 12%.

The range of products supplied by the Group was extended with a new platform for the EasyPlus evolved
debit card, “Vesti la tua Carta” which meets themultitask and flexibility requirements expressed by custom-
ers. With this card, customers can make purchases on the Internet safely, can customize their PIN, make
contact-less transactions at enabled points of sale; moreover, thanks to the dedicated platform, the card can
be further enriched and customized, with the services that best meet the holder’s requirements:

“Security Package”, at no additional cost: in addition to the Security elements, such as SMS text mes-
sage service, Zero Liability, Opzione Internet (Internet Option), 3D Secure and Opzione Mondo (World Op-
tion) services, customers can activate, free of charge, also the Identity Protection service, which monitors
the Web and informs the holder in case his/her personal data are found in environments that are deemed
high risk;

- other benefits included in various packages (for example: Travel Package - Comfort Package, etc.).

Moreover, the Group has implemented the Apple/Google/Samsung Pay services and, thus, has enabled its
customers that are Nexi card holders to virtualize their cards and make fast, simple and safe payments
using their phone.

In the reporting year, the cooperation with Telepass was strengthened in order to further promote the prod-
uct use, in a perspective of service to customers consisting of time optimization and payment experience. In
this scope, also other important commercial initiatives started, for promotion, subsidized fees and giving the
possibility to Inter FC fans to have the Telepass device in their team’s colours, i.e. blue and black, within the
partnership with F.C. Internazionale.

Prepaid card also continued to perform well, posting considerable growth, with a 16% increase in all the
products of the CartaConto “family” (CartaConto, CartaConto Paysmart and CartaConto Personalizzata);
this range combines the main services of a current account with the functions of a prepaid payment card.

Consistently with the strong focus that the Group has always placed on creating and spreading a range of
social products and services, the “Solidarity Cards” range was further developed.

The Group reasserted and continued in its commitment to keep, in its product catalogue, CartaConto Lega
del Filo d’Oro - Lega del Filo d’Oro is a non-profit organization that, for over 50 years, has been providing
assistance to deafblind people in ltaly - and CartaConto Teatro Regio di Parma, with which the instalments
to repay the loan for the purchase of theatre season tickets. This catalogue was further extended with the
new FILSE CartaConto, subsequent to the award of a tender called by the Liguria Region, which provides
for a fuel voucher to be given to 4,937 recipients that reside in the Municipalities of Portovenere (SP) and
La Spezia, in consideration of the environmental impact caused by the Panigaglia regasification unit. FILSE
CartaConto is an evolved payment instrument with which the fuel voucher can be received and then used
until 27 November 2019 and which - after such date - will include - also the typical banking functions, with no
activation cost and with no monthly fee for the first 24 months.

In 2018, important partnerships were established, such as that with the University of Parma - following the
one already underway with the University of Venice - aimed also at fostering the link between university and
the world of work and, thus, becoming a true value proposal to the community, through the improvement and
integration of training and the adoption of innovative approaches. The project core product is CartaConto
Universita di Parma, the multiservice Card that, along with the typical banking functions, also comprises the
functions of a Student Card, i.e. identification, recognition and access to university services.

In the reporting year, Crédit Agricole became the Official Bank and Top Partner of F.C. Internazionale Milano,
once again substantiating its support to the Italian world of sport and closeness to the values it represents,
such as pursuance of excellence and development of young people’s potential.
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One of the first significant initiatives was the start of the CartaConto Inter, the Inter-branded payment card.
This important partnership between the Bank and a world famous football club is going to bring about new
products over time, such as the payment cards Nexi Classic Inter and EasyPlus Inter, as well as joint initi-
atives in the solidarity, business and people’s growth scopes.

Evidence of the success of these initiatives is that solidarity, university and sport-sponsorship-related Cart-
aConto cards came to over 20,000 pieces.

Other commercial initiatives were started regarding credit cards.

Subsequent to the regulatory developments that have made fuel paper receipts no longer usable, a commer-
cial initiative was implemented to provide businesses with adequate payment instruments.

As regards the Individuals segment, the implemented commercial initiatives aimed at increasing penetration
and use of cards, especially in their most evolved versions, also through awards and competitions.

Current Accounts and Bancassurance

IDD (Insurance Distribution Directive)

In 2018, the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group designed and developed its operations for the distribution
of insurance products in full compliance with the new EU legislation (Directive (EU) 2016/97 of 20 January
2016 - IDD) on insurance distribution, which entered into force on 1 October 2018.

The project’s main objective was developing a customer-Centric approach, seizing opportunities and provid-
ing services that meet customers’ expectations, in order to:

- detect the needs of customers, helping them in decoding such needs and ensuring that product are con-
sistent with the evolutions in customers’ needs;

- improve the distribution process through higher commitment to advisory services in insurance matters,
with the development of a new dedicated tool;

- ensure higher disclosure, with more transparent communication tools.

Non-Life

In 2018, the Non-Life Strategic Project was started, which is a business plan prepared in cooperation with
CA Assicurazioni and aimed at making the Group a leading player in the Italian bancassurance market in the
next few years.

The ambition is to have the Company ranking at the top of the Non-Life Bancassurance market, following the
successful path of Crédit Agricole in France, by developing innovation in terms of products, services and use
of digital channels. To this end, dedicated projects were started involving several structures of the Bank and
of the Company.

The first multichannel implementation within the Project was the possibility to renew the Protezione Guida MV
insurance policy through Nowbanking.

In cooperation with Crédit Agricole Assicurazioni, a portal was also developed in the corporate Intranet
through which Branch staff members can enter online the registration number of the customer’s car/motor-
bike. This tool was developed in order to increase the opportunities for contact with customers and for distri-
bution of the Protezione Guida products. The customer’s Nowbanking comprises a similar function. Thanks
also to these new media, in 2018 MV liability insurance quotations increased by 12% YOY.

Creditor Protection

In 2018, the Life and Multirisk Protezione Finanziamento Business creditor protection products, with annual
premium that can be paid in monthly instalments, were added to the product catalogue. These recurring pre-
mium solutions are new for the Creditor Protection segment that generally features insurance products with
multi-year duration and with single premium to be paid in advance. This extension in the product catalogue
allows Small Business customers to choose, with the same coverage and benefits, the insurance package
that best fits their requirements in terms of premium type.
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In 2018, there was another new entry in the range of insurance products dedicated to Individuals, namely the
Protezione Domani product with annual premium. It is a stand-alone insurance product that can be under-
written by all customers that attach importance to protection and that want to protect themselves or others.
Indeed, the policy provides full protection and benefits in favour of the insured party or his/her beneficiaries
in case of adverse events that may occur during the policy term of validity. Production increased by 11.3%.

Wealth Management

In 2018, the effort for innovation in the Wealth Management segment increased even further, across the
scopes listed below.

Service innovation and supporting tools

In 2018, the foundations were laid for the development of the WM 2.0. Project, which is intended for the evo-
lution of the present service model towards excellence in advisory services, in order to be able to drive growth
that is organic and sustainable over time. The Project guidelines are the following:

- specialization and enhancement of the supply chains with higher added value (Private banking,
Financial Advisors, Affluent segments) with the creation of structures in order to better manage the con-
veyance of the guidelines from the center to the network, for instance by setting up an Investment Center
for all the channels providing full-range advisory services on assets under management and under ad-
ministration;

- cost-to-serve optimization with industrialization and digitalization of supply, especially as regards
Households and Millennials, also thanks to the Group Best Practices (cooperation with Amundi);

- extension of the tools supporting the quality of services to customers, with the evolution of digital
platforms (e.g. Nowbanking, the new Hub App), in order to improve the quality of reporting and alerting
services; actions have been planned for the upgrading of the service model in order to ensure global and
tailor-made advisory services with a full-range scope (not only financial), designed on the customers’
needs and life projects;

- continuous enhancement of People and skills through dedicated training, especially on Behavioural
Finance, aimed at better and better ability to listen to our customers and to analyze their needs and ob-
jectives, as well as on Regulatory scopes, in order to ensure that the services provided meet high quality
standards.

Moreover, since September 2018 a Newsletter is sent every two weeks via e-mail to the Group’s custom-
ers called Sguardi su “Risparmio e Investimenti” - (A look at Savings and Investments), the New Financial
Education and Communication Service, aimed at conveying the value of advice and skills, as well as at brief-
ing customers on matters regarding savings and financial culture.

Product innovation

Again in 2018, the commitment to innovate the range of products and services was constant:

- in the insurance scope, the main new development was the launch, in May, of the new Unit Global
Solution of Crédit Agricole Vita, which provides customers with a service able to meet their needs over
time as well as to follow market evolution, with 17 different investment solutions in one single product.
This new Unit-linked product has allowed higher diversification, thanks to the wide choice of funds - 5
internal insurance funds of CA Vita and 12 external funds from among Amundi best selections, can be
tailor-made on the customer’s risk profile, is more responsive thanks to daily measurement and ensures
more flexibility and more protection as it provides for the possibility, in case of death, of cashing in at least
the premium paid;

- the new developments in asset management were the launch of the new Amundi Accumulazione Italia
PIR Fund, which is the first PIR-compliant fund with a pre-set subscription window in the Italian market
and which is intended to provide, in one single product, the advantages resulting from investment in
[talian Individual Saving Plans (ltalian acronym PIR) and from the mechanism of gradual investment in
stocks; the extension in the range of funds with a pre-set subscription window thanks to the inclusion
of Disruption funds focusing on very attractive companies and industries able to create or benefit from
innovative business models;

Management Report 51



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

- Amundi Selezione Benessere fund, which aims at seizing the return potential generated by socio-en-
vironmental changes linked to consumers’ search for wellbeing and with the design of specific funds for
the customers of the private banking and financial advisors channels, such as Amundi Mega Trend fund;

- in October, a new result of the synergy with the product company CACIB was the launch of the “Climate
Action Green Notes” structured bonds, the first total green bond issued by CACIB and reserved to our
Group’s customers investing, and therefore supporting, companies and projects with strong environmen-
tal, social and governance performances and operating in an industry that is key for the transition to an
economy that is more respectful of climate and of the environment in general. This initiative is consistent
with our Group’s commitment to sustainability and to “ESG” (Environmental, Social and Governance)
matters;

- extension of the range of products and services thanks to the integration of the three Fellini Banks
with new product houses on the catalogue (for example: Nordea, Columbia, Pramerica, Soprarno).

Requlatory upgrading

Upgrading continued as required for full compliance with all the new developments in the EU legislation in
the following scopes:

e |IDD, on insurance distribution providing for consumer protection;
e Mifid Il on investments with the main achievements given below:

- higher quality of services to customers also in the after-sale stage, through the implementation of
costs/benefits assessments, ensuring consistent increase in benefits in case of any potential increase
in costs;

- optimization of the product catalogue with new testing on the efficiency of the products in the catalogue;

- upgrading of contracts and of the internal normative instruments for their full compliance with the
legislation and preparation for the activity to implement the period Reporting ex-post to customers,
clearly and transparently setting forth the costs and expenses regarding the portfolio, as well as the
related impacts on returns.

Small Business

In 2018, a highly-specialized distribution model was established with the full operation of 61 Small Business
Centers, in order to provide customers with more specialist advisory services, with a “customer centrality”
approach.

In the reporting year, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group developed important initiatives aimed at providing
support to the businesses based in the communities it operates in and to local economies, fostering growth and
access to credit, while proving once again able to work in synergy with the main Local Public Institutions:

e it paid more than 1,400 contributions in favour of customers hit by natural disasters for a total amount
of over euro 15 million;

e funds were allocated for “Preauthorized” loans intended to be used to grant both short- and medium-/
long-term credit lines, as well as funds for loans on very easy terms in order to support, with fast and
transparent tools, investments in the most deserving businesses;

e it took part in several subsidized financing regional initiatives aimed at supporting new entrepre-
neurial projects and investments in production;

e it promoted the use of the Guarantee Fund for SMEs, aimed at fostering access to financial sources by
small and medium enterprises by giving a state guarantee that is added to and often replaces the col-
laterals pledged by SMEs. In the reporting year, over 500 loans were disbursed totalling euro 69 million;

e it enhanced lending to Local Public Institutions, in order to support the implementation of actions in
the public interest, investments aimed at improving the existing infrastructure and services or at
enhancing the Institution’s efficiency.

In 2018, the POS product range was extended with the launch, in cooperation with the provider Nexi, of two
new important solutions:

e SmartPOS PAX: a new terminal, with innovative design and touchscreen colour display, that can be used
to download the Apps dedicated to one’s business;
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e XPay easy, XPay pro, XPay 360: innovative solutions to activate the payment gateway that allows cus-
tomers to accept payments also remotely: the activation process is fully online, simple and with short
activation time.

To provide incentives for acceptance by stores of card payments also for small amounts, the “Micropay-
ments” campaign was launched, which provides for the refund of the commissions calculated on e-payments
of small amounts made with Visa, Master- card and PagoBANCOMAT® payment cards.

Agri Agro

In 2018, the Crédit Agricole Banking Group provided considerable support to the Agri Agro (Agri-food) sec-
tor, as substantiated by new long-term loans worth over euro 790 million and by total loans to the sector
increasing by 14.1% (7.0% considering the before-acquisition perimeter).

In the reporting year, a service model that is highly specialized for the sector became fully operational, with
45 advisors that work exclusively in this sector, coordinated by 18 specialists throughout the network and
by a dedicated Service within the Central Department.

Relying on the expertise of its French Parent Company, the Group has placed the Agri-food sector at the
center of its strategy developing an approach able to combine innovation and proximity to the communities
it operates in with the following initiatives:

e Jaunch of Agriadvisor, an Android tablet app that has been designed to assist account managers in
acquiring full knowledge of farms, analyzing their financial requirements and the specificities to prepare
a loan proposal that is tailor-made on the customer’s actual needs;

e signing of important agreements aimed at supporting businesses that operate within the supply chain
of leading players in the Italian agri-food sector, such as Barilla, Orogel, TOF - The Organic factory and
the Forest Consortium of Pavia (within the “Progetto Nocciola Italia”, the project on Italian hazelnuts
promoted by Ferrero);

e development of ranges of products and services designed to provide support to target customers that
are strategic for the agri-food system as a whole, such as young farmers (“Orizzonte Giovani”) and the
organic sector (“Orizzonte Bio”);

e further strengthening of the partnership with Coldiretti - the main Trade Association in the sector - and
the related Loan Guarantee Consortium (CreditAgri Italia) through specific joint initiatives, such as ad-
vanced payment of the subsidies pursuant to the EU’s common agricultural policy or the participation
in the XVII International Forum on Agriculture and Food, which was held in Cernobbio.

PRIVATE BANKING DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL

In 2018, the Group was engaged in implementing the plan for the integration of the Fellini Banks. The combi-
nation falls within the scope of the «Ambizione Italia 2020» strategic plan and is intended to contribute to the
increase in the operations of the Crédit Agricole Group in Italy.

Thanks to the integration of the three Banks, the Private Banking channel of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking
Group could strengthen its customer-focused Proximity Bank Model, posting growth and increased com-
petitiveness in its long-standing areas of operations. This led to the setting up of 3 new Private Banking
Markets and to the strengthening of the team of Private Bankers in the area.

Therefore, considerable effort was lavished in the reporting year on their business and behavioural integra-
tion, in order to harmonize the existing expertise and best practices.

As to development of products and services, the main highlights are:

e the advisory service scope was further strengthened: Indeed, in the reporting year, Soluzione Valore
Plus, the explicit remuneration advisory service was further boosted, with a significant increase in AUM
and in the number of mandates. In 2018, the service won the AIFIN “Private Banking e Wealth Man-
agement Award” first prize in the Private Banking Division of Commercial Banks. Evidence of the
increasing importance of advanced advisory services in a MiFID Il perspective;

e dedicated issues of target maturity funds made by Amundi SGR for Private Banking customers (Amundi

Management Report 53



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Private Stars 2023 and Amundi Private Megatrend);

e continuous maintenance of the CaVita Private Multiselection Unit-linked and CaVita Private Multist-
rategy Multiline insurance policies, extending the investable universe of funds and SICAVs;

¢ the extension of the Multi-manager UCITS catalogue with the addition of new international fund man-
agement houses.

In 2018, the Financial Advisory team was strengthened also with resources coming from the Fellini Banks.
This has generated a strong increase in the level of service provided by the Private Banking Network, with
ad-hoc analysis on portfolios, monitoring and dedicated reporting.

In terms of loans, the interaction with the Corporate Banking channel proved once more constant and fruitful
in the management of specific requirements of customers that are also entrepreneurs, thanks to the Credit
Advisory team that works alongside the Private Banking Network. This cooperation yielded an increase
in transactions made in synergy with the Corporate Banking channel.

As done in the previous year, also in 2018 the Private Banking channel constructed digital innovation and
multichannel access to the service as an integral part of the business.

The strong commitment to accelerating the technological evolution of the services (remote advisory services,
integrated reporting, financial communication) comprised two key drivers:

1. improved customer Journey, also thanks to larger and larger use of the digital tools made available to
private bankers, which make it easier for the bankers providing advisory services and keeping in contact
with their customers (tablets, Web Collaboration, remote sale, digital signature);

2. enhanced efficiency of the account managers’ activities, through better planning, and the support
of the CRM platform (Nowdesk) in order to have more time to dedicate to business and development.

Other significant initiatives in the year concerned:

e Important training provided to the entire Private Banking Network that was required to support the
cultural change generated by continuous evolution in the competition scenario:

1. the training had a behavioural and commercial focus, in order to strengthen the relationship of Mar-
ket Heads with the Central Department and with the Bankers, thanks to higher awareness of their
managerial role; the training also aimed at enhancing the Private Bankers’ skills in order to foster the
transformation of their role from “account manager” to “portfolio manager and developer”, as well
as to promote a corporate culture - based on sense of identity, vision of the future, mutual trust - fit to
ensure an unequalled, distinctive and attractive “managerial and commercial style”;

2. the training had also a technical-specialist focus on product and services, financial markets and
succession planning. In cooperation with the ltalian Private Banking Association (AIPB) and in
accordance with the MiFID 2 requirements, the entire staff of the Private Banking Network was
provided dedicated training that will end with the issue of the AIPB certificate in 2019;

3. interaction and exchanges with the AIPB were once again constant and allowed effective analysis
of the main trends in the sector, also with benchmarking among the main competitors;

e DOXA-certified survey of customer satisfaction with excellent results achieved by the Private Banking
channel. In this regard, contact proactivity was boosted through the development of an approach for
continuous contact between the Banker and his/her customers, also thanks to the organization of dedi-
cated events in the communities.

The Communication activity considerably increased in 2018, both to colleagues with dedicated calls and workshops,
and to customers with the implementation of “Scenari”, the monthly newsletter on financial topics for the Private
Banking customers. At the end of the year, the Private Banking Channel played a leading role in the Savings Cam-
paign, which highlighting on the specialist channels within the Group on the industry press and on digital media.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

In 2018, the Financial Advisors Channel further extended its operations with the opening of two new markets
- thus reaching a total of 11 markets at the end of the year - and with the onboarding of 58 Financial Advisors,
of which 35 recruited on the market and 23 internal resources, thus with the Channel staff coming to 200
resources including Financial Advisors and Market Heads.
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Consistently with its mission — i.e. creating value through the development of assets and high-potential cus-
tomers — in 2018 the Financial Advisors channel posted considerable growth in assets under administration
and in the customer base, thanks to effective portfolio diversification in accordance with specific needs.

In addition to the increase in total funding, evidence of the attention paid to customers’ needs, in 2018 loans
to Individuals came to over euro 50 million.

Within the evolution and extension of the services to customers, in 2018 the actions to improve customer ex-
perience and the service model effectiveness continued through higher and higher use, by Financial Advisors,
of “Assisted Sale” and “Web Collaboration”.

In 2018, the raking in the Net Promoter or Net Promoter Score (NPS) or Customer Recommendation Index
(CRI) proved again at absolutely excellent levels. customers especially appreciated elements such as: skills
and professionalism, but also proactivity and the ability to provide bespoke services.

Special attention was place on training, which, again in the reporting year, had a core position and focused
especially on developing distinctive behavioural skills.

In 2018 all Financial Advisors received training on technical-specialist topics, on strengthening behavioural
skills and on regulatory matters.

CORPORATE BANKING DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL

In 2018, the Corporate Banking channel proved again the preferred financial partner of Corporate Banking
customers, providing strong support to their business activities and high-end specialist advisory services. In
the reporting year, the Corporate Banking channel fostered growth and investments of its customer compa-
nies providing products and services tailored made for the needs and behaviours of the various customer
segments in scope.

In the year, the Corporate Banking channel increased its range of products and services and structured its
business based on a coordinated set of activities and actions, such as:

e significant development in structured finance, thanks to distinctive range of products and services and the as
distinctive service model, placing the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group among the top players in the sector;

e support to exports and internationalization, thanks to specialist advisory services, to the International
Desk to assist foreign companies in Italy and through business agreements relying on the international
operations of Crédit Agricole - in the services provided to Italian companies that want to become inter-
national players;

e the design and development, in synergy with the companies of the Group, of innovative products and
joint initiatives aimed at strengthening the relationship with customers;

e the organization of specific initiatives in the communities (e.g. “Coffee with Enterprises”), which involve
customers in a perspective of retention and exchange on interesting topics, such as the management of
financial risks, internationalization, leasing and liquidity management solutions;

e the “Preauthorized loans” initiative, which is dedicated to customer enterprises that are worthy players
in strategic sectors and which can quickly provide them with the liquidity they need to make investments
and to finance growth plans;

e the use of instruments and agreements with financial institutions in order to develop products fostering
access to credit by SMEs (EIB, European Investment Fund (EIF) allocation, the agreement between the
Italian Banking Association and Cassa Depositi € Prestiti on “Capital Equipment Allocation”, Guarantees
provided by SACE and by the Italian State Guaranty Fund for SMEs);

e the support provided to customers that were hit by the earthquake with an allocation for subsidized loans
(Disasters), to be used to repair the damage suffered by Individuals and Businesses.

The initiatives listed below aimed at supporting enterprises in their growth are to be specifically mentioned:

e the “ITACA (ITAlian Corporate Ambition) Project”, included in the Strategic Plan, aims at improving the
products and services intended for the Mid-Corporate segment, also supplying Investment Banking
products through synergies inside the Group;

e the “File Act Project”, a solution that customers can use to exchange flows with the Bank, through Swift,
in the formats provided by the Italian Legislation (Interbank Corporate Banking - CBI) or in the Swift for-
mats, ensuring a new and fast way for the Bank and its customers to communicate.
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DIRECT CHANNELS AND DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

For the Crédit Agricole Group, 2018 was an important year within its Digital Transformation, which has been
carried out always keeping customers and human relationships at the center.

Our ambition is to continue to listen to our customers, through a customer journey based on different touch
points, both Physical and Digital, ensuring multichannel integration “around the Branch”; in this way, custom-
ers can choose at any time the method of interacting with their Bank, while Crédit Agricole ltalia can meet the
needs of a diverse target that comprises various socio-demographic features.

As regards the Digital World, several initiatives and projects were launched in 2018 in order to continue on
the road to the Group Digital Transformation, which is based especially on strategies for online acquisition,
cross-selling of products that can be 100% sold online, innovative educational initiatives with strong focus
on the young people target, considerable investments in digital platforms with innovative elements within the
Internet and Mobile Banking channel.

1. Online acquisition strategies

The online acquisition activities posted satisfied progress, with Current Accounts opened on the Web increasing
by +39% YQY. The sales of this product could be increased thanks to the strengthening of valuable partnerships
with native digital companies, but also thanks to initiatives for the sale of Current Accounts with new physical
players.

In addition to the good performance of Current Accounts, the sales of Mortgage Loans acquired online also
increased: indeed, they were up by +447% YOQOY, thanks to the activities implemented for the enhancement
and promotion of the www.ca-mutuoadesso.it portal and for the establishment of valuable Partnerships with
websites for real estate ads, such as Immobiliare.it, the Italian leading player in this sector.

On both Current Accounts and Mortgage Loans, in order to improve its online positioning and to acquire
new digital customers, the Group engaged in several activities with high added value. The following ones are
specifically reported:

e increased online visibility with Google, in terms of constant presence in the sponsored results of the
search engine, and improved positioning of the Group’s websites in the organic results page through
Search Engine Optimization (SEO) activities;

e usability testing on the Conto Adesso and Mutuo Adesso websites with Google and TSW, aimed at im-
proving user experience and at increasing the conversion rate of websites;

e continuous presence on the Web through the main performance advertisement channels and activities:
the most widely used search engines in the ltalian scenario (Google, Yahoo, Bing and Virgilio), online
comparison websites, bannering on the leading Italian websites, Direct Email Marketing (DEM), Retarget-
ing (Criteo) and Social (Facebook) activities.

2. Cross selling of products that can be 100% sold online

In synergy with CA Assicurazioni, MV Insurance (Protezione Guida) and Travel Insurance (Protezione Vacanza)
can now be renewed through the Individuals Internet Banking. These two products substantiate the will to
increase the potential of digital channels (in this case Internet banking) as a fully-fledged sale channel with a
wider and wider product catalogue.

3. Innovative education with strong focus on the young people target

In 2018, the Group was quite involved also in Innovative Education initiatives, strengthening its various part-
nerships with Institutions and Universities in its communities of operations.

Worth mentioning is BankMeApp Scuole, a virtuous educational project involving high school students. Crédit
Agricole ltalia, in cooperation with the Centre for Research into Entrepreneurial Development (CERSI), has
designed an innovative education programme with:

- financial education meetings;

- in-company training programmes for students;

- final contest with the presentation of 10 projects aimed at meeting a true consumption need, with inno-
vative features.
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This initiative raises “curiosity” about relevant topics, also financial ones, and gives young people insight on
the Group’s values, also through internships.

4. Considerable investments in the digital platforms with innovative elements within the Internet and Mobile
Banking channels

The Group’s Internet and Mobile Banking scope underwent considerable developments, aiming at improved
positioning in the competition scenario, bridging the market gap and contributing to the growth of the Group’s
customer base with a more attractive range of digital products and services.

- new Internet Banking for Individuals and Small/Medium Enterprises. The platform has new usability and
graphics in line with the current market trends; it allows higher customization, as the “most frequent
transactions” can be set and used simply with a click, the widgets to be displayed in the Home Page can
be set to taste, the account names can be changes and much more. Moreover, the new Nowbanking is
mobile-responsive and bank accounts can be consulted at any time and using any type of device;

- the Nowbanking App for Small/Medium Enterprises. In addition to the Internet Banking platform, our
Enterprises will be able to access their accounts with an App and to have everything just one tap away,
including the payment of electronic bank receipts (RIBA) and BILLS;

- FASTCASH, the cardless cash withdrawal app, with which customers can withdraw cash at ATMs, leav-
ing their debit cards at home;

- instant Payments, highly innovative function, with which customers can make a Credit Transfer with the
amount credited to the Payee in 10 seconds only.

Awards
The Group’s experience, expertise and commitment were again acknowledged in 2018 with important awards:

2018 - The “Vesti la tua Carta” Digital Platform project obtained a mention of merit and was nominated for
the prizes in the “Financial Innovation - Italian Awards” category

2018 - Agos Ducato, the consumer finance company of Crédit Agricole in Italy, was awarded the Value Cre-
ator Prize as The best Company for Credit to Households and Loans against transfer of one fifth of salary/
pension with deduction of payment (in terms of profitability).

2018 - Awards to Mutuo Crédit Agricole

e 5 seals of the Institut fir Vermégensaufbau (IVA, a quality assessment independent corporation):
- Excellent Flexibility;

Top Product Range;

Top Re-Mortgage;

Top Conditions;

TOP in the final indicator “Mortgage loans of Banks with Branches”.

e Awarded by OF Osservatorio Finanziario as the best fixed-rate mortgage loan.

THE WORKFORCE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s staff consisted of 9,878 employees that can be broken down by entity
as follows:

RESOURCES ON THE EMPLOYEE LEDGER 31 DEC. 2018

Crédit Agricole Italia 7,046
Crédit Agricole FriulAdria 1,436
Crédit Agricole Carispezia 702
Crédit Agricole Leasing Italia 54
Crédit Agricole Group Solutions 640
Total Resources of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 9,878
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In 2018, at Group level, net of contract transfers/acquisitions, 228 resources were recruited and 401 terminat-
ed their employment relation, 171 of whom through the Solidarity Fund.

Newly recruited resources were for the Financial Advisors channel (37 new entries), Distribution network
staff (over 130 new entries in the Retail Banking structure) and specialist profiles at Central Departments (for
instance in the IT sector).

The staff consists by 98.46% of employees with permanent employment contracts, while, in terms of gender,
women account for 49.54% of total resources.

The Group operates in 11 Regions of ltaly, with Crédit Agricole ltalia being deeply rooted in the Emilia-Romag-
na Region, Crédit Agricole FriulAdria in the Friuli Venezia Giulia Region and Crédit Agricole Carispezia in the
Liguria Region; 55% of the Group staff works in these three Regions.

The employees’ average age is 47 years (breaking down by category in years point months — Senior Man-
agers 53.03 - Junior Managers 49.11 — Professional Areas 44.06), whereas the average seniority came to
19 years and 1 month (breaking down by category in years point months - Senior Managers 14.11 — Junior
Managers 22.00 — Professional Areas 18.02).

On 21 December 2017, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group acquired three new companies: Cassa di
Risparmio di S. Miniato, Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini and Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena, for a total of
1,905 contracts transferred mainly in June, July and September:

- 527 resources coming from Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato in June;

- 786 resources coming from Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena in July;

- 588 resources coming from Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini in September;

- 4 individual resources entered before the merger in February, May and July.

The staff of the newly/acquired companies consists by 99.95% of employees with permanent employment
contracts, while, in terms of gender, women account for about 52% of total resources. The employees’ aver-
age age is 45 years and 6 months, while average seniority is 17 years and 2 months.

The newly/acquired companies operate mainly in the Emilia-Romagna and Tuscany Regions, where over
92.84% of their staff works.

In 2018, the “Ambizione Italia 2020” Medium-Term Plan (MTP) continued to be implemented throughout the
Group; it also provides for several significant actions on staff (“Resources and Development” pillar) aimed at
investing in people’s training and growth, at attracting and enhancing new talents, from the outside and from
the inside, and at investing in digital operations, risk management and processes, at continuing to innovate
and optimize the Branch model.

Consistently with the Medium Term Plan, training was also focused on, throughout the Group and at all levels.
Indeed, over 59,503 man-days worth of training were provided involving 97% of the staff, thus substantiating that
training, carried out through different distribution channels, is one of the key drivers for the Group development.

As regards the actions aimed at the growth and enhancement of people, initiatives continued, implementing
Group projects (Open Talent and Who Are You) aimed at ensuring especially crosswise and interfunctional
development of the Bank’s young talents.

Moreover, again at Group level, an important project was started for surveying the skills of all Staff (Alisei
2020). In the reporting year, some internal communication initiatives were carried out aimed at fostering open
and direct discussion and interaction, as well as at promoting awareness and change.

As in the last few years, also in 2018, the Crédit Agricole Italia Group was certified as a Top Employers
company. The annual HR Best Practices Survey carried out by the Top Employers Institute is the basis for
certifying the best companies worldwide in terms of HR: the organisations that achieve the highest standards
of excellence in employee conditions, that train and develop talent at all levels throughout the organization
and that constantly strive to improve and optimize their Best Practices in the field of Human Resources.

The Solidarity Fund

Within the “Ambizione Italia 2020” Strategic Plan, continuing with the actions started in 2016, on 2 Au-
gust 2018 a new agreement was signed whereby 200 people joined the Solidarity Fund - subdivided into 2
time-windows, 1 November 2018 and 1 April 2019 -; the agreement provides the employees that will meet
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the requirements for retirement in the next few years with the possibility of early termination, voluntarily and
with incentives, of their employment.

This important agreement, which was executed in favour of those that had applied for joining the Fund in
2016 and that had had their application rejected, as there were no more places available, is intended to give
yet another opportunity of early termination of employment.

Moreover, also in order to meet the need for generational turnover, up to a maximum of 50 young people are
going to be recruited in the 2018/19 period.

Remuneration Policies

The guidelines and directions at the basis of the Group remuneration policy are set by the Parent Company
Crédit Agricole in order to ensure shared and consistent management at a global level; such guidelines and
directions are then adopted by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group that adjusts them to its own reference
scope and submits them to the Board of Directors of each Company (for Crédit Agricole Italia on 27 March
2018) and, then, to the single General Meetings of Shareholders of the Banks for final approval (for Crédit
Agricole ltalia on 27 April 2018).

The remuneration policies of the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group are different in accordance with the
reference target staff, both as regards corporate governance processes and as regards the remuneration sys-
tems and instruments used, and, also in accordance with the specific requirements of the Italian supervisory
regulations, they are based on the following principles:

alignment with the business strategies of the Companies and of the Group;

attraction, motivation and retention of professionally qualified and skilled resources;

merit recognition in order to appropriately acknowledge the resources’ personal contribution;

actual value creation and orienting the performances of the entire staff towards short-, medium- and long-

term objectives, within a reference regulatory framework designed for proper control of corporate risks,

both present and prospective, as well as for maintaining adequate liquidity and capital,

e internal remuneration fairness, ensuring fair reward for the contribution given and the responsibilities
assigned;

e external remuneration competitiveness through constant reference to the market, also with the support
of tools designed to analyze and measure work positions by specialized companies providing reference
benchmarks for each type of position, company size and market;

e affordability of remuneration systems by controlling the weight of labour cost on the income statement,
over the short-, medium- and long-term, both of the single Companies and of the Group as a whole;

e compliance with the law and regulatory provisions that apply to the single Companies and to the Group

as a whole.

The Remuneration Policies of the Group for 2018 essentially confirmed those for the previous year, ensuring
compliance with the new developments in the EU legislation (MiFID Il and IDD) as regards conflicts of interest.
They have been extended to the three Banks acquired on 21 December 2017 (Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena,
Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini and Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato) to which the governance principles and
rules have been applied, while remuneration instruments and actions have been specifically defined.

On 26 October 2018, the Bank of Italy published the 25th update of Circular no. 285 of 17 December 2013,
which introduced some new provisions on Remuneration and Incentive Policies and Practices. Such new
provisions shall apply as of 2019 and, therefore, shall be implemented in the 2019 Remuneration Policies
document.

In compliance with the Bank of Italy regulation implementing the EBA Guidelines, the document on Remuner-
ation Policies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group is available on its website, along with the disclosure
given in the Investor Relations section.
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Internal customer Satisfaction

In 2018, within the Internal Customer Satisfaction (ICS) process, which has been going on for several years,
the survey process has been redesigned and upgraded in cooperation with the Doxa Company, as for NPS/
CRI.

The ICS is a tool designed to detect, verify and measure the perception by the different Group departments,
in their capacity as Internal customers, of the services they receive from other internal departments.

The process key targets are:

e toincrease the Group’s ability to generate effective team work between its various teams;

e to contribute to the creation of a corporate culture that increasingly focuses on the requirements of cus-
tomers, also internal ones;

e to make processes and relationships between the various structures more flowing and efficient.

Assessments are performed on a six-month basis and the results have both an absolute and relative value, as
a measurement of the improvement/worsening rate of internal customer satisfaction in the following half years.

After the surveys, the Human Resources Department holds in-depth analysis meetings with the structures that
showed problems in previous assessments or that want to hold specific discussion with their customer struc-
tures, in order to foster continuous improvement. The in-depth analysis meetings between customer and pro-
vider structures gave the opportunity of direct exchanges and discussion, as well as of high cooperation, which
proved useful to solve any organizational problems, as well as to facilitate work on both sides and the relation-
ship between the parties involved. The HR Department will continue to stimulate and promote the organization
of other meetings between customer and provider structures after the next surveys, supporting proactivity
throughout the organization and enhancing a sense of responsibility towards the Company.

FINANCE

The directions followed by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group concerning financial balances and man-
agement rest of three main guidelines:

e the management of interest rate risk;
e the management of liquidity risk;
e capital management.

The objectives regarding the management of interest rate risk, consistently with the past, concerned the
hedging of the Group cumulative exposure by Bank, achieving significant protection of profitability, as sub-
stantiated, also for 2018, by the contributions to the Income Statement of the stock of existing hedges.

As regards liquidity, the implemented refinancing strategies continued to pursue source diversification, with
alternative funding sources found in the Covered Bonds market and access to EIB funds. Through progres-
sive repayment, the portion consisting of TLTROs Il was rationalized.

Specifically, in January 2018, Covered Bonds were issued on the market for euro 500 million with 20-year
maturity. This issue, along with the one in December 2017, has achieved very early completion of and has
exceeded the funding plan for the reporting year. Thanks to those issues, funding could be further stabilized
at reasonable costs diversifying maturities over time.

As regards capital management, consistently with the directions given by the Controlling Company Credit
Agricole S.A, in 2018 the Parent Company Credit Agricole ltalia issued AT1 (Additional Tier1) instruments for a
total of euro 350 million and Tier 2 instruments for euro 100 million. At the same time, the subsidiaries Crédit
Agricole Carispezia and Creédit Agricole Leasing ltalia issued Tier 2 subordinated bonds for euro 20 million
and euro 5 million, respectively.

Financial activities are subject to the approval, control and coordination of the Board of Directors of the Parent
Company Crédit Agricole Italia.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Objectives and policies on risk taking, management and hedging

1.1 SUMMARY OF THE SYSTEM, PERIMETER AND ROLES

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group attaches great importance to the measurement, management and
control of risks, in order to achieve sustainable growth in a political-economic scenario, such as the present
one, featuring high complexity and evolving rapidly.

Within the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group, the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. is respon-
sible for overall steering, managing and controlling risks at a Group level, triggering operational action plans
that allow reliable control on all risk situations. In its turn, the system set by Crédit Agricole Italia is based on
the Supervisory regulations and on the directions issued by Crédit Agricole

S.A. concerning its subsidiaries. The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department (ltalian acronym
DRPC) performs risk management and control activities for all the Companies of the Crédit Agricole ltalia
Banking Group.

The founding principles informing all activities for risk management and control are the following:

e clear identification of risk-taking responsibilities;

e measurement and control systems that are compliant with the Supervisory instructions and in line with
the solutions more frequently adopted at an international level;

e organizational separation between operating and control functions.

The perimeter of detected, monitored and integrated risks (taking account of diversification advantages) in
the economic capital includes:

credit and counterparty risks; this category also includes concentration risk;
market risk of the Trading Book;

price risk of the Banking Book;

interest rate risk of the Banking Book;

liquidity risk;

foreign exchange risk of the Banking Book;

operational risk.

The Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group updates, normally on a yearly basis, its Risk Strategy, which sets
the levels of risk (credit, financial, market and operational risks) which the Group deems adequate to its
development strategy. Based on the Strategy, which is submitted to the Risk Committee of Crédit Agricole
S.A. for its approval, global limits are set (the alert thresholds) and are appropriately integrated with op-
erational limits that are specific to each single Entity in the Group. This system, setting limits and/or alert
thresholds, is submitted to the Boards of Directors of the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. and
of the single Entities of the Group for their approval.

The Group’s main Committee in charge of the specific risk scopes is the Risk and Internal Control Commit-
tee that performs coordination of roles and structures engaged in control functions (Internal Audit, Com-
pliance, Risk Management and Permanent Controls), as well as the internal control system as a whole, in
accordance with the procedures implemented by Crédit Agricole at Group level; it examines and approves
risk management guidelines, expresses opinions on the specific Risk Policies submitted to the Board of
Directors for approval and resolves on any proposals made by the operational working groups, which all
matters that are specific to the different risks are referred to.

In accordance with their respective responsibilities, the roles and department engaged in control functions
sit also on other management Committees, including the New Activities and New Products Committee
(Italian acronym NAP), the ALM Committee, the Investment Committee, the Loan Committee and the Loan
Monitoring Committee.

Finally, the Departments engaged in control functions participate in and report to the Audit Committee for In-
ternal Control; this is a Board Committee set up by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors in order to have
support in ensuring the effectiveness of the internal control system, pursuant to the “Supervisory provisions
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concerning banks’ organization and corporate governance” issued by the Bank of Italy on 4 March 2008, which
recommend that Board Committees be set up within entities that are large-sized or feature high complexity.

The Audit Committee for Internal Control also verifies whether the incentive system implemented by the Bank
is consistent with the applicable regulatory provisions.

1.2 RISK APPETITE FRAMEWORK

The Group’s Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) expresses the approach and risk level that the Group is willing
to take, as regards each type of risk. The Group’s risk appetite has been determined based especially on its
financial policy and on its risk management policy and is expressed through:

e aselective and responsible funding policy within a conservative lending policy that is set down in the Risk
Strategy, consistently with the corporate social responsibility policy and with the system of decision-mak-
ing powers in force;

an exposure to market risk to a minimum level;

a strict oversight on exposure to operational risk;

a system of controls aimed at controlling non-compliance risk (identified and monitored);

a careful measurement of risk-weighted assets;

an integrated management of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

The Risk Appetite Framework structure consists in activities for the monitoring and control of risks, in order to
ensure that they are managed, driving continuous development and improvement of the methods and models
for their measurement.

For this purpose, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group uses methods, measurement standards and risk
control tools that are consistent throughout the Group and adequate to the type and extent of the risks tak-
en, involving and informing the corporate bodies of the subsidiaries about the choices made as regards risk
management procedures and policies.

Within the Risk Appetite Framework, limits and alert thresholds are set on Solvency, Liquidity, Asset Quality
and Profitability main ratios/indicators, which are fit to verify the affordability of the Group’s Budget and MTP
on a continuous basis, as well as to identify the first alerts in case such ratios/indicators worsen, in order for
all corrective actions to be triggered and to return to normal operation.

Moreover, the Group’s risk appetite is also expressed by the management of qualitative risks, concerning
its strategy and operations, in order to pursue sustainable development and effective management of risks.

The Risk Appetite Framework plays a pivotal role in the definition of the Governance framework, since it
includes the business model and the strategic plan, the risk appetite, tolerance thresholds, risk limits, risk
governance policies and the reference processes required to define and implement them.

In 2018, the set of documents regarding the Group’s Risk Appetite Framework was updated; specifically, in
terms of Governance, the following items were revised:

e the RAF Policy, which defines the RAF scope of application, the process to determine the thresholds and
the mapping of material risks, in order to ensure consistency between the Group’s operations, complexity
and sizes;

e the Policy on the Most Relevant Transactions (“Operazioni di Maggior Rilievo”, MRT or with the Italian
acronym OMR), which sets forth the methodological approach and the operational aspects of the MRT
management process, including the related identification criteria in order to ensure full compliance with
the applicable legislation;

e the Stress Test Policy in accordance with CA.sa. guidelines. The Policy sets forth the annual Stress Test
programme of the Group, the Governance and the responsibilities of the various players involved and any
improvement areas/points scheduled in the year;

e the Risk Appetite Statement (“RAS”), which sets forth the Risk Management and Governance process and
the roles played by the Group’s bodies engaged in management and control functions. This document also
reports the quantitative ratios/indicators expressing the main risks the Group is exposed to, along with ex-
haustive description of the logic behind the determination of RAF thresholds and limits. For qualitative risks,
the document sets forth the control processes and mitigation tools implemented by the Group.

In 2018, the Group revised its process for the identification of material risks, based on the system received
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from the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A. and consistently with the information given in the ICAAP
document and in the Internal Control Annual Report (ICAR).

In general terms, the Risk Appetite Framework of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group is structured as follows:

e Risk Appetite (risk objective or risk appetite): level of risk (overall and by type) that the Group is willing to
take in order to pursue its strategic objectives;

e Risk Tolerance (tolerance threshold): maximum allowed deviation from the Risk Appetite; the tolerance
threshold has been set in order to ensure that, in all cases, the Group has sufficient margins to operate,
also in stress scenarios, within its risk capacity;

e Risk Capacity (maximum risk that can be taken): the maximum level or risk that the Group is technically
able to take without violating any regulatory requirements or other restrictions laid down by its Sharehold-
ers or by the Supervisory Authority;

e Risk Profile: the risk actually taken, as measured at a given point in time;

e Risk Limits: the structuring of risk objectives into alert thresholds and operational limits, set in accordance with
the proportionality principle, by types of risk, business units and/or lines, product lines, types of customers.

The Group’s risk profile is monitored and submitted, with specific periodic reports, to the Risk and Internal Control
Committee (RICC or with the Italian acronym CRCI) and to the Boards of Directors of the Parent Company Crédit
Agricole Italia and of the other Entities of the Group, as well as to the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A.

In case the Tolerance and Capacity levels of the RAF ratios/indicators are exceeded, an escalation process is
provided for, which has been designed to involve the corporate roles responsible for defining the corrective
actions needed to return to the normal risk levels; this process is called “RAF Recovery Plan” and is revised
and updated at least on a yearly basis.

A main feature of 2018 was the progressive merger by absorption into Crédit Agricole ltalia of the three
Cesena, Rimini and San Miniato Savings Banks, subsequent to their acquisition finalized at the end of 2017.
This entailed the extension of the Parent Company’s model for the management and governance of the Risk
Appetite Framework to the new consolidation perimeter as a whole.

2. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEDGING
Credit Risk

To ensure adequate control of Credit Risk, in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Parent Company
Crédit Agricole S.A., the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group’s internal lending processes are defined and set
towards:

e the achievement of sustainable objectives that are consistent with its risk appetite and with the Group’s
value creation expectations, while ensuring support and proximity to the needs of the productive system,
households and of the real economy;

e portfolio diversification, by limiting and constantly monitoring the concentration of exposures by counter-
party/group, economic activity sector or geographical area;

e adequate selection of the borrower economic groups and single borrowers, through in-depth creditwor-
thiness analyses, aimed at developing and drive business with the most creditworthy customers, as well
as to anticipate and curb insolvency risks.

Lending processes are designed and regulated in order to identify the criteria for risk taking and management,
the activities to implement for the proper application of such criteria, the units responsible for carrying out
the above activities and the procedures and tools supporting them. The process steps are structured and the
responsibilities are assigned in order to pursue set objectives in terms of overall effectiveness and efficiency.

The quality of the loan portfolio is subject to systematic monitoring, both in terms of the portfolio as a whole,
i.e. its composition, in accordance with the adopted risk measurement parameters (internal rating system,
early warning indicators, other performance-monitoring indicators), and in terms of single positions, design-
ing and applying the operational processes and procedures that regulate all steps in the management of the
single lending accounts, in order to ensure preventive management of any default risks.

The organizational structure, procedures and tools supporting the processes for the management of expo-
sures showing anomalies ensure prompt triggering of appropriate actions to restore them to performing or,
should the circumstances require termination of the business relation, to collect the credit claim.
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The mitigation of credit risk is pursued by entering into ancillary agreements or by adopting adequate tools
and techniques designed to mitigate this risk. In this scope, special attention is paid to obtaining and manag-
ing guarantees, with the definition of general and specific requirements, with special regard to the rules and
procedure to monitor that the requirements of the guarantees remain complied with (legal certainty, prompt
realization and value consistency with the exposure).

IRB/Basel Il advanced approach

For determining its capital requirement for credit risk, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has been using
(since December 2013) internal ratings with an Internal Rating Based — Advanced approach (PD and LGD internal
models) for the Banks Crédit Agricole Italia and Crédit Agricole FriulAdria, regarding “Retail Loan Exposures”, the
so-called “Retail Portfolio”.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group started the activities to extend the use of advanced approaches (roll-out
plan) also to the same portfolio of the subsidiary Crédit Agricole Carispezia.

The present choice of treating all exposures referring to the subsidiary Crédit Agricole Leasing (hereinafter referred
to as CALIT) on a Permanent Partial Use (PPU) basis has been made considering the immateriality of the portfolio
size and the specificities of CALIT core business within the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group as a whole.

The risk measurement system is fully integrated in the decision-making processes and in the management of
corporate operations: the rating system has long played an essential role in loan authorization, risk manage-
ment, internal allocation of capital and in the Bank governance functions, as well as in contributing to ensure risk
prevention and mitigation. In order to ensure that lending processes and credit risk measurement are homoge-
neous, the internal models are used by all the Entities of the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group (that is to say,
Crédit Agricole ltalia, Crédit Agricole FriulAdria, Crédit Agricole Carispezia and Crédit Agricole Leasing Italia).

The use of these models within management processes was progressively extended also to the Banks that
became part of the Group at the end of December 2017 (within the “Fellini” combination): Cassa di Risparmio
di Cesena, Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini and Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato. Specifically, the lending dos-
siers of the main counterparties (in terms of revenue) in the Corporate Banking portfolio were accompanied
by the grading made with the Group rating model; all internal models were fully integrated for the Fellini Banks
upon their migration to CAGS information systems.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group was authorized by the Regulator to extend its IRB models and to
implement the related advanced approach to the former-Fellini exposures, which were integrated into CA lta-
lia in the “Retail” Exposures class, for the calculation of capital requirements effective as of December 2018,
subsequent to the submittal of a “ex ante notification” specific application.

The rating systems are used within the main phases in the lending value chain. With specific reference to loan
authorization and monitoring, the management use of the rating system results in:

e lending policies — the set lending policies govern the procedures through which the Banks and the Com-
panies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group authorize loans and manage credit risk;

e |oan authorization: creditworthiness assessment upon the first authorization and upon review of/change
in credit lines, as well as for determination of decision-making powers in terms of loan authorization;

e Joan monitoring — the use of the performance-measuring PD, combined with other variables, for perfor-
mance monitoring, in order to detect and correct non-performing positions before they are classified as
defaulted;

e collective impairment - the new IFRS9 entered into force on 1 January 2018 and introduced a new ap-
proach to calculate collective impairment of performing loans, using appropriately adjusted Basel metrics
(PD and “point in time” LGD) to determine the provisioning value (ECL - Expected Credit Loss);

e bank reporting — the use of the risk measures produced by the Bank’s reporting model.
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Such full integration in the loan management processes allows the creation and development of internal mod-
els that support the measurement of creditworthiness and can be used to assess, with statistical objectivity,
the probability that the (Retail) counterparties default.

The calculation of capital requirements using internal rating-based approaches allows optimal management
of the regulatory capital, as it also allows a “weighted” analysis of the loan portfolio, “aware” lending devel-
opment considering the risks taken and, thus, better planning of loans and of credit risk over the medium-/
long-term.

Finally, more effective detection and measurement of risks allows better disclosure and subsequent enhanced
transparency in reporting, which is a key element to meet the requirements of the Group’s various Stakeholders.

Interest Rate Risk and Price Risk of the Banking Book

The measurement, management and control of financial balance (ALM) concern both modelled and non-mod-
elled positions of the Banking Book. The Banking Book consists of typical positions in the Group’s business
operations, which are lending and funding without trading objectives. Therefore, interest rate risk is measured
with reference to all on-balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet transactions, excluding the supervisory trading
book.

The Governance model adopted by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group assigns the responsibility for
the measurement and management of interest rate risk to the CFO, who, through the Finance Department of
Crédit Agricole ltalia, performs centralized management of this risk at Group level and for the single Entities
of the Group, in accordance with the guidelines set down by Crédit Agricole S.A.

The Risk and Permanent Controls Department of Crédit Agricole Italia is responsible for independent control
of the interest rate risk management system, by verifying its compliance with the risk measurement model.

In 2018, the hedging of interest rate risk continued using derivatives, namely Interest Rate Swaps and Interest
Rate Options. Fixed-rate securities recognised as assets have been hedged (micro-hedging), as have the
issued Covered Bonds, mortgage loans with cap to customers (macro-hedging) and interest rate gaps de-
tected by the internal model, which have been subject to macro hedging.

The investment portfolio, comprising the HTC and HTCS business models and held for Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR) purposes and to support net interest income, consists of Italian Government Securities with mod-
est average duration, for amounts that have been set down by the Risk Committee of the CAsa Group and
approved by the Boards of Directors of the Parent Company and of its Subsidiaries. The securities that have
been classified as HTCS have been hedged against interest rate risk.

Assets at fair value comprise securities and fund units mainly coming from the absorption of the Fellini Banks,
having immaterial book value and recognised based on a held-to-sell management model.

In accordance with the indications given by CAsa Risk Committee, in 2018 the limits of the investment port-
folio were extended to the securities coming from the Banks acquired at the end of 2017.

The limits to the price risk of the investment portfolio are defined on the basis of the type of instruments that
can be held (ltalian, German, and French Government Securities) and are expressed with reference to the
maximum nominal value that can be held by every Bank of the Group.

The Group has implemented a stress analysis method to be used on the prices of the assets falling within this
scope, setting a system of limits in force at Group level and of alert thresholds that are consistent with the
standards set by Crédit Agricole S.A.

The Risk and Permanent Controls Department of Crédit Agricole Italia is responsible for independent control
of the system for Banking Book price risk management, by verifying its compliance with the stress testing
method set down by Crédit Agricole S.A.
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Liquidity risk
For Banks, liquidity risk, both short-term and medium-/long-term, is the risk of not being able to promptly

meet their payment obligations, due to the fact that they cannot obtain funding on the market (funding
liquidity risk) and cannot sell their assets on the market (market liquidity risk).

The Governance model adopted by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group assigns the responsibility for
the measurement and management of liquidity risk to the CFO, who, through the Finance Department of
Crédit Agricole ltalia, performs centralized management of this risk at Group level, in accordance with the
guidelines set down by Crédit Agricole S.A.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department is tasked with the monitoring of liquidity risk,
again in accordance with the guidelines set down by the Crédit Agricole S.A. Group.

The management of short-term liquidity, that is to say, the management of events impacting on the liquidity
position of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group in a time horizon from over-night to 12 months, has the
main objective of maintaining the Group’s ability to meet its recurring and non-recurring payment obliga-
tions, minimizing the relevant costs.

In order to monitor short-term liquidity management, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has imple-
mented a system of limits in accordance with the provisions set down by the Crédit Agricole S.A. Group,
which is based on stress scenarios in order to ensure surplus liquidity on various time horizons and in in-
creasingly severe scenarios. The stress assumptions used cover idiosyncratic crises, systemic crises and
global crises. Specifically, a short-term interbank refinancing limit (LCT — Limite Court Terme) has been set,
which aims at limiting short-term funding on the market over a one-year time horizon in a market featuring
stress conditions.

Medium-/long-term liquidity management entails the identification of alert thresholds and limits by deter-
mining the Position en Ressources Stables (Stable Resources Position, PRS), the Coefficient en Ressourc-
es Stables (Net Stable Funding Ratio CRS) and Concentration des tombées de dette MLT (a concentration
limit to MLT maturities). They aim at ensuring the Group’s balance between stable resources (medium-/
long-term market resources, funding from customers, own funds) and long-term uses (non-current assets,
loans to customers and liquidity reserves), as well as at limiting concentration of maturities within medium-/
long-term funding. Positive levels of the Stable Resources Position (PRS) and of the Net Stable Funding
Ratio (CRS) substantiate the Group’s ability to support its assets during a crisis and, by monitoring the
medium-/long-term due register, a balance can be kept between the maturities of resources and long-term
uses.

In 2018, in compliance with the Basel Ill regulatory framework, the Banks of the Group reported their LCRs
(liquidity coverage ratios) and ALMM (Additional Liquidity Monitoring Metrics) to the Supervisory Authori-
ties on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was 148%, once again firmly above
the set compliance requirements.

Market risk of the Trading Book

Market risk generated by the positions of the Banks that make up the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group
results from the exposures on the Supervisory Trading Book. The Group’s legal entities do not typically carry
out significant proprietary trading activities in financial markets; therefore, the positions reported are exclu-
sively those resulting from placing and trading operations that are performed in order to meet customers’
requirements.

The Banks of the Group are subject to the Volcker Rule and to the “Loi francaise de séparation et de régula-
tion des activités bancaires” (LBF), which prohibit any banking entity from engaging in proprietary speculative
trading. The aforementioned legislation applies to the Group in its capacity as sub-consolidating entity the
Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A. To control implementation of the aforementioned legislation, a Lo-
cal “Correspondant Volcker Rule” (the Local Officer in charge of the Volcker Rule) has been appointed within
the Finance Department, who is responsible for ensuring full compliance of operations with the requirements
set by the Controlling Company.

The sale of “over-the-counter” (OTC) derivatives to ordinary customers is made through a specialist team and
aims at meeting customers’ operational requirements. The Group operates as an intermediary. Intermediated
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derivatives are hedged back-to-back to be immunized against market risk (matched trading). Moreover, ISDA
master agreements have been entered into with the related CSA (credit support annexes) with the leading Financial
Institutions the Group operates with, in order to mitigate the counterparty risk associated with this type of opera-
tions, it being understood that the main market counterparty is CA Corporate and Investment Bank.

In accordance with the guidelines issued by Crédit Agricole S.A. and with the applicable prudential regula-
tions, the framework system for market risk is reviewed normally on a yearly basis within the Risk Strategy
and is approved by the Board of Directors and by the Risk and Internal Control Committee.

The model for market risk management and governance was applied to the entire consolidation scope and,
in the reporting year, the guidelines issued by the Parent Company were applied also to Cassa di Risparmio
di Cesena S.p.A., Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini S.p.A. and Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato S.p.A., which
were acquired at the end of 2017 and then merged in 2018.

Operational Risks

The definition of operational risk adopted by the Group is the one set down in the document “Basel Il - Inter-
national Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards” prepared by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision, which reads “Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events”. This definition includes Legal risk,
which covers but is not limited to, exposure to fines, penalties, or punitive damages resulting from supervisory
actions, as well as private settlements.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department is the holder of the operational risk management
function for the Group as a whole and is responsible for ensuring that an overall framework for the manage-
ment of this risk is in place, is complete and consistent. Through prompt perception of information, collection
of operational events and implementation of mitigation actions, it ensures to General Management and to the
Boards of Directors that regulatory and organizational control, as required by this type or risk, is in place and
effective.

In this regard, the Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department proactively participates in the
most important corporate projects, especially those with high organizational impact, in order to provide its
contribution, from the earliest phases, for consistent and complete preparation of the mechanisms for the
management of the risks that are inherent in each project.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department (Italian acronym DRPC) performs risk manage-
ment and control activities for all the Companies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, including Calit
and Crédit Agricole Group Solutions.

The management of operational risks requires sharing and proactivity by all corporate structures; therefore, within
the scope of permanent controls and operational risks, in order be at all times fully aware of the risk issues asso-
ciated with the different corporate processes, both specialist control roles operate within the Risk Management
and Permanent Controls Department and specific roles engaged in internal control operate within all corporate
structures; moreover, mechanisms that are functional to the set targets have also been implemented:

e operational Risk Manager (ORM or with the ltalian acronym MRO), who is responsible for reporting the
presence of actual and potential risks in the various corporate structures and for coordinating the imple-
mentation of permanent controls;

e control on Outsourced Important Operational Functions/Provision of Outsourced Essential Services (ltal-
ian acronyms FOIE/PSEE), on Physical Security and on the Business Continuity Plan (BCP or with the
[talian acronym PCO);

e PRSI (Pilote des Risques Sl), in charge of monitoring and control of IT risks on the Information System;

e CISO (Chief Information Security Officer), who is responsible for the security of corporate information;

e Information Security Manager (ISM): who is responsible for the implementation and management of the
Information System operational security;

e business Continuity Manager (BCM), who is responsible for the Group’s Business Continuity Plan;

e persons in charge of Controls, within the Distribution Network structures, with the task of performing 2nd
degree 1st level permanent controls;

e structures, systems and tools, instrumental for proper risk control and for the management of mitigation/
improvement actions, including:

- the Risk and Internal Control Committee, which is described above;

Management Report 6/



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

- the reporting system in place for permanent controls on the Distribution Network, together with early
warning indicators, aimed at detecting any irregular situations;

- improvement Work Groups, meetings with the Branches that showed problems in the outcomes of
permanent controls, of inspections carried out by the Internal Audit Department and in other verifi-
cations; during such meetings, together with the heads of the Retail Banking Areas, the problems
detected are analyzed and an action plan for improvement is prepared.

- the interfunction Work Group on Outsourced Important Operational Functions/Provision of Out-
sourced Essential Services (ltalian acronyms FOIE/PSEE), having the task of monitoring and making
decisions on any problems regarding the outsourcing of functions that are defined as “essential or
important” in accordance with the applicable Supervisory rules.

The activities that are outsourced and contracted out to external providers are always governed by a service
agreement that, in addition to regulating the provision of the service, provides for a system of controls on
the set qualitative and quantitative levels. In accordance with the various scopes, internal reference roles are
identified within the Bank’s structures, who report to the competent Departments of the Parent Company on
the general reliability of the contract relationship.

Finally, special controls are triggered where the activities outsourced can be defined as “important/essential
operational functions” (ltalian acronym FOI), pursuant to Bank of ltaly-CONSOB (ltalian Securities and Ex-
change Commission) joint regulation and to Bank of Italy Circular No. 285/2013; in this regard, the main cor-
porate regulatory reference framework is a specific Regulation that implements the Group policy, implements
the applicable Supervisory provisions and organically defines the system of controls as required in case of
outsourcing of important operational functions.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The policies for the monitoring, management and control of risks remain key and priority pillars based on
which Banks will have to measure both against one another and against domestic and international markets.

Reference is made to the Note to the Financial Statements for exhaustive reporting on the risks and uncer-
tainties which the Group is exposed to (and on the techniques implemented for their mitigation), while it can-
not but be emphasized once more the constant focus that the Group and its Management have kept on the
monitoring of risks and uncertainties, also to comply with the countless recommendations that the national
and international Authorities have been issuing on this topic.

Indeed, the Bank’s governance bodies are fully aware that sustainable development and growth absolutely
require also an effective analysis of the risks which the Bank is exposed to and of the relating uncertainties, in
terms of impacts that these risks could have on the Group’s financial position, cash flows and performance.
Effective management and mitigation of the same risks to acceptably low levels are another crucial require-
ment for sustainable growth, also in order to protect savings (and, with them, customers’ confidence) on the
one hand, and loans (healthy and drivers of growth) on the other.

The Management believes that the present overall performance of the domestic and international economies
(financial and real) is such as to require, in addition to monetary and real policy measures to be adopted by
supranational bodies, also appropriate policies for constant enhancement of the monitoring of risks and un-
certainties, such as the ones implemented by the Bank.

The Management is indeed fully aware that financial players must constantly implement growth and development
policies that, at the same time, focus on the safeguarding and protection of the interests of all Stakeholders, with-
out shirking, because of this very reason, the institutional role that the Bank as such plays both in terms of support
to the economic and social fabric of its customer Enterprises, and in terms of enhancement of that key factor for
development and success which consists in effective and prudential management of savings.

3. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has progressively upgraded its internal control system to the ap-
plicable Supervisory provisions (Bank of Italy Circular No. 285/2013) and to the model implemented by the
Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A.; therefore, it implements a system aimed at:

e constant control of risks;
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adequacy of the control activities to its organizational structure;
e ensuring reliability, accuracy and promptness of reporting.

The internal control system provides for the involvement of the Collective Bodies, of the roles and structures
engaged in control functions, of the “Organismo di vigilanza” (Body in charge of offence prevention -AML, Ter-
rorism Financing, etc. - provided by the Italian Law), of the Independent Auditors, of the Top Management of the
Group’ Companies and of all Staff members.

The analysis and monitoring of risks are carried out based on Group references, which provide for verification
of abidance by the regulatory terms, of the reliability of process and their exercise, security and compliance.

The control system provides also for the implementation of a mechanism of:

e permanent control, which comprises:

- 1st-degree controls, exercised on a continuous basis, at any transaction inception and along its vali-
dation process, by the employees performing the transaction, by the persons they report to on a solid
line, or executed by the automated systems for transaction processing; the activities for the production
of accounting data and for the preparation of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are subject
to specific first-degree controls that are carried out within the accounting units;

- 2nd-degreef/first-level (2.1) controls, which are carried out by persons engaged in operating tasks, but
other than those directly involved in making the decisions on the transaction subject to control; specifi-
cally, within the central administrative structures, controls are performed to monitor all departments and
roles that can access the accounting information system;

- 2nd degree/second level (2.2) controls, which are carried out by staff who is engaged in specialist func-
tions for top level permanent controls and is not authorized to take risks, i.e. staff engaged in Compli-
ance, Risk Management and Permanent Controls functions.

e periodic control, consisting of a 3rd degree control, which is performed by the Internal Audit Department
on a periodic basis through remote verifications, on-site inspections and audits of documents.

The updating of the regulatory system is also constantly focused on and, in addition to the upgrading to the
regulations already implemented, also entails coverage extension through specific policies that are in force
for the Group as a whole.

The structures and roles engaged in 2nd-degree/2nd-level (2.2) and 3rd-degree controls report to the Boards
of Directors of the single Companies on:

e activities carried out;
® main risks detected,;
¢ identification and implementation of the mitigation mechanisms and the effects of their implementation.

AUDIT

The Internal Audit Department is independent of any and all departments and roles engaged in management
and decision-making functions that entail risk-taking: indeed, its organizational placement provides for its
reporting on a dotted line directly to the Chief Executive Officer of Crédit Agricole ltalia and for its solid-line
reporting to the Internal Audit Department of the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A.

The Internal Audit Department:

e assesses, based on a forward-looking plan, whether the overall internal controls system operates effec-

tively and whether it is fit to ensure:

- the effectiveness and efficiency of the corporate processes as implemented;

- the protection of the value of Group’s assets;

- protection from losses;

- the reliability and integrity of accounting and management data;

- compliance of operations with both the policies set down by the corporate governance bodies and
with all applicable internal and external regulations;

e performs periodic review and controls on the processes and on the organizational units of all the Compa-
nies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, as well as on Outsourced Important Operational Functions,
through constant and independent supervision on the regular course of operations, in order to prevent or detect
any behaviours or situations that are irregular and/or risky; it provides the Top Officers, the Corporate Bodies and
the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A. with prompt and regular reporting on the activities carried out.
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OTHER INFORMATION

CREDIT AGRICOLE ITALIA SHARE CAPITAL INCREASE

In the first half of the reporting year, in order to meet the impacts generated by the end of Basel 3 phase-in
regime and by the entry into force of the new IFRS9, the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia strengthened
its Common Equity Tier 1 with a share capital increase of euro 147 million (of which: euro 26,678,766 of share
capital contribution and euro 120,321,234 as share premium reserve).

ISSUE OF ADDITIONAL TIER 1 INSTRUMENTS

Nel mese di dicembre 2018, Crédit Agricole ltalia ha effettuato un’emissione di uno strumento subordinato
Additional Tier 1 per 350 milioni di euro, anche in questo caso, in linea con le policy di Gruppo, I’emissione &
stata sottoscritta da Crédit Agricole S.A..

STRUMENTI SUBORDINATI LT2 CREDIT AGRICOLE ITALIA

In December 2018, Crédit Agricole ltalia issued an Additional Tier 1 subordinated debt instrument for euro 350
million; in line with the Group policies, this instrument was also subscribed by Crédit Agricole S.A..

VALERY PROJECT

Complying with the recommendations given in the ECB “Guidance to banks on non-performing loans” - in the
reporting year, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group designed a strategic plan aimed at reducing its NPL stock
through market transactions, the “Valery” project.

The plan has been structured as a set of transactions spread over the year, which attracted leading players in the
[talian and international markets to the competitive procedure.

Overall, the project resulted in the disposal of NPEs totalling euro 1,356 million and consisting of Unlikely-to-Pay
and bad loans, thus materially contributing to the reduction of the NPE gross rate, which, as at the reporting date,
came to 7.63% (net 3.8%) at the Group level, one of the lowest in the market.

DISCLOSURE ON TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The qualitative and quantitative analysis of the transactions made in the year with parties falling within the definition
of related party as given by the “Regulation on transactions with related parties” of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking
Group”, which was adopted in July 2018, is reported in Part H of the Note to the Financial Statements, to which
reference is made.

DISCLOSURE ON ATYPICAL AND/OR UNUSUAL TRANSACTIONS

The analysis of any atypical and/or unusual transactions, in accordance with the definition given in CONSOB
Regulation 11971/99, is reported in Part H of the Note to the Financial Statements, to which reference is
made. In the year, no atypical or unusual transactions were carried out having such size/materiality that might
jeopardize or affect the protection of corporate assets and the interests of shareholders.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

No research and development activities were performed in the year.
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PERFORMANCE OF THE CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

THE PERFORMANCE OF CREDIT AGRICOLE FRIULADRIA OPERATIONS

Crédit Agricole FriulAdria is subject to the management and coordination of Crédit Agricole Italia, which holds
80.33% of its share capital, while the remaining portion is publicly held. In 2018 the Bank performed well and
reasserted its role in supporting the economy of the Regions in which it operates.

In 2018 Crédit Agricole FriulAdria made a net profit of euro 61.4 million.

Its net operating income came to euro 324.3 million, increasing vs. the previous year thanks to an increase in
net interest income and in net fee and commission income, as well as to the good performance of financial
activities.

Operating expenses came to euro 194.5 million, increasing by euro 5.2 million (+2.7%) vs. the previous period.
This increase essentially regarded personnel expenses up by euro 4.6 million (+4.7%).

HR costs were mainly impacted by higher expenses for euro 2.5 million worth of provisioning for the Solidarity
Fund, subsequent to the signing of the agreement with Trade Unions whereby 20 resources joined the Fund
and euro 0.7 million worth of incentives for voluntary redundancy within the “Quota 100” early retirement
scheme, effective as of November 2018.

Administrative expenses were essentially unchanged vs. the previous year (+0.5%); the slight increase re-
sulted mainly from higher expenses for services provided by Crédit Agricole Group Solutions S.C.p.A., the
Consortium Company of the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group, for higher project costs within the 2016-
2020 Medium Term Plan.

The continuous decrease in the cost of credit was one of the key factors for the Bank’s good performance
again in 2018: indeed, net value adjustments of loans came to euro 34.0 million, down by -26% vs. 2017. In
percentage terms, the ratio that expresses the cost of credit risk (the ratio of the relevant adjustments taken to
the Income Statement to net loans to customers) decreased to 45 bps vs. 64 bps in the previous year, thanks
also to the NPL sale, while achieving the objective of increasing the average coverage ratios.

THE PERFORMANCE OF CREDIT AGRICOLE CARISPEZIA OPERATIONS

Credit Agricole Carispezia is subject to the management and coordination of Crédit Agricole Italia, which,
as at 31 December 2018, held 80% of its share capital, with the remaining portion held by Fondazione
Cassa di Risparmio della Spezia.

Crédit Agricole Carispezia had a very good performance, with its net profit coming to euro 35 million.

Net operating income came to euro 156 million, increasing vs. the previous year (up by euro +2.9 million,
+1.9% YQOY); the increase in net interest income, fee and commission income and net income from bank-
ing activities offset the lower other operating income (expenses) and lower dividend income. Operating
costs came to euro 93.8 million, increasing by euro 3.1 million (i.e. up by +3.4%) vs. the previous year.

This increase regarded both personnel expenses (up by euro +1.3 million, i.e. +2.7%) and administrative
expenses (up by euro +1.8 million, i.e. +4.4%). HR costs were mainly impacted by higher expenses for
euro 1 million worth of provisioning for the Solidarity Fund, subsequent to the signing of the agreement
with Trade Unions whereby 9 resources joined the Fund, subdivided into the exit windows: 6 resources on
1 November 2018 and 3 resources on 1 April 2019.

The continuous decrease in the cost of credit (down by euro -5.2 million) was one of the key factors for the
Bank’s good performance in 2018: indeed, net value adjustments of loans came to euro 11 million, down
by 32.3% vs. the same figure for the previous year. The ratio that expresses the cost of credit risk (the ratio
of the relevant adjustments taken to the Income Statement to net loans to customers) decreased to 39 bps
vs. 61 bps in the previous year, even with high coverage ratios of non-performing loans (62.9%).
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THE PERFORMANCE OF CREDIT AGRICOLE LEASING ITALIA (CALIT) OPERATIONS

In 2018, CALIT succeeded in making the most of the opportunities generated by its belonging to the Crédit Agri-
cole Group and by the measures to support the real economy (super- and hyper-amortization and the so-called
“Sabatini TER” on capital goods financing, incentives that customer that entered into leases can use). The busi-
ness performance posted considerable increases vs. 2017 both in intermediation volumes, which came to euro
637.3 million (up by +17.7% YQY), and in the number of new contracts, which came to 3,937 (up by +5,6% YQY).

The market, which includes also automakers’ captives operating in long-term hire and companies special-
izing in operating leases, increased YOY by +5.3% in volumes and by +2.7% as to the number of contracts
(provisional data, source Assilea).

In 2018, equipment and motor-vehicle leases accounted for 68% of the Company’s new production (specifically
the former for 56% and the latter for 12%), whereas property leases accounted for 18% of it and the seacraft/
aircraft and renewable energy segments accounted for the remaining smaller contributions.

Gross leases came to euro 1.98 billion, with an increase in performing ones (up by euro +65 million) and a decrease
in non-performing ones (down by euro -27 million). The weight of non-performing loans came again below the
market figure by more than 50% (9.9% vs. 24.1% - the latest available data are as at 30 September).

A regards performance, the operating profit increased vs. 2017 by +8%, with revenues growing (+6%) at a higher
rate than costs (+2%). At the same, the cost of credit decreased by -6% (vs. the 2017 figure net of the non-recur-
ring transaction of bulk sale of real estate properties from defaulted leases).

THE PERFORMANCE OF CREDIT AGRICOLE GROUP SOLUTIONS OPERATIONS

In the year, Crédit Agricole Group Solutions ensured the provision of ordinary services to the Banks, thus
ensuring also regular functioning of the operational machine, and provided targeted and specialist services to
some non-banking entities of the Group.

In addition to the above-reported operations, in accordance with the Group’s Business plan and strategic di-
rections, Crédit Agricole Group Solutions implemented important crosswise and innovative projects. Specifi-
cally, in 2018, it completed the new Management Headquarters in Parma, “Crédit Agricole Green Life”, which
houses the Bank’s central Departments in one complex and carried out full IT and operational integration of
the three “Fellini Banks” within the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group.

In 2018, operating expenses came to euro 268 million, increasing by euro 42 million (i.e. up by +18%) vs. the
previous year; this increase is spread over all cost components.

HR costs came to euro 52.6 million (accounting for 20% of total expenses) and increased by nearly euro 4
million year-on-year. The increase vs. 2017 mainly resulted from a higher number of staff members seconded
to the Consortium by Crédit Agricole Italia subsequent to the absorption of the three Banks and from higher
expenses amounting to euro 1.9 million worth of provisions to the Solidarity Fund, subsequent to the signing
of the agreement with the Trade Unions whereby 17 resources joined the Fund, subdivided into the exit win-
dows: 11 resources on 1 November 2018 and 6 resources on 1 April 2019.

Administrative expenses came to euro 153 million and essentially represent the costs incurred for the pro-
vision of services by the Consortium to the other Companies of the Group and account for a large part of
operating expenses (57%). This item increased by euro 29 million (+23%) vs. the previous year, due to the
costs for the integration of the three “Fellini Banks” in the Group, amounting to euro 15.5 million, and to higher
ongoing charges for the management of a wider distribution network, amounting to euro 11.6 million. Also net
of the aforementioned effects the item increased by euro 2 million, because of higher Information Technology
expenses, which were partially offset by lower real estate and logistic expenses.

Depreciation and amortization came to euro 62 million, up by euro 9 million (17%) vs. the previous year; this
performance resulted from the investment plan implemented in 2016 (euro 81 million), in 2017 (euro 70 million)
and in the reporting period (euro 74 million, of which 22 for the integration of the three Fellini Banks).

Since the Consortium operates on a not-for-profit basis, all expenses borne for service provision were fully
reallocated to the Consortium members and, consequently, the Income Statement for 2018 broke even.
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PARENT COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED
NET EQUITY AND PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD

of which: Net profit
(loss) for the period

Parent Company’s balances 6,160,109 252,124
Effect of consolidation of subsidiaries 33,105 77,736
Effect of the equity method accounting of significant equity investments - -
Dividends received in the period - -55,962
Other changes - -
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT BALANCES 6,193,214 273,898

OUTLOOK

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRED AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

As regards the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, it is reported that, from 31 December 2018 to the date of
approval of this Report, no events occurred which could generate significant changes in the structure of the
Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group and in its profit (loss) for 2018.

NETWORK RATIONALIZATION

In 2019, the rationalization of the Group’s physical structures is going to continue with the closure of 102 branches.

MEDIUM-TERM PLAN (MTP)

The Group has announced that, in June, it is going to present its new Medium-Term Plan (MTP).

MERGER OF CREDIT AGRICOLE CARISPEZIA

On 16 November 2018, the Boards of Directors of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A - the Parent Company of the
Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group - and of its subsidiary Crédit Agricole Carispezia approved the plan for
the merger by absorption of Crédit Agricole Carispezia into Crédit Agricole Italia pursuant to Articles 2501 -ter
and 2505 of the Italian Civil Code. On 12 February 2019, the ECB authorized this combination.

On 26 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A.
resolved a share capital increase, for a consideration and ruling out option rights, pursuant to Article 2343-ter,
paragraph 2, letter b), Article 2440 and Article 2441, paragraph 4 of the Italian Civil Code, of a nominal amount
of euro 16,539,731.00 through the issue of 16,539,731 ordinary shares having a nominal value of euro 1.00
each, exclusively intended for the subscription of Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio della Spezia, to be paid in
through a contribution in kind of the 33,079,463 shares held by Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio della Spezia
into Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A., representing 18.5% of the latter’s share capital.

Subsequent to the aforementioned resolution, the authorized share capital of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., the
Parent Company of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, amounts to euro 979,211,943.00 and is subdi-
vided into 979,211,943 ordinary shares having a nominal value of euro 1 each.

The merger is expected to become legally effective by the end of July 2019.
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MACROECONOMIC AND BANKING OUTLOOK FOR 2019

MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO®

For 2019, there are more and more signals that the rate of growth of the world economy is slowing down
faster than expected, with all the associated forward-looking risks. According to forecasts:

e inthe United States, GDP is expected to grow by +2.2%, vs. +2.9% in 2018, with this slowdown caused
by lower domestic demand. The monetary policy is going to remain prudent and the budgetary policy is
going to support households and businesses. However, the increasing uncertainty on global growth and
the expected high variability on the stock exchanges is going to undermine the confidence of businesses
and households, resulting in lower domestic demand,;

e in the Emerging Countries, economic growth is expected to remain modest. As to Brazil, in addition to
a lower contribution of foreign demand resulting from the slowdown in the world economic cycle, it is still
not clear whether the new President will have the will and political strength required to pursue the reforms
aimed at strengthening government finance. The Chinese economy is continuing to slow down, with the
GDP expected to increase by +6.0%, vs. +6.6% in 2018, but without rocking, thanks to the support pro-
vided by the economic policy and to the contribution of net exports, which is expected to return positive
in 2019;

e in the United Kingdom, GDP is expected to continue to grow at a modest rate, up by +1.2%, essentially
in line with the previous year (+1.3%), below its potential but without rocking in its trade relations with
the EU. The Brexit matter is still open and, for the time being, different possibilities remain on the table,
among which a no-deal Brexit is the extreme one.

Trade tensions have generated a material impact on global economy and, until a new stable layout of inter-
national trade is reached, uncertainty may continue to hinder growth. On top of the uncertainty factors, such
as international trade performance and the future normalization of monetary policies, the devaluation of Asian
currencies is also to be considered. The result is lower purchasing power in these Countries and, therefore, their
lower contribution to international trade growth. Moreover, Europe and the United States would be penalized by
the strengthening of their currencies and by the lower increase in foreign demand; however, the EMU is going to
be even more affected because of the lower support from budgetary policies vs. those of China and the USA.

As regards the financial system and monetary policies, after the fourth increase in interest rates in Decem-
ber and the expected economic slowdown, in January the Fed decided to leave interest rates unchanged vs.
the end of 2018 at 2.25% - 2.5% and has not said anything about any further increases in 2019.

The ECB has confirmed the end of the Quantitative Easing, effective as of January 2019, with no more net
purchases of government securities. Nevertheless, within the QE scope, the ECB is going to continue to reinvest
the principal repaid on maturing securities for an extended period of time. The ECB President Mario Draghi has
also mentioned the possibility that the ECB may decide to implement yet another long-term liquidity refinancing
plan through a new TLTRO programme. Moreover, in January 2019, the ECB left interest rates unchanged and
confirmed that they are going to remain at the present level at least until the summer of 2019, in order to ensure
that inflation steadily continues to go towards the target value close to but lower than 2% in the medium term.

EURO AREA

Europe is expected to continue to grow, albeit at a modest pace because of the uncertainties caused by
global factors, both economic and political. Overall, in 2019 the GDP is expected to grow by +1.0% vs.
+1.8% in 2018. Furthermore, the May 2019 European elections are a key political event, as they may change
the political balances.

Having regard to key Countries:

e Germany heavily relies on exports and, therefore, it is expected to suffer from the deterioration in the
international scenario. In 2019, its GDP is expected to grow by +1.0%;
e France expects its GDP growth to slow down (+1.1%), affected by the negative effect on confidence

9 Source: Prometeia, Forecast Report (December 2018).
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caused by the protests against the increase in fuel prices at the end of 2018 and by the uncertainty as
regards the forthcoming economic policy choices;

e Spain, despite exports being expected stable and domestic demand being expected to decrease, has
been forecast as the liveliest economy of the Euro Area, with the GDP increasing by +1.8%.
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Source: Prometeia - Brief, Italy in the global economy (February 2019).

THE ITALIAN ECONOMY

In a scenario featuring internal and external risk factors, in 2019 the Italian GDP is expected to grow by +0.1%
vs. +0.8% in the previous year. The expected economic growth of Italy is markedly lower than the ones of
other EU Member States and mainly due to the lower expansionary drive given by the budgetary law and to
the legacy of the second half of 2018.

Overall, support to households’ disposable income has remained the focus of the budget bill with higher
welfare benefits, measures intended to increase the employment rate and pays of public sector employees
and with the extension of the flat-rate regime for self-employed workers. However, the termination of the Al-
lowance for Corporate Equity (ACE) benefits and of the incentive for investment on capital goods (known as
the ‘maxi-amortization’), the downgrading of 4.0 incentive and tax credits on research and development are
all to be considered. The uncertainty and the increase in the average cost of debt are going to cause the debt/
GDP ratio to increase to 132.4 with only marginal recovery in the following years.

e starting in 2019, exports'™ should return to grow, but at modest rates (+2.4%), despite the expected
decrease in oil prices. Exports are going to suffer from modest growth in demand on target markets and
from progressively less favourable exchange rates;

e after a slight decrease expected in 2019 (-0.2%) caused by lower investments (-1,0%) in capital goods by
businesses, the investment cycle is expected to increase in the following years, also thanks to the stabi-
lization in the international economic cycle and to the forecast decrease in spread. However, the growth
rates are going to be lower than those posted between 2015 and 2018, also due lower tax benefits;

e in 2019, the manufacturing industry is expected to slow down slightly: Up by +1.4% vs. +1.7% in 2018,
due to lower foreign demand and to the possible decrease in investments;

e in 2019, the increase in consumption expenditure is expected to decrease, despite a progressively high-
er purchasing power driven, especially in 2019-20, by the budgetary policy mainly through the increase
in welfare benefits. In 2019, these trends are expected to be strengthened by the slowdown in inflation;

e the unemployment rate, which is going to remain at 10.5% in 2019, is expected to decrease very slowly
in the next years, however remaining above 10%. The measures provided by the Government’s economic
bill, such as “Quota 100” (possibility to retire for workers at least 62 years old with pension contributions
paid for at least 38 years), should increase the demand for workers; nevertheless, the comparison be-
tween the features of exiting and entering workers leads to expect worse problems in terms of skills-ge-
ographical areas mismatch.

10 Source: Prometeia, Forecast Report (December 2018): chained value, % change
11 Source: Prometeia, Analysis of Industrial Sectors (October 2018).
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THE BANKING SCENARIO*

In its 2018 “Risk assessment of the European banking system” annual report, the European Banking Author-
ity has pointed out that “the resilience of the European Banking System has improved, but clear challenges
remain in terms of profitability, funding and operational risks”. Specifically:

e banks’ profitability features: a lower contribution given by net interest income, despite higher loan vol-
umes, by the decrease in non-performing assets and by the increase in net fee and commission income.
High costs, especially for investments in Information Technology, and low efficiency are, in the EBA’s
opinion, the main cause of the weak performance of the European Banking Sector;

e asregards funding, banks will have to operate in a scenario featuring lower and lower supportive meas-
ures implemented by the European Central Bank, the obligation to comply with the minimum require-
ments laid down by the EU legislation on bail-in, market volatility and possible increase in interest rates;

¢ banks will have to manage higher operational risks, mainly in terms of cyber-risk and data-security,
which are going to require continuous investments;

e the geopolitical tensions and the vulnerability of some economic and financial systems, especially
in emerging markets, may result in banks having to face adverse scenarios with possible impacts on
funding, asset quality and profitability.

[talian banks are continuing in the process to align their asset quality parameters to the EU average. This
is required by the new regulatory framework, which, with its provisioning calendar, requires portfolios to be
written down in a short time. After the considerable sales of NPLs made last year, in 2019 it may be the turn
of small-medium size banks to remove non-performing loans from their balance sheets. Gross bad loans are
expected to decrease by 34%, with a stock that is expected to amount, at the end of 2019, to euro 74 Bin (vs.
euro 112 BIn at the end of 2018).

The new competition and regulatory scenario has been requiring banks to make important changes, as
they have to interpret new strategies and implement new service models in order to reconcile regulatory
changes with the need to catch the opportunities given by digitalization, trying to meet customers’ new
needs and to mitigate the impacts on costs and profitability.

Based on these elements, for 2019 the expected performances of the main balance sheet aggregates are
given below:

¢ |oans: the economic activity is going to slow down, mainly as regards investments, with the subsequent
reduction in businesses’ financial needs, while stable household spending is going to support mortgage
loans and consumer credit;

e funding from customers: in the last part of 2019, because of the increase in the policy rate, medium-/long-
term funding forms will start to be preferred: the amount of fixed-term deposits should start to stabilize
and, in 2021, the annual net flow will return to be positive;

e indirect funding: after the slowdown in 2018, it is expected to increase by +4% YQY according to the
estimates, thanks to the growth (+5% YQY) in asset management products (funds, insurance and wealth
management) and to assets under administration returning to grow (+2% YOY).

Thanks to their portfolio strategies, Banks’ capitalization should be more protected from movements in the
yield curve of government securities and support is expected to capital ratios from profits for the period and
from the decrease in risk-weighted assets (RWA).

In 2019, profits are expected essentially stable in a scenario featuring higher uncertainty, which emphasized
the sensitivity of capital ratios to the widening of the spread between government securities. The funding con-
ditions for the banking sector are a key element for profitability recovery.

Specifically:

e income up by +2.3%, thanks to the steady growth in net interest income that benefited from higher re-
turns on securities and from the increase in Italian Government securities held. Albeit increasing, fee and
commission income is expected to be affected, again in 2019, by the risks on financial markets and by
lower competitiveness of asset management instruments, while the revenues from asset under adminis-
tration will continue to decrease. The slower growth in fee and commission income from asset manage-
ment and intermediation will continue to reflect also the revised pricing policies for the various products
in compliance with the development in legislation entered into force in 2018;

12 Source Prometeia Bank Financial Statement Forecast (January 2019)
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e enhanced operational efficiency, with expenses down by 4.0% in 2019. Control of operating costs re-
mains a priority and the rationalization of physical structures is going to continue. The closure of branch-
es and the reduction of employees are going to bridge the gap in terms of productivity and operational
efficiency vs. international competitors. The aforementioned elements are countered by mainly regulatory
and technological factors requiring investments and higher resources;

e additional adjustments of loans are expected vs. 2018, when the benefits from the IFRS9 FTA applied.
Specifically, the plans designed by banks to manage non-performing loans may require, especially in
2019, additional adjustments because of sales of NPL portfolios (especially for the sales backed by State
guarantees - GACS) made at lower prices than those used in sale simulations for the impairment estimate
within the FTA scheme.

In early 2019, the ECB published its new supervisory expectations on non-performing loans, according to
which every bank shall increase its provisions up to full coverage of its existing NPL stock over a set time
horizon; indeed, each bank is going to have its own deadline in accordance with its health and weight of the
NPLs in its portfolio.

In January 2019, the ECB decided to place Banca Carige under temporary administration, after the failed
attempt to increase its share capital by euro 400 million and the following resignation of most members of
the Board of Directors. In order to preserve financial stability and in compliance with EU directives, the Italian
Government passed measures for State aid: State guarantees on new bond issues, which Carige has already
partially applied for, and a State fund to cover the expenses for the bonds and for any subscription of shares
of the bank in case of precautionary recapitalisation.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
- INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 123-BIS PARAGRAPH 2, LET-
TER B) OF ITALIAN LEGISLATIVE DECREE 58/98 (Italian Consolidated Act
on Finance - TUF)"®

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has set its internal controls system in compliance with the model
of the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A. and with the Supervisory regulations (Bank of Italy Circular
285/2013).

The Group has an internal controls system in place aimed at managing risks and at ensuring constant ade-
quacy of the control activities to its organizational structure, as well as at ensuring reliability, accuracy and
promptness of reporting.

The Internal Controls System consists of the set of rules, functions, structures, resources, processes and
procedures that have been designed to ensure, in compliance with sound and conservative management
principles, the achievement of the following objectives:

verifying that the set corporate strategies and policies are properly implemented;

keeping risk within the limits set in the Risk Appetite Framework;

safeguarding the value of assets and protecting from losses;

effectiveness and efficiency of the corporate processes as implemented;

reliability and security of corporate information and IT procedures;

preventing the risk that the entities of the Group may be involved, also unintentionally, in unlawful activi-
ties (with specific regard to money/laundering, usury and terrorism financing);

e compliance of corporate operations with the applicable legislation and supervisory regulations, as well as
with the internal policies, regulations and procedures.

13 The main features of the risk management and internal control systems in place regarding the financial reporting process, also at a consolidated level,
where applicable
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The internal control system provides for the involvement of the Top Management, of the Collective Bodies, of
the Organismo di vigilanza (Body in charge of offence prevention — AML, Terrorism Financing, etc. — provided
by the Italian Law), of the structures engaged in control functions, of all Staff members and of the Independent
Auditors.

The analysis and monitoring of risks are carried out based on Group references, which provide for verification
of abidance by the regulatory terms, of the reliability of process and their exercise, security and compliance.

As pointed out in the paragraph on risk management, the internal controls system is based on both perma-
nent control and periodic control mechanisms.

To further strengthen the internal controls system and in compliance with the regulations issued by the Bank
of Italy, the “Group Rules on internal whistleblowing systems)” have been formalized and made available to
the Group-s employees to report events or behaviours that could violate the legislation governing the bank-
ing business, as well as any other irregular conduct they may become aware of. The whistleblowing system
ensures that the identity of the reporting person remain confidential, thus ruling out the risk of retaliations,
unfair or discriminatory behaviours.

Furthermore, the Group has specifically identified methods for coordination and cooperation between the
roles and structures engaged in control functions and has implemented such methods in order to pursue an
effectively integrated system of controls and to ensure adequate governance of all risks the Group is exposed
to. In accordance with their respective responsibilities, the roles and structures engaged in control functions
monitor the components of the Internal Controls System, as does the Group’s Risk and Internal Control Com-
mittee, with the objective of strengthening interfunctional coordination and cooperation mechanisms related
to the internal controls system and to foster the integration of the risk management process.

In this regard, the roles and structures engaged in control functions implement appropriate coordination and
cooperation mechanisms, crosswise the various phases in the risk management process:

use of a shared language that is consistent with the Controlling Company’s methods;
implementation of detection and measurement approaches and tools;

definition of risk reporting models;

setting of coordination meetings to plan activities;

establishing exchange information flows;

agreeing on the identification of corrective actions.

The updating of the regulatory framework is also constantly focused on and, in addition to the upgrading
to the regulations already implemented, also entails coverage extension through specific policies that are in
force for the Group as a whole.

The Departments and Roles engaged in 2nd level and 3rd level controls report to the Board of Directors and
to Crédit Agricole S.A. on:

e activities carried out;
* main risks detected;
¢ identification and implementation of the mitigation mechanisms and the effects of their implementation.

The main elements of the internal controls system are described below, also setting forth the structuring of
the controls on financial reporting (as regards the activities of the Manager in charge and the statutory audit
of the accounts), corporate roles and structures engaged in control functions, as defined in the Supervisory
Provisions on the system of controls (risk control, regulatory compliance, internal audit, anti-money-launder-
ing and validation) and the offence prevention models.

CORPORATE/GOVERNANCE BODIES

In line with the features of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, in the traditional governance model of all the
entities of the Group, the Board of Directors plays a key role in achieving an effective and efficient system for the
management and control of risks.

Specifically, the body engaged in strategic oversight functions has implemented organizational models and
operating and control mechanisms that are adequate to and complying with the applicable regulations and with
corporate strategies.

The Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries implement the risk policies providing for the management and the
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mitigation of risks as approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company; moreover, the Boards of Di-
rectors of the Group Banks determine the responsibilities of the corporate structures and departments, in order
for the respective duties and tasks to be clearly assigned and for potential conflicts of interest to be prevented.

The Audit Committee for Internal Control, which is composed of Independent Directors, has the function to
provide the Board of Directors with advice and proposals on the management of risks, of the accounting infor-
mation system and on the internal controls system, in order to ensure an efficient and effective control system; it
reports on a regular basis to the Board on these topics, expressing its opinions and assessments, and promptly
triggering, where necessary, the appropriate corrective actions in case shortfalls or irregularities are detected.

In a specific document attached to the Annual Report and Financial Statements, both separate and consolidated,
and to the condensed Half-year Financial Report, the Chief Executive Officer, together with the Manager in Charge,
shall state that the administrative and accounting procedures used for financial reporting, both on a separate and
consolidated basis, have been actually applied and are adequate for effective and reliable financial reporting.

DEPARTMENTS ENGAGED IN CONTROL FUNCTIONS

The organization of the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group includes three main structures that are engaged
in control functions and are independent; within their scope of action and in accordance with their functions,
these structures ensure constant control on all corporate operations and on the risks generated by such op-
erations:

e the Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department (who includes the Validation Unit) and the
Compliance Department, which are responsible for second degree — second level controls;
e the Internal Audit Department, which is responsible for third-degree controls.

Moreover, in accordance with the provisions of Article 154-bis of the Italian Consolidated Act on Finance,
the Manager in Charge has the task of monitoring and overseeing the internal controls system relating to
accounting and financial reporting.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND PERMANENT CONTROLS DEPARTMENT

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department (ltalian acronym DRPC) of the Crédit Agricole ltalia
Banking Group, which is engaged in the Function of Risk Management and Permanent Controls, is independent
of any and all departments and roles engaged in management and decision-making functions that entail risk-tak-
ing: indeed, its organizational placement provides for its reporting on a dotted line directly to the Chief Executive
Officer of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group and for its solid-line reporting to the Group Risk Management
and Permanent Controls Department (DRG - Direction des Risques et contréles permanents Groupe) of the Parent
Company Crédit Agricole S.A.

As regards control of structural and operational consistency, as reported before, the Risk Management and Per-
manent Controls Department carries out the management and control of risks for all the Companies of the Crédit
Agricole ltalia Banking Group.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department ensures that the relevant risks are monitored and
oversees the relevant controls, through specialist structures that operate within the Department itself and are
dedicated to the following scopes:

e credit risks, including:

- concentration risks;

- counterparty risks;

market and financial risks;

operational risks, specifically including:

- insurance Coverage risks;

- information and Communication Technology (ICT) Risk (Information System and Security of Informa-
tion Systems);

- risks concerning the Business Continuity Plan (BCP);

- physical Security;

- risks concerning the provision of “Outsourced Important Operational Functions (ltalian acronym FOIE)”,
which the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A. calls “Provision of Outsourced Essential Services (PSEE)”.
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The Validation Function activities have the objective of providing independent verification of:

e tools;
technical organizational mechanisms;
the system of the controls implemented for risk measurement, for the calculation of the minimum regu-
latory capital requirements, in order to verify their consistency over time with the regulatory provisions
applicable for the use of advanced approaches.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group contrib-
utes to the definition and implementation of risk management policies. Specifically, within its scope of operation, it:

e defines, in cooperation with the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), the Group Risk Appetite Framework, con-
sistently with the guidelines and the strategic plan of the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A., setting
the global operating limits within the scope of the Group Risk Strategy;

e contributes to the definition of lending policies;

e contributes to and validates the quantitative approaches for provisioning;

e gives its opinion on the main risk-taking instances.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department is responsible also for the Group risk reporting. These
reports are submitted on a quarterly basis to the Boards of Directors of the single Companies. The reporting pro-
duced by this Department covers, among other things, the policies for loan coverage and is addressed to the Top
Management, with the objective of presenting the performance of the key risk indicators for more effective and
prompter preparation of the action plans required to mitigate, prevent or avoid risk factors.

INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

The Internal Audit Department is independent of any and all departments and roles engaged in management
and decision-making functions that entail risk-taking: indeed, its organizational placement provides for its re-
porting on a dotted line directly to the Chief Executive Officer of Crédit Agricole ltalia and for its solid-line report-
ing to the Internal Audit Department of the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A.

In accordance with the supervisory expectations, the Internal Audit Department performs the internal audit and
review functions for the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, in order to detect any breaches or violations of
procedures and of the applicable legislation and regulations, as well as to periodically assess the completeness,
adequacy, proper operation (in terms of efficiency and effectiveness) and the reliability of the internal controls
system and of the information system, at frequencies set based on the nature and severity of risks.

Specifically, based on a multiyear work plan, it ensures the performance of controls aimed at verifying:

proper running of operations by the Group’s entities;

the effectiveness and efficiency of the corporate processes as implemented;

the protection of the value of Group’s assets;

protection from losses;

the reliability and integrity of accounting and management data;

compliance of operations with both the policies set down by the corporate governance bodies and with

all applicable internal and external regulations;

e performs periodic review and controls on the processes and on the organizational units of all the Compa-
nies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, as well as on Outsourced Important Operational Func-
tions, through constant and independent supervision on the regular course of operations, in order to
prevent or detect any behaviours or situations that are irregular and/or risky.

e provides the Top Management, the Corporate Bodies and the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A.
with prompt and systematic reporting on the conditions of the controls system and on the outcomes of
the activities carried out;

e supports the Organismo di Vigilanza (body engaged in offence prevention required by ltalian Legislative De-

cree 231/2001) in ensuring constant and independent surveillance action on proper running of operations and

processes and in supervising compliance with and adequacy of the rules contained in Model 231.

Following its verification and review activities, in case any areas for improvement have been detected, the
Internal Audit Department issues recommendations and carries out analyses and monitoring on the identified
mitigation actions, with special regard to the RAF, to the risk management process and to the tools to meas-
ure and control risks.
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The progress in the implementation of any recommendations issued is reported on every six months to the
Board of Directors, to the Board of Auditors, to the Audit Committee for Internal Control, to the Top Manage-
ment and to the Internal Audit Department of the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A..

Finally, on a yearly basis and jointly with the other Corporate Structures engaged in control functions, the
Internal Audit Department sends the Report on the activities it carried out in the year to the Supervisory Au-
thority (Integrated Report of the Holders of Control Functions).

COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT

The Compliance Department is part of the internal controls system as a second-level function and is respon-
sible for preventing the risk of judicial penalties or fines, of significant financial losses or reputational damage
caused by any violation of mandatory legislation provisions or self-regulation. Since January 2018, the Group
Compliance Department has been reporting on a solid line to the Direction de la Conformité of Crédit Agricole
SA and on a dotted line to the Chief Executive Officer of Crédit Agricole Italia.

The Compliance Department has the mission of controlling and managing compliance risks, by continuously
identifying the legislation and regulations that apply to the Group, as well as by measuring and assessing the
impact of such regulations on the corporate processes and procedures and by defining the relevant preven-
tion and control policies. Specifically, its objective to ensure centrality of customers’ interests, the prevention
of offences pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, the prevention of risks associated with money-laun-
dering and terrorism financing pursuant to ltalian Legislative Decree 231/07 as amended and supplemented,
the prevention or risks regarding market abuse, the protection of the Group’s Companies, employees and top
officers against risks of penalties, financial losses and reputational damage, also through advisory services
and assistance, risk control and compliance with internal regulations and external legislation on ICT (ICT
compliance) pursuant to Bank of Italy Circular no. 285 of 17 December 2013, as well as with any applicable
legislation for which specialist control is not already in place.

The Compliance Department provides the Top Management with support and advice in order to prevent con-
ducts that could lead to penalties, generate losses or cause significant damage to the company’s reputation.
In this scope, compliance activities are also an opportunity to develop the Company’s value to the benefit of
all stakeholders.

MANAGER IN CHARGE

Pursuant to aforementioned Article 154-bis, in a specific document attached to the Annual Report and Fi-
nancial Statements, to the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements and to the Half-yearly Con-
densed Financial Report, jointly with the Chief Executive Officer, the Manager in Charge shall state:

e the adequacy and actual application of the administrative and accounting procedures;

e the consistency of the corporate and accounting documents with the records in the corporate boos and
with the accounts;

e that the above Reports and Financial Statements are fit to provide a true and correct representation of the
financial and cash flow position, as well as of the performance of the Bank and of the Group;

The Manager in charge shall also state that the Management Report includes a reliable analysis of the per-
formance and profit (loss) from operations, as well as of the situation of the Bank and of the Group, and the
description of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.

FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS - EXISTING RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 123-BIS PARAGRAPH 2, LETTER B) OF THE ITALIAN
CONSOLIDATED ACT ON FINANCE (TUF)

The “main features of the existing risk management and internal control systems regarding the financial report-
ing process” are given below, pursuant to Article 123-bis paragraph 2, letter b) of the Italian Consolidated Act
on Finance (TUF). The Internal Control System on corporate reporting is the process that, involving several cor-
porate structures, gives reasonable assurance on the reliability of financial reporting, the reliability of accounting
documents and of compliance with the applicable legislation. There is close and clear correlation with the risk
management process, which is the process for the identification and analysis of the factors that could prejudice
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the achievement of the set corporate objectives, in order to determine how these risks can be managed. A fit and
effective risk management system can indeed mitigate any negative effects on corporate objectives, including
reliability, accuracy, trustworthiness and promptness of accounting and financial reporting. Setting up and main-
taining in place an adequate system for control on financial reporting and periodically assessing its effectiveness
by the Bank require prior identification of a benchmark model for comparison purposes. The benchmark model
must be generally accepted, strict and complete and, as such, able to guide proper implementation and correct
assessment of the control system. It has been resolved to use the “COSO Report” principles and guidelines,
a widely used, also internationally, benchmark model for the assessment of internal control systems, limited to
the part on financial reporting. Based on the aforementioned model, the control system is set up through the
stages of: comparison between the as-is situation and the adopted benchmark model; identification of any
shortcomings or needs for improvement; implementation of corrective actions and assessment of the internal
control system in order to provide supporting grounds to the statements made by the Manager in charge. The
fact that an adequate system of administrative and accounting procedures is in place and properly operating
over time is verified in accordance with specific methods set out in an internal methodological framework. The
analysis scope takes into account also the components of the structure of the corporate internal controls that
are relevant for financial reporting; these controls operate crosswise the single line corporate processes.

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS IN PLACE REGARDING THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

A) Steps in the risk management and internal control systems in place regarding the financial report-
ing process.

Identification of risks on financial reporting

First of all, risk identification is carried out by selecting the relevant entities (companies) within the Group and,
afterwards, by analyzing the risks affecting the corporate processes that are the source of financial reporting.
This entails the definition of quantitative criteria in accordance with the income and financial contribution
given by the single entities in the latest accounts and the definition of selection rules with minimum thresh-
olds of relevance. Qualitative elements may also be taken into account. Once having identified the relevant
entities, significant processes are identified and defined as such if they are associated with material data and
information, i.e. accounting items that have a less than remote possibility to contain errors with potential ma-
terial impact on financial reporting. Within every significant process, the most relevant “assertions” are then
identified, again in accordance with assessment based on risk analysis. Assertions are claims regarding the
requirements that each financial statement must meet in order to achieve the objective of true and correct
representation. Assertions are existence and occurrence, valuation and classification, completeness, rights
and obligations. Therefore, risks refer to the possibility that one or more assertions are not correctly repre-
sented, with subsequent impact on financial reporting.

Assessment of risks on financial reporting

Risks are assessed both for the company as a whole and for each specific process. In the former case, the
assessment aims at verifying actual existence of a corporate setting that is in general fit to mitigate risks of
errors and improper conducts as relevant for financial reporting. In terms of process, the risks associated with
financial reporting (operational errors, underestimate or overestimate of items, less than accurate reporting,
etc.) are analyzed at the level of the activities making up processes. Risks and the pertinent controls, associ-
ated with the critical process of the Manager in charge, are assessed with a risk-based approach, which man-
datorily requires prior accurate mapping of all corporate processes. The potential risk index gives a summary
evaluation of the single risk event, the occurrence of which could cause direct/indirect damage in terms of
income-cash flows, in financial terms, in terms of penalties or of the Group’s image. The risk is detected within
the process and is irrespective of the existing controls (inherent or potential risk). The risk index is assessed
based on the severity of the potential damage.
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Identification of controls based on the detected risks

First, the company-wide controls that somehow regard relevant data/information and relevant assertions are
focused on; such controls are identified and assessed both through monitoring their effects on processes
and at a general level. Company-wide controls can prevent or detect any significant errors, even though they
do not operate on the single processes. Having adopted a risk-based approach, the identification of critical
processes and, within them, of the accounting risks at process level, guides the analysis activities and entails
the subsequent identification and assessment of the relevant controls, which can mitigate inherent risk and
ensure that residual risk stays within acceptability thresholds.

Assessment of controls based on the detected risks

The implemented assessment of the control system is based on various elements: time frame and frequency,
adequacy, operational compliance. The overall analysis of the controls on each risk is defined as the synthe-
sis of the process to assess the adequacy and compliance grade of such controls. These analyses summarize
subjective considerations on the effectiveness and efficiency of the controls on each single risk. The overall
assessment of risk management can be broken down into assessment of existence, adequacy and proper
operation/effectiveness. The risk assessment process ends with the measurement of residual risk, as the val-
ue resulting from the application of the overall assessment of controls to inherent riskiness. Reporting flows
with the information on the activities carried out are sent every six months to the Audit Committee for Internal
Control as reports prepared by the Manager in charge giving supporting grounds for the statements/claims on
accounting documents. These reports include: the results of the identification of the critical scope of analysis,
the identification of accounting risks with the related final measurement scores, focus points on any detected
shortcomings and needs for improvement and the related mitigation procedures, along with a summary on
the adequacy and proper operation of the controls at a company-wide level.

B) Roles and structures involved

The Manager in Charge is essentially the top role in the system overseeing the financial reporting preparation. In order
to perform his mission, the Manager in Charge has the power to set the organizational directions for an adequate
structure within his Department; he has the means and tools to perform his activity; he can cooperate with other organ-
izational units. Many corporate roles and structures contribute to feeding income-financial information. Therefore, the
Manager in Charge has established a systematic and fruitful relationship with such roles and structures. The roles and
structures engaged in control functions provide the Manager in Charge with any elements and information that could
contribute to the assessment and governance of any problems, such as anomalies falling under the scope of action of
the Manager in Charge. The Organization Division cooperates with the Manager in Charge as regards the documenta-
tion on accounting processes and its updating over time. Every six months, the Manager in Charge prepares a report,
submits it to the Audit Committee for Internal Control and sends it to the corporate roles and departments engaged in
control functions for their information. The report is the information flow whereby the Manager in Charge reports on the
activities performed and on the relevant findings. The Board of Directors is responsible for supervising and ensuring
that the Manager in Charge is vested with adequate powers and has adequate means to perform the tasks assigned
to him. The Manager in Charge shall promptly inform the Board of Auditors of any problems have accounting, financial
or cash-flow nature. Thanks to the implemented model, sufficient assurance can be given of proper accounting and
financial reporting. However, despite properly set and operating internal control systems, the occurrence of any mal-
functioning or anomalies able to impact on the accounting and financial reporting cannot be ruled out.

STATUTORY AUDIT OF THE ACCOUNTS

The statutory audit of the accounts of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group is assigned to an independent
audit firm that carries out the activities provided by Article 14, paragraph 1 of Italian Legislative Decree No.
39 of 27 January 2010.

In specific reports, the independent Audit Firm expresses its opinion on the separate and consolidated finan-
cial statements, as well as on the half-year financial report.

The statutory audit of the accounts has been assigned to the company EY S.p.A. until 31 December 2020.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The non-financial data and information of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group (hereinafter referred to as
“GBCAI”) are part of the Consolidated Non-Financial Statement prepared by the French Parent Company
Crédit Agricole S.A.; therefore, the GBCAI would be entitled to the exemption pursuant to Article 6 of Italian
Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016 (hereinafter “D.Lgs 254/2016”) for reporting entities that
belong to a Group that prepares a Consolidated Non-Financial Statement. Nevertheless, in agreement with
the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A., the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group decided not to opt for the
exemption provided for by the aforementioned Article 6 of D.Lgs 254/2016 and has prepared its Consolidated
Non-Financial Statement (NFS) as at 31 December 2018 in compliance with D.Lgs 254/2016.
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Certification of compliance of the Annual Report and Con-
solitaded Financial Statements pursuant to Article 154-
bis of ltalian Decree dell’art.154 bis del D. LGS. 58/1998

Certification of compliance of the Annual Report and Financial Statements pursuant to Article 154-bis of Italian Legislative Decree 58/1998 85
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Report of the Board of Auditors on the activi-
ties performed and on the separate and con-
solidated Financial Statements as at 31 De-
cember 2018 — Non-financial Statement

Dear Shareholders,

In the reporting year, the Board of Auditors of Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. (hereinafter also referred to simply
as “Crédit Agricole Italia” or “CA ltalia”), appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 28 April 2016,
performed its supervisory activities as provided for by the Company’s Articles of Association and by the main
legislation provisions listed below:

- the Italian Civil Code;

- italian Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010 as amended by Directive 2014/56/EU, at Article 28,
which was implemented in ltaly with Italian Legislative Decree No. 135/2016; Italian Legislative Decree
No. 58 of 24 February 1998 (the “ltalian Consolidated Act on Finance”);

- the Italian legislation on the Bank of Italy’s supervisory activities, with specific reference, as regards this
point, to Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 (the “Italian Consolidated Banking Act”),
to Italian Legislative Decree No. 231 of 21 September 2007 (“Implementation of Directive 2005/60/EC
concerning the prevention of the use of the financial system to launder criminal activities’ proceeds and
to fund terrorism, as well as Directive 2006/70/EC providing for the relevant implementation measures,
as amended and supplemented”).

- the Instructions and Provisions issued by the Bank of Italy, especially the Supervisory Provisions con-
cerning Banks’ Organization and Corporate governance.

The Board of Auditors performed its activities also in consideration of the Principles of Conduct recom-
mended by the Consiglio Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti Contabili ((the Italian National
Association of Chartered Accountants and Tax Advisors).

Supervisory activities

In the reporting year, this Board supervised:

- full compliance with the applicable rules of law and regulations and with the Articles of Association, cor-
rect management, the adequacy of the organizational and accounting structures (as regards the aspects
falling within the Board’s responsibility);

- the effectiveness and operation of the overall system of internal controls;

- the adequacy of the system for risk management and control;

- correct exercise of strategic and management control carried out by CA Italia in its capacity as the Parent
Company.

In order to perform all the above, in the period from the date of preparation of the Report to the 2018 Financial
Statements to today’s date, the Board of Auditors held 59 meetings (substantiated by the relevant minutes
entered in the Book of minutes of the meetings of the Board of Auditors); specifically, the Board:

- carried out its self-assessment on 18 March 2018, with reference to the 2018 period, verifying its own ad-
equacy in terms of composition, professional skills, availability of time and operation. The above self-as-
sessment was carried out in accordance with Article 29 of the Company’s Articles of Association in force,
which is compliant with the applicable regulations;

- implemented its annual work plan that provided for regular meetings especially with the Top Manage-
ment, the Heads of Central Departments engaged in control functions (Compliance, Risk Management
and Permanent Controls, Internal Audit) and the Heads of Departments and Divisions engaged in the
management of operations and administration, as well as in the review of the reports prepared by them;

- carried out professional refresher and training activities, also by participating in external events.
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Moreover, this Board:

1.

attended all the General Meetings of Shareholders and all the meetings of the Board of Directors and of
the Executive Committee and, therefore, it can state that such meetings were held in compliance with the
Articles of Association and with the applicable legislation governing them;

obtained information from the Directors, thanks to its participation in the meetings of the Board of Direc-
tors and of the Board Committees and in the meetings with the Top Management (Chief Executive Officer,
Deputy General Manager in charge of Retail Banking, Deputy General Manager in charge of Corporate
Banking), on the general performance and outlook of operations, as well as on the most significant trans-
actions, in terms of their size or features, carried out by the Company.

the Executive Committee and the Chief Executive Officer regularly reported to the Board of Directors on
the exercise of their respective responsibilities and powers, as well as on all material transactions.
participated, as the full Board, in all the meetings of the Audit Committee for Internal Control, which is a
BoD Committee, and constantly cooperated and coordinated with it;

participated, represented by its Chairman and/or another of its Members, in the Loan Committee of the
Bank and of the Group;

participated, represented by its Chairman and/or another of its Members, in the meetings of the Related
Party Committee and in the Meetings of the BoD and of the Executive Committee, in compliance with the
“Regulation for Risk Activities and Conflicts of Interests with Associated Persons” of the Crédit Agricole
Italia Group;

worked in close cooperation with the Boards of Auditors of the Subsidiaries, also through joint meetings
held with their respective Control Bodies;

worked in cooperation, also through specific meetings and contacts, with the Organismo di Vigilanza, the
Body in charge of offence prevention - AML, Terrorism Financing, etc. - provided for by Italian Legislative
Decree No. 231/01, in whose meetings the Chairman of the Board of Auditors and/or another Auditor are
regularly invited to participate.

Therefore, based on the activities it performed, this Board can report that, in the 2018 financial year, no atyp-
ical and/or unusual transactions, also intra-group or with related parties, were carried out which could jeop-
ardize the Company’s assets and equity. As regards intra-group transactions and transactions with related
parties, this Board also acknowledges that, in paragraph 2 of “Part H” of the Note to the Financial Statements,
the material transactions finalized in 2018 are properly reported.

Moreover, in the reporting period, this Board monitored the following material transactions:

the process for the absorption of the banks (Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena S.p.A., Cassa di Risparmio
di Rimini S.p.A. and Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato S.p.A.) that has been acquired on 21 December
2017 from the Italian Interbank Deposit Protection Fund - Voluntary Scheme;

the share capital increase of euro 147 million (of which euro 26.7 million to share capital and euro 120.3
million to share premium reserve) authorized on 18 May 2018 in order to handle the impacts resulting, on
the one hand, from the end of the Basel 3 phase-in arrangements and, on the other hand, from the entry
into force of the new IFRS9.

the “Valery Project”, which led to the sale, at Group level, of euro

1,356 million worth of Non-performing Loans, comprising UTP and bad loans, in accordance with the
Group’s NPE Strategy and with the ECB “guidance to banks on non-performing loans”;

the process for the acquisition (completed in 2019), first through the purchase and then the transfer by
Fondazione Carispezia of 20% of the share capital of Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A., for its merger by
absorption, which is going to be finalized in 2019.

Moreover, in 2018 and up to the date of preparation of this Report, the Board expressed its opinion on several
matters, including:

annual report on operations regarding asset-backed securities

awarding of the variable remuneration component to Top Officers;

Annual report on the controls performed on Outsourced Important Operational Functions;

report on non-compliance risks;

ICAAP and ILAAP Reports: specifically, the “ICAAP Report as at 31 December 2017” was submitted to
the Board of Directors on 27 April 2018 after being examined by this Board, whereas the “ICAAP Report
as at 31 December 2018” is going to be submitted to the Board of Directors on 30 April 2019;

report and self-assessment of money-laundering and terrorism financing risks;

assessment of the procedures for the outsourcing of cash-handling activities;
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- report on internal validation activities and annual report prepared by the Internal Audit Department on the
AIRB System;

- increase in the maximum amount of issued Covered Bonds;

- report prepared by the Internal Audit Department on operations regarding Covered Bonds;

- amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association dealt with at the General Meetings of Shareholders
on 26 February, 18 May and 4 June.

As regards relations with the Supervisory Authority, it is specifically reported as follows:

- on 27 April 2018, the European Central Bank issued its Follow Up Letter, the final document detailing
its recommendations to the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group following the audit it carried out in the
period between April and July 2017 on the Small Medium Enterprises portfolio of the Crédit Agricole ltalia
Banking Group. The Regulator requested the preparation of remedial plans with specific regard to the
revision of loan authorization processes and a quarterly briefing on the related progress;

- as regards the matters within its responsibility scope, this Board can state that, in 2018, the CA lItalia
Group complied with the requests made by the Regulator implementing an action plan, which was exam-
ined by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2018, and timely provided the quarterly brief to the Regulator;

- at the Board meeting held on 12 November 2018, the Bank of Italy served its report on the supervisory
audits it had performed on Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. between April and July on anti-money-laundering
and on transparency and fairness of relations with customers;

- atthe same meeting, the letter of the Consumer Protection and Anti-Money Laundering Directorate of the
Bank of Italy was also delivered, setting out the procedure to agree with Supervisor on the improvement
actions to be implemented: this procedure shall also contribute to the settlement of the proceedings
started following the audit, the outcome of which is going to depend also on the effectiveness of the
corrective actions already implemented and planned by the Bank;

- the Board of Auditors can state that the findings reported by the Supervisory Authority were examined
and thoroughly assessed without delay by the Bank’s relevant structures and corporate bodies, which
sent - in accordance with the set terms - their Considerations on such findings, along with the related
Counterarguments, as well as the adopted corrective Plan: in this Board’s opinion, this is adequate to the
supervisory findings and expectations.

In the reporting period and up to the date of preparation of this Report, no charges were filed pursuant to
Article 2408 of the Italian Civil Code.

Supervisory activities on the adequacy of the internal control system and on the adequacy of the fi-
nancial reporting process

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has set its internal controls system in compliance with the model of
the Controlling Company Crédit Agricole S.A. and with the Supervisory regulations (specifically, Bank of Italy
Circular 285/2013).

Therefore, the Group has implemented an internal controls system consisting of the set of rules, functions,

structures, resources, processes and procedures that have been designed to ensure the achievement of the

following objectives:

- verifying that the set corporate strategies and policies are properly implemented;

- keeping risk within the limits set in the Risk Appetite Framework;

- safeguarding the value of assets and protecting from losses;

- effectiveness and efficiency of the corporate processes as implemented;

- reliability and security of corporate information and IT procedures;

- preventing the risk that the entities of the Group may be involved, also unintentionally, in unlawful activi-
ties (with specific regard to money/laundering, usury and terrorism financing);

- compliance of corporate operations with the applicable legislation and supervisory regulations, as well as
with the internal policies, regulations and procedures.

As set forth in the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure, the types of controls within
CA ltalia are structured as follows:
1. permanent control, which comprises:
- 1st-degree controls, exercised on a continuous basis by the employees performing the transactions,
by the persons they report to on solid line, or executed by the automated systems for transaction
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processing; the activities for the production of accounting data and for the preparation of the Annu-
al Report and Financial Statements are subject to specific first-degree controls that are carried out
within the accounting units;

- 2nd-degree/first-level (2.1) controls, which are carried out by persons engaged in operating tasks, but
other than those directly involved in the transactions subject to control; specifically, within the central
administrative structures, controls are performed to monitor all departments and roles that can ac-
cess the accounting information system;

- 2nd degree/second level (2.2) controls, which are carried out by staff who is engaged in specialist
functions for top level permanent controls and is not authorized to take risks, i.e. staff engaged in
Compliance, Risk Management and Permanent Controls functions.

2. periodic control, which is performed by the Internal Audit Department on a periodic basis through remote
verifications, on-site inspections and audits of documents.

Therefore, the Board of Auditors can reliably state that it supervised the effectiveness and proper operation of
the overall system of internal controls, also through regular and constant meetings with the Risk Management
and Permanent Controls Central Department, the Internal Audit Central Department, the Compliance Central
Department and with the Manager in charge of the preparation of the company accounting documents, re-
ceiving copies of the reports prepared by the various Corporate Bodies and Committees engaged in control
functions. To this end, the Board of Auditors also supervised the operations of the subsidiary “Crédit Agricole
Group Solutions Societa Consortile per Azioni”, a not-for-profit consortium company that was incorporated in
2015 and provides services, mainly but not exclusively, to or in the interest of its shareholders. All the Group’s
activities relating to Operational Processes, Information Systems, Technical Logistics, Safety and Security,
Business Continuity, Purchases and Real Estate Management, Human Resources Administration were trans-
ferred to this Company.

As regards financial reporting processes, this Board of Auditors carried out thorough reviews with both the Ad-
ministration and Finance Department and the Manager in Charge of the preparation of the Company’s accounting
documents, as well as with the Independent Audit Firm: these reviews did not show any problems affecting the
internal control system concerning the financial reporting process. The administrative and accounting procedures
for the preparation of the separate and consolidated financial statements were designed and implemented under
the responsibility of Manager in Charge, who, jointly with the Chief Executive Officer, vouches for their adequacy
and actual implementation. At the aforementioned meetings, the Manager in Charge did not report any material
shortcomings in the operational and control processes, which could bias the warranted adequacy and actual ap-
plication of the administrative-accounting procedures, in order to given a true and correct income, financial and
cash flow representation of operations, in compliance with the internal accounting standards.

The Manager in Charge and the Chief Executive Officer have signed the certifications on the separate and
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018 as provided for by Article 81-ter of the Issuers’
Regulation approved by CONSOB with Resolution 11971/1999 as amended and supplemented.

This Board of Auditors also examined the half-yearly and annual reports prepared by the Manager in Charge
and the “Letter of comments of the Independent Auditors” sent on 8 June 2018 and regarding some points of
attention in the company’s operations, as well as the Additional Report issued on 29 March 2019, pursuant to
Article 11 of the aforementioned EU Regulation: no one of these documents reports any material shortcom-
ings in the internal control systems concerning the company’s financial reporting and/or accounting system.

Based on the information it obtained and on the analysis it made, this Board of Auditors can deem the admin-
istrative and accounting system of the CA ltalia Group as overall adequate and compliant with the applicable
legislation.

Supervisory activities on the adequacy of the risk management system

As regards Risk Management, the founding principles informing all activities for risk management and control

are the following:

- clear identification of risk-taking responsibilities;

- measurement and control systems that are compliant with the Supervisory guidelines and consistent with
the solutions more frequently

- adopted at an international level;

- organizational separation between operating and control functions.
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The risks detected, controlled and integrated (considering diversification benefits) in the economic capital are
defined as:

- credit and counterparty risks; this category also includes concentration risk;

- market risk of the Trading Book;

- price risk of the Banking Book;

- interest rate risk of the Banking Book;

- liquidity risk;

- foreign exchange risk of the Banking Book;

- operational risk.

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group defines its Risk Strategy on a yearly basis, which sets the risk levels
that the Group deems adequate to its development strategy. Based on the Strategy, which is submitted to
the Risk Committee of Crédit Agricole S.A. for its approval, global limits are set (alert thresholds) and are ap-
propriately integrated with operational limits that are specific to each single Entity in the Group. This system,
setting limits and/or alert thresholds, is submitted to the Boards of Directors of the Parent Company Crédit
Agricole ltalia S.p.A. and of the single Entities of the Group for their approval.

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department (Italian acronym DRPC) performs risk manage-
ment and control activities for all the Companies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group.

Remuneration policies

The Board of Auditors has acknowledged that, at its meeting held on 26 March 2019, the Board of Directors
approved the “Remuneration Policies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group for 2019 and the actual fig-
ures for 2018” document, which shall be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders. This document
sets out the principles and standards used to design, implement and monitor the Group’s remuneration sys-
tems. It was reviewed by the Internal Audit Department, which did not report any anomalies.

On this matter, in the reporting period, the Board of Auditors also participated, represented by its Chairman or
by another of its Members, in the meetings of the Appointments Board Committee and of the Remuneration
Board Committee.

Supervisory activities on the statutory audit of the accounts

Pursuant to Articles 16 and 19 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, as amended by Italian Legislative

Decree no. 135/2016 implementing Directive 2014/56/EU, the Board of Auditors has the role of Audit Com-

mittee in charge of internal control and of the statutory audit of the accounts and is responsible, among other

things, for:

- monitoring the financial reporting process and presenting any recommendations or proposals aimed at
ensuring its integrity;

- verifying the effectiveness of the systems of internal control, quality and risk management of the Compa-
ny and, where applicable, of the internal audit, as regards financial reporting of the audited entity, without
violating the Internal Audit independence;

- monitoring the statutory audit of annual accounts, both separate and consolidated;

- verifying and monitoring the independence of the statutory auditors or of the audit firm tasked with the
statutory audit of the accounts pursuant to Articles 10, 10-bis, 10-ter, 10-quater and 17 of the Decree and
to Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014 of 16 April 2014, especially as regards the provision of services
other than statutory audit (non-audit services) to the audited entity, in compliance with Article 5 of the
Regulation;

- supervising the procedure for the selection of statutory auditors or audit firms and recommending stat-
utory auditors or audit firms to be appointed pursuant to Article 16 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014, where
necessary.

In order to perform all the above, as regards monitoring of the statutory audit of the accounts and of the in-
dependence of the statutory auditors, this Bord worked in coordination with the Audit Firm in charge of the
statutory audit of the accounts, EY S.p.A. (which has been tasked with the statutory audit of the accounts for
the 2012-2020 period pursuant to the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 23 April 2012).
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n this regard, pursuant to the aforementioned Article 19, in 2018 and up to the date of this Report to the
Shareholders, this Board performed continuous monitoring of the activities carried out by the Independent
Audit Firm.

To this end, regular meetings were held in the reporting period, both to examine the quarterly accounts and to
exchange information as relevant for the performance of the respective tasks and for the analysis of the work
carried out by the Audit Firm. As mentioned above, it is pointed out that, on 8 June 2018, the Independent
Audit Firm sent the document called “Letter of comments of the Independent Audit Firm”.

In addition to the aforementioned exchange of information, the Board of Auditors examined the following
reports that were issued by the Statutory Auditor EY S.p.A. on 29 March 2019 and that set forth the matters
examined during the various meetings held since the previous report to the Shareholders:

- the Audit Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements issued pursuant to Article 14 of Italian Leg-
islative Decree No. 39/2010 and to Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, which is dealt with in the
“Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements and proposal for the allocation of the profit for the
year”;

- the Audit Report on the Separate Financial Statements issued pursuant to Article 14 of Italian Legislative
Decree No. 39/2010 and to Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, which is dealt with in the “Sepa-
rate and Consolidated Financial Statements” paragraph;

- the Independent Auditors’ Report pursuant to Article 3, paragraph 10 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 254
of 30 December 2016 and to Article 5 of CONSOB Regulation No. 20267 concerning the Consolidated
Non-Financial Statement as at 31 December 2018;

- the Additional Report, also issued on 29 March 2019, pursuant to Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No.
537/2014, including the annual confirmation of independence, also issued on 5 April 2018, pursuant
to Article 6 paragraph 2) letter a) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and to paragraph 17 of International
Standard on Auditing (ISA) Italia 260.

Overall, it is reported that the Independent audit firm did not inform this Board, at the regular meetings held
or in its reports, of any remarks or findings of irregularities, problems and/or material inadequacy.

As regards verification of the statutory auditor’s independence, in 2018, pursuant to Article 19 of Italian Legislative
Decree No. 39/2010, the Board of Auditors verified and monitored the independence of the audit firm EY S.p.A.
tasked with the statutory audit of the accounts, pursuant to Articles 10, 10-bis, 10-ter, 10-quater and 17 of the
aforementioned Decree and to Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014, especially as regards the provision of non-au-
dit services to the audited entity. Moreover, as reported in the previous paragraph, the Board of Auditors received
the statement confirming the Audit Firm’s independence, finding no inconsistencies.

Annual Report and separate and consolidated financial statements

Pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 38 of 28 February 2005 and by Circular No. 262 issued by the Bank of Italy
on 22 December 2005, as updated on 22 December 2017 (fifth update), the Financial Statements were pre-
pared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards/International Financial Reporting Standards
(IAS/IFRS) applicable and in force as at 31 December 2018, and endorsed by the European Union pursuant
to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002. In the Note
to the Financial Statements, the Management Body stated that no exceptions were made to the application
of the IAS/IFRS.

The Separate Financial Statements and the Management Report accompanying them are deemed adequate
to provide information on the Bank’s situation, its performance in the reporting period and outlook (also taking
account of the indications given in the joint document issued by the Bank of Italy, the Italian Securities and
Exchange Commission (CONSOB) and ISVAP (the Italian Insurance Supervisory Authority) No. 4 of 3 March
2010, on the application of IAS/IFRS).

The Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018 are governed by ltalian Legislative Decree
No. 38 of 28 February 2005 and by Circular No. 262 of the Bank of Italy of 22 December 2005, as amended
in December 2017, and were prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards and the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) as well as with the relevant interpretations issued by the
IFRIC, as endorsed by the European Commission pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002. As specified by the Directors in the Note to the Consolidated
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Financial Statements, the consolidation perimeter consists, in addition to the Parent Company Crédit Agricole
ltalia S.p.A., of its subsidiaries of which in paragraph 1 of Part A of the Note to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Having regard to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018, the General Meeting is also
informed that this Board supervised their general layouts, their general compliance with the applicable law in
terms of preparation and layouts and, on this matter, no remarks are to be made. Moreover, this Board verified
compliance with the standards concerning the preparation of the Management Report.

As mentioned above, on 29 March 2019, this Board of Auditors received the Independent Auditors’ Report
pursuant to Article 14 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010, and to Article 10 of Regulation
(EU) No. 537/2014 on the financial statements as at 31 December 2018, which sets forth that, in the Inde-
pendent Auditor’s opinion, both the separate and consolidated financial statements provide a “truthful and
correct representation of the Company’s equity and financial position as at 31 December 2018, of its perfor-
mance and cash flows for the reporting year, in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards endorsed by the European Union and with the measures implementing Article 9 of Italian Legislative
Decree No. 38 of 28 February 2005 and Article 43 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 136 of 18 August 2015.”

Furthermore, this Boards acknowledges that the Manager in Charge and the Chief Executive Officer have
signed the certifications on the separate and consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018 as
provided for by Article 81-ter of the Issuers’ Regulation approved by CONSOB with Resolution 11971/1999
as amended and supplemented.

Finally, having regard to the Management Report and to some specific pieces of information contained in the
report on corporate governance and ownership structure, it is pointed out that the statutory auditor’s reports
attest that they are consistent with the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements and with the Separate
Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018 and have been prepared in compliance with the applicable law.

Non-Financial Statement

In accordance with Italian Legislative Decree No. 254/2016 concerning disclosure of non-financial informa-
tion and with the related implementing Regulation issued by CONSOB with its resolution of 18 January 2018,
this Board of Auditors supervised, in performing its functions, compliance with the related provisions on the
preparation of the Non-Financial Statement (hereinafter, also “NFS”), which was approved by the Board of
Directors on 26 March 2019 as a free-standing document separated from the Annual Report and Financial
Statements.

This Board had meetings with the representatives of the appointed Audit Firm (EY S.p.A.) and examined the
documentation made available to it. Finally, this Board acknowledged the report issued by the Audit Firm on
29 March 2019 in which the Audit Firm attests that it found no elements that may lead to think that the NFS of
the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group has not been prepared, in all its material aspects, in full compliance
with the applicable legislation.

Therefore, based on the obtained information, the Board of Auditors hereby attests that, during its review of
the Non-Financial Statement, it found no elements that could amount to non-compliance with and/or breach
of the applicable legislation.

Proposal of allocation of the profits for the period

The proposal for the allocation of the net profit of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., amounting to euro 252,124,086,

which is submitted to the Shareholders for their approval, is the following:

- euro 12,606,204, equal to 5% of the net profit to Legal Reserve;

- euro 1,300,000 to charity, to be used for social and cultural initiatives, in accordance with the Articles of
Association;

- euro 128,573,228, equal to 60% of the distributable profits after the statutory allocations, as dividends
to the Shareholders;

- euro 109,644,654 to extraordinary reserve.

In this regard, the Board of Auditors can state that this proposal was sent by Crédit Agricole S.A. to the ECB
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on 1 February 2019 in order to supplement its COREP (received on 11 February 2019) and obtained the ECB’s
validation on 11 February 2019. The consolidated capital ratios as at 31 December 2018 were above the ra-
tios required by the ECB within the SREP, and came to:

- Consolidated Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) Ratio: 11.2%.

- Tier 1 ratio: 13.8%.

- Total Capital Ratio: 16.8%.

The dividends to be distributed are equal to 60% of the distributable profit consistently with the set capital
ratios.

Conclusions

Dear Shareholders,

Based on the considerations reported above as resulting from the supervisory activities performed by this
Board and on the outcome of the activities carried out by the firm tasked with the statutory audit of accounts
“EY S.p.A.” as contained in its Independent Auditors’ Report pursuant to Article 14 of Italian Legislative De-
cree No. 39 of 27 January 2010, and to Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, and based on the State-
ments made by the Chief Executive Officer and by the Manager in charge of the preparation of the corporate
accounting documents, the Board of Auditors unanimously deems that there are no reasons why you should
not approve the draft Annual Report and Financial Statements for the financial year closed as at 31 December
2018, as prepared and submitted to you by the Board of Directors.

This Board agrees on the above-reported proposal of allocation of the profits for the period as submitted by
the Board of Directors.

Having reach the end of its term of office, the Board of Auditors wants to express its thanks to the Bank,
represented here by the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and the Department Heads, for the constant,
attentive and constructive support ensured to the activity of this Board. Consequently, the General Meeting
of Shareholders scheduled for 30 April 2019 shall appoint the new Board of Auditors for the 2019-2021 three-
year period.

Parma, Italy, 8 April 2019

The Board of Auditors
(Paolo Alinovi)

(Luigi Capitani)

(Maria Ludovica Giovanardi)
(Stefano Lottici)

)

(Germano Montanari
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EY S.p.A. Tel: +39 02 722121
Via Meravigli, 12 Fax: +39 02 722122037
20123 Milano ey.com

Independent auditor’s report pursuant to article 14 of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated January 27, 2010 and article 10 of EU Regulation
n. 537/2014

(Translation from the original Italian text)

To the Shareholders of
Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group (the
“Group”), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2018, the income statement, the

statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union as well as with the regulations issued for implementing article 9 of Legislative Decree
n. 38, dated February 28, 2005 and article 43 of Legislative Decree n. 136, dated August 18, 2015.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. in accordance with the regulations and
standards on ethics and independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian Laws.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

EYSpA
Sede Legale: Via Po, 32 - 00198 Roma

Capitale Sociale Euro 2.525.000,00 i.v.

Iscritta alla S.0. del Registro delle Imprese presso la C.C.I.AA. di Roma

Codice fiscale e numero di iscrizione 00434000584 - numero R.E.A. 250904

P.IVA 00891231003

Iscritta al Registro Revisori Legali al n. 70945 Pubblicato sulla G.U. Suppl. 13 - IV Serie Speciale del 17/2/1998
Iscritta allAlbo Speciale delle societa di revisione

Consob al progressivo n. 2 delibera n.10831 del 16/7/1997

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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We identified the following key audit matters:

Key Audit Matter

Audit Response

First time application of
the International Financial Reporting Standard
9 - Financial Instruments

On January 1, 2018 the International Financial
Reporting Standard 9, endorsed by the
European Commission on November 22, 2016
with Regulation no. 2016/2067 (the “Standard”
or “IFRS 9”) became effective, replacing the
standard IAS 39 in relation to the classification
and measurement of financial instruments.

As required by IAS 8 “Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors”
and in accordance with the first time application
approach required by IFRS 9, the Group
accounted for in the opening balances the
negative cumulative effects derived from the
transition to the new Standard, for an amount
of Euro 470 million, including non-controlling
interests’ share.

Moreover, the Group has exercised the option
foreseen by the Standard not to restate the
comparative data.

The IFRS 9 first time application was a relevant
aspect for the audit both because the impacts on
financial figures have been significant for the
financial statements as a whole and for the
implementation required in terms of processes,
controls, valuations models and IT systems.

The disclosure on the effects of the first time
application of IFRS 9 is provided in the paragraph
“Disclosure on first-time application of IFRS 9 -
Financial instruments” of the notes to the
financial statements.

In relation to this matter, our audit procedures
included, among others:

understanding and analysis of the main
accounting and application choices made by
the Group, in relation to the classification
and valuation of financial instruments;

understanding and analysis, also with the
support of our specialists in valuations of
financial instruments and IT systems, of the
processes and controls implemented in
relation to the IFRS 9 first time application
and the execution of tests on key controls,
including those relating to IT, in order to
verify their operational effectiveness;

understanding and analysis, with the support
of our specialists in valuations of financial
instruments, including non performing loans,
and IT systems, of the calculation by the
Group of the first time application
adjustments and performance of substantive
procedures aimed at verifying their
consistency with the requirements of the
Standard;

analysis of the adequacy of the disclosures
provided in the notes to the financial
statements.

Classification and valuation of loans to
customers

Loans to customers measured at amortised cost
presented in line item 40 b) of the balance
sheet amount to about Euro 51 billion as at
December 31, 2018, and represent
approximately 80% of total assets.

The classification and valuation of loans to
customers is relevant for the audit because the
value of loans is significant for the financial
statements as a whole and because the value of
the related impairment losses is determined by
the directors through the use of estimates that

In relation to this aspect, our audit procedures
included, among others:

understanding of the policies, processes
and controls in relation to the classification
and measurement of loans to customers
and performing of tests on the key controls,
including those relating to IT, with the
support of our specialists in IT systems, in
order to verify their operational
effectiveness;

Independent Auditors’ Report

97



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

EY

have a high degree of complexity and
subjectivity.

Among these, the following are particularly
relevant:

e identification and calibration of parameters
for determining a significant increase in
credit risk (SICR), compared to when the
financial instrument was initially
recognized, for the purpose of allocating
performing exposures between the Stage 1
and the Stage 2;

e set-up of models, incorporating forward-
looking information, for the calculation of
expected credit losses (ECL - Expected
Credit Losses) at 1 year for exposures in
Stage 1 and lifetime for exposures in Stage
2;

e identification of Probability of Default (PD),
Loss Given Default (LGD), and Exposure at
Default (EAD) input parameters of the ECL
calculation models;

e identification of evidence of impairment,
with the consequent classification of
exposures in Stage 3 (non-performing
loans);

o for exposures classified in Stage 3, the
determination of criteria for the expected
cash flows’ estimate including, in addition to
the ordinary recovery strategy based on the
collection through legal actions, realization
of mortgage guarantees, mandates to
collection companies, also the selling
scenario of the loan.

The disclosures regarding the changes in the
quality of the loans to customers portfolio and
on the classification and measurement criteria
adopted is provided in Part A - Accounting
policies, in Part B - Information on the balance
sheet, in Part C - Information on the income
statement and in Part E - Information on risks
and related hedging policies of the notes to the
financial statements.

e performing substantive procedures aimed
at verifying on a sample basis the correct
classification and measurement of credit
exposures;

e understanding, also with the support of our
specialists in valuations of financial
instruments and information systems, of
the methodology applied in relation to
impairment losses calculated with a
statistical methodology and the
reasonableness of the assumptions
adopted, as well as the performing of test of
controls and substantive procedures aimed
at the verification of the accurate
determination of the PD, LGD and EAD
parameters, relevant for the purpose of
determining the impairment losses;

e performing comparative analysis of the
portfolio of loans to customers and the
related coverage levels, with reference to
the most significant changes as compared
to IFRS 9 first time application figures;

o verification, through the analysis of the
supporting documentation, of the
accounting for the disposals occurred in the
year, as envisaged by the NPL strategy
aimed at the reduction of the stock of non-
performing loans;

e analysis of the adequacy of the disclosure
provided in the notes to the financial
statements.

Recoverability of the “non-convertible”
deferred tax assets

The item 110 “Tax assets” of the consolidated
balance sheet includes deferred tax assets
amounting to Euro 1,326 million, of which Euro
638 million are “non-convertible” into tax
credits (since they are not included in the scope
of Law 214/2011), deriving from tax losses
that can be carried forward indefinitely, almost
entirely attributable to Cassa di Risparmio di

In response to this aspect, our audit procedures
included, amongst others:

e understanding of the Management's process
and controls in relation to the assessment
of the recoverability of the “non-
convertible” deferred tax assets and the
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Cesena, Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini and Cassa
di Risparmio di San Miniato acquired at the end
of 2017 and merged in the Parent Company
during 2018, and from other deductible
temporary differences.

In order to ascertain the existence of the
conditions for the recognition of “non-
convertible” deferred tax assets, management
assessed their recoverability (as required by the
international accounting standard IAS 12
“Income Taxes”) by considering the expected
taxable income solely of the Parent Company,
Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., as well as on the
fiscal consolidation of the Crédit Agricole Italia
Banking Group.

The assessment of the recoverability of “non-
convertible” deferred tax assets is a key audit
matter for the audit because their value is
significant to the financial statements

as a whole, and because the valuation is based

on a model that provides for the use of

assumptions and estimates that have a high
degree of complexity and subjectivity, with
specific reference to:

e estimation of taxable income expected
during the time period considered for the
recovery;

e interpretation of the applicable tax
legislation

The disclosures regarding deferred tax assets,
including “non-convertible” tax assets, is
provided in Part A - Accounting policies, in Part
B - Information on the balance sheet and in Part
C - Information on the income statement of the
notes to the financial statements.

testing of key controls, in order to verify
their operational effectiveness;

e analysis, also with the support of our
specialists in business valuations, of the
management estimates related to the
Group's forecasted income statement and
balance sheet and of the additional
assumptions used for the purpose of
estimating future taxable income;

e analysis, also with the support of our tax
experts, of the reasonableness of the
assumptions adopted for the development
of the probability test based on the
applicable tax legislation to the different
types of temporary deductible differences;

e verification of the accuracy of the
calculation made to develop the probability
test.

Finally, we examined the adequacy of the
disclosures provided in the notes to the
financial statements.

Impairment test of Goodwill

Goodwill included in line item 100 of the
balance sheet of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31,
2018 amounts to Euro 1,576 million and is
allocated to the Retail / Private cash-generating
unit (CGU) for Euro 1,502 million while the
remaining amount is allocated to the Business /
Corporates CGU.

As required by IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”,
goodwill is not subject to systematic
amortization but is subject, at least once a year,
to an impairment test performed by comparing

Our audit procedures in response the key
audit matter included, amongst others:

e anunderstanding of the method for
determining the recoverable amount
adopted by the Bank, as part of the
impairment testing process approved by
the proper governance bodies;

e the execution of testing on key controls in
order to verify their operational
effectiveness;

e acomparison of the actual results
achieved in the 2018 with the
corresponding budget figures, in order
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the CGU carrying amount, inclusive of the to understand the reasons underlying
goodwill, with its recoverable amount. the main differences.

Management of the Parent Company identified

for impairment test purposes the “Value in use”  Finally, we examined the adequacy of the
as the proper configuration of the CGU’s disclosures provided in the notes to the
recoverable amount, determined by discounting ~ financial statements.

the expected cash flows in accordance with the

methodology internally developed by the Crédit

Agricole S.A. Group and assumptions, which by

their nature entail the Directors’ use of

judgment.

In this context, for the purpose of estimating
future cash flows, management used the budget
figures for the year 2019 and the medium-long
term financial forecast for the period 2020-
2023.

Since the amount of goodwill is significant for
the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, also in light of the subjectivity of the
assumptions made by the Directors in the
process of estimating the recoverable amount
of the CGUs, we considered the impairment test
of the goodwill as a key audit matter.

The disclosures regarding the impairment test
are provided in Part A - Accounting policies and
in Part B - Information on the balance sheet of
the notes to the financial statements.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union and with the regulations issued for implementing article 9 of Legislative Decree n.
38, dated February 28, 2005 and article 43 of Legislative Decree n. 136, dated August 18, 2015,
within the terms provided by the law, for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

The Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
when preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the appropriateness of the going concern
assumption, and for appropriate disclosure thereof. The Directors prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis unless they either intend to liquidate the parent company Credit
Agricole Italia S.p.A. or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The statutory audit committee (“Collegio Sindacale”) is responsible, within the terms provided by the
law, for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISA Italia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we have
exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. In
addition:

e we have identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; designed and performed audit
procedures responsive to those risks; obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

¢ we have obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

e we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors;

e we have concluded on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to consider this matter in forming our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern;

e we have evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation;

e we have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We have communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as
required by ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We have provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the
ethical and independence requirements applicable in Italy, and we have communicated with them all
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we have determined those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We have described these matters in our auditor’s report.

Additional information pursuant to article 10 of EU Regulation n. 537/14

The shareholders of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., in the general meeting held on April 23, 2012,
engaged us to perform the audits of the consolidated financial statements of each year ending from
December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2020.

We declare that we have not provided prohibited non-audit services, referred to article 5, par. 1, of EU
Regulation n. 537/2014, and that we have remained independent of the Company in conducting the
audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the consolidated financial statements included in this report is
consistent with the content of the additional report to the Collegio Sindacale in their capacity as audit
committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the EU Regulation n. 537/2014.

Report on compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion pursuant to article 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph €), of Legislative
Decree n. 39 dated January 27, 2010 and of article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of
Legislative Decree n. 58, dated February 24, 1998

The Directors of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the Management
Report and the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure of the Group as at
December 31, 2018, including their consistency with the related consolidated financial statements
and their compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

We have performed the procedures required under audit standard SA lItalia n. 720B, in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the Management Report and of specific information included
in the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure as provided for by article 123-bis,
paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree n. 58, dated February 24, 1998, with the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and on their compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, and in order to assess whether they contain material misstatements.

In our opinion, the Management Report and the above-mentioned specific information included in the
Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure are consistent with the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and comply with the applicable laws and
regulations.

With reference to the statement required by article 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated January 27, 2010, based on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and
its environment obtained through our audit, we have no matters to report.

Statement pursuant to article 4 of Consob Regulation implementing Legislative
Decree n. 254, dated December 30, 2016
The Directors of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the non-financial

information pursuant to Legislative Decree n. 254, dated December 30, 2016. We have verified that
non-financial information have been approved by Directors.
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Pursuant to article 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree n. 254, dated December 30, 2016, such
non-financial information are subject to a separate compliance report issued by us.

Milan, March 29, 2019

EY S.p.A.
Signed by: Massimiliano Bonfiglio, Partner

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of
international readers.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET
Chares o o o1 oo o

10. 10. Cash and cash equivalents 295,958 1,990,365

20. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 125,156
20. a) financial assets held for trading; 97,425 74,252
30. b) financial assets designated at fair value; - 99

c) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 27,731

30. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,260,746
40. Financial assets available for sale 5,344,090
50. Investments held to maturity 2,234,277

40. Financial assets measured at amortized cost 54,538,381
60. a) loans to banks 3,537,099 7,237,907
70. b) loans to customers 51,001,282 44,251,456
50. 80. Hedging derivatives 575,331 570,367
60. 90. Fair value change of financial assets in macro-hedge portfolios (+/-) 40,153 26,085
70. 100. | Equity investments 27,755 33,868
80. 110. | Technical insurance reserves reassured with third parties - -
90. 120. Property, Plant and Equipment 847,790 838,358
100. 130. Intangible assets 1,936,197 1,959,264
- of which goodwill 1,575,536 1,575,536
110. | 140. | Tax assets 1,639,049 1,458,004
a) current 313,111 317,587
b) deferred 1,325,938 1,140,417
b1) pursuant to Italian Law No. 214/2011 725,894
120. 150. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - 98
130. | 160. | Other assets 463,033 694,075
Total assets 63,749,549 66,712,565

0 This item reports debt securities and loans in the amortized cost portfolio. Previously, this item reported financial assets that were not listed on an active
market (Level 2 and Level 3) to Banks and customers

As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparison figures of the IFRS 9 first-time
adoption financial statements.
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Liabilities and equity items

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2018

10. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 54,188,823
10. a) Loans to banks 6,029,653 7,059,113
20. b) Due to customers 39,698,913 40,575,365
30. c) Debt securities issued 8,460,257 9,715,753
20. 40. Financial liabilities held for trading 73,515 75,820
30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value -
50. Financial liabilities measured at fair value 67,201
40. 60. Hedging derivatives 564,549 527,675
50. 70. Fair value change of financial liabilities in macro-hedge portfolios (+/-) 361,962 373,754
60. 80. Tax liabilities 264,790 231,849
(a) current 155,808 146,014
b) deferred 108,982 85,835
70. 90. Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - -
80. 100. | Other liabilities © 1,392,866 1,126,839
90. 110. Employee severance benefits 135,722 151,130
100. 120. | Provisions for risks and charges 388,612 433,953
a) financial guarantees and other commitments © 37,254
b) post-employment benefits and similar obligations 38,273 40,191
c) other provisions for risks and charges 313,085 393,762
110. 130. | Technical reserves - -
120. 140. Valuation reserves -142,181 -18,941
130. 150. | Redeemable shares - -
140. 160. Equity instruments 715,000 365,000
150. 170. Reserves 1,266,117 1,150,176
160. 180. Share premium reserve 3,117,708 2,997,386
170. | 190. | Share capital 962,672 934,838
180. | 200. | Treasury shares (+/-) - -4,065
190. | 210. | Minority interests (+/-) 185,496 259,479
200. | 220. | Profit (Loss) for the period 273,898 690,240
Total liabilities and equity 63,749,549 66,712,565

0 The “financial guarantees and other commitments” item shall report credit risk allowances resulting from commitments to disburse funds and from finan-
cial guarantees given, which were previously reported under Other liabilities
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INCOME STATEMENT

31 Dec. 2017

10. 10. Interest and similar income 927,732 1,016,183
Of which: interest income applying the effective interest rate method '©® 921,427
20. 20. Interest and similar expense 65,550 (149,960)
30. 30. Net interest income ) 993,282 866,223
40. 40. Fee and commission income 931,731 781,817
50. 50. Fee and commission expense (40,184) (47,756)
60. 60. Net fee and commission income 891,547 734,061
70. 70. Dividends and similar income 12,614 8,839
80 80 Net profit (loss) on trading activities 10,711 18,510
90 90 Net profit (loss) on hedging activities (10,832) (12,592)
100. | 100. | Profit (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: 31,951 26,316
a) financial assets measured at amortized cost 5,444
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 26,428
c) financial liabilities 79
a) loans (15,260)
b) financial assets available for sale 43,128
c) investments held to maturity -
d) financial liabilities (1,552)
110. | 110. | Net profit (loss) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 3,176
a) financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value -
b) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 3,176
Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (30)
120. | 120. | Net interest and other banking income 1,932,449 1,641,327
130. | 130. | Net losses/recoveries for credit risk on: (252,314) (237,536)
a) financial assets measured at amortized cost (251,366)
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (948)
a) loans (212,736)
b) financial assets available for sale ® (23,344)
c) investments held to maturity -
d) other financial activities (1,456)
140. Profits/Losses on contract modifications without derecognition (1,037)
150. | 140. | Net income from banking activities 1,679,098 1,403,791
160. | 150. | Net premium income - -
170. | 160. | Other net insurance income/expenses - -
180. | 170. | Net income from banking activities and insurance activities 1,679,098 1,403,791
190. | 180. | Administrative expenses: (1,455,586) (1,213,456)
a) personnel expenses (742,023) (610,772)
b) other administrative expenses (713,563) (602,684)
200. | 190. | Net provisions for risks and charges 23,378
a) commitments and guarantees issued 4,592
b) other net provisions 18,786
Net provisions for risks and charges (58,219)
210. | 200. | Net adjustments of/recoveries on property, plant and equipment (44,266) (32,163)
220. | 210. | Net adjustments of/recoveries on intangible assets (84,748) (71,877)
230. | 220. | Other operating expenses/income 294,346 770,410
240. | 230. | Operating costs (1,266,876) (605,305)
250. | 240. | Profit (losses) on equity investments 8,530 8,048
260. | 250. | Profit (losses) from property, plant and equipment and intangible assets measured at fair value - -
270. | 260. | Goodwill impairment - -
280. | 270. | Profit (losses) on disposals of investments 118 349
290. | 280. | Profit (Loss) before tax from continuing operations 420,870 806,883
300. | 290. | Taxes on income from continuing operations (128,817) (105,003)
310. | 300. | Profit (Loss) after tax from continuing operations 292,053 701,880
320. | 310. | Profit (Loss) after tax from discontinued operations - -
330. | 320. | Profit (Loss) for the period 292,053 701,880
340. | 330. | Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to minority interests (18,155) (11,640)
350. | 340. | Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to the Parent Company 273,898 690,240 *

) The 5th update of Circular 262 requires that differentials on hedging derivatives, related to single items/technical forms, be reported under interest income or interest expense
in accordance with the algebraic sign of interest (income or expense) of the single item/technical form that derivative contracts change. Before, the balance of all differentials on
hedging derivatives was reported, in accordance with the related algebraic sign, under interest income or interest expenses.
®The 5th update of Circular 262 requires that interest with time value effects, determined on impaired financial assets based on the original effective interest rate, be recognised
under interest and similar income. Previously, writebacks with time value effects, equal to interest accrued in the period based on the original effective interest rate, were reported
under net losses/recoveries on impairment of loans.

 Net profit as at 31 December 2017 took account of the badwill generated by the acquisition of the Fellini Banks
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As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparison figures of the IFRS 9 first-time
adoption financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
[loms T oo s 1 oo

10. Net profit (loss) for the FY 292,053 701,880
Other comprehensive income net of tax not recycled to profit or loss
20. Equity securities designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,945)
30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (changes in own credit rating)
40. Hedging of equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income -
50. 20. Property, Plant and Equipment -
60. 30. Intangible assets - -
70. 40. Actuarial profit (losses) on defined-benefit plans - -
80. 50. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (2,120) (794)
90. 60. Share of valuation reserves on equity investments measured using the equity method - -
Other comprehensive income after tax reclassified to profit or loss - (1,170)
100. | 70. Hedges of investments in foreign operations
110. | 80. Foreign exchange differences - -
120. | 90. Cash flow hedges - -
130. Hedging instruments (non-designated elements) - -
100. | Financial assets available for sale (4,398)
Fair Value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
140. income
150. 110. | Non-current assets held for sale -
160. | 120. | Share of valuation reserves on equity investments measured using the equity method - -
170. 130. Total other comprehensive income after taxes - 1,125
180. | 140. | Comprehensive income (item 10+170) (128,578) (5,236)
190. 150. | Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to Minority Interests 163,475 696,644
200. 160. | Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to the Parent Company 11,654 11,448
200. 160. | Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to the Parent Company 151,821 685,195

It is pointed out that the inclusion in comprehensive income of the item reporting “Financial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income” entails strong volatility that must be taken into account
when analyzing the table.

As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparison figures of the IFRS 9 first-time
adoption financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Share Share Valuation Equity Net Profit

capital: premium ) reserves (Loss) for
ordinary reserve m the period
earnings

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AS AT 31 DEC.
2017 934,838 2,997,386 | 1,164,710 -18,941 365,000 -4,065 690,240 6,114,634
MINORITY INTEREST AS
AT 31 DEC. 2017 100,356 135,025 9,787 2,939 695 - -963 11,640 259,479
CHANGE IN OPENING
BALANCE -470,799 911 -469,888
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AS AT 1 JANUARY
2018 934,838 2,997,386 718,488 -18,030 365,000 -4,065 690,240 5,669,323
MINORITY INTERESTS AS
AT 1 JANUARY 2018 100,356 135,025 -14,790 2,939 695 - -963 11,640 234,902

ALLOCATION OF NET
PROFIT FOR THE

PREVIOUS YEAR

Reserves - - 575,482 - - - - -575,482 -
Dividends and other - - - - - - - -126,398 -126,398
allocations

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD

Change in reserves - - 2,325 - - - - - 2,325
Transactions on equity 32 - - - - - - - 32
Issue of new shares 27,834 120,322 - - - - - - 148,156

Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - - -

Change in equity instruments - - -23,771 - - 350,000 - - 326,229
Charity - - 1,472 - - - - - 1,472
Consolidation adjustments - - 7,030 - -2,074 - 5,028 - 9,984

Shares and rights on shares
of the Parent Company
assigned to employees and

Directors - - - 25 - - - - 25
Changes in equity interests -35,412 -36,389 20,985 - - - - - -50,816
Comprehensive income - - - - -128,577 - - 292,053 163,476
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY AS AT 31 DEC.

2018 962,672 3,117,708 | 1,280,626 -142,181 715,000 - 273,898 6,193,214
MINORITY INTEREST AS

AT 31 DEC. 2018 64,976 98,636 6,595 2,939 -5,805 - - 18,155 185,496

The impact generated by the IFRS 9 first-time adoption on equity is reported in the “Change to opening bal-
ances” row.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT 31 December 2017

Share Share Valuation Equity | Treasury Net Profit | Shareholders’
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’

capital: premium Retained reserves | instruments shares (Loss) for Equity
ordinary reserve “ the period
earnings
EQUITY AS AT 31 DEC.

2016 876,762 2,735,462 | 1,093,360 | -14,534 -13,429 200,000 -4,035 208,124 5,081,710

MINORITY INTEREST AS
AT 31 DEC. 2016 61,070 99,941 31,181 2,939 887 -964 10,844 205,898

ALLOCATION OF NET
PROFIT FOR THE
PREVIOUS YEAR

Reserves - - 89,205 - - - - -89,205 -

Dividends and other - - - - - - - -129,763 -129,763
allocations

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD

Change in reserves - - -13 - - - - - -13

Transactions on equity - - - - - - - - -
Issue of new shares 60,506 263,544 - - - - - - 324,050

Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - - -

Change in equity

instruments - - -15,640 - - 165,000 - - 149,360
Charity - - 1,512 - - - - - 1,512
Consolidation adjustments -712 16,121 -3,794 - -26 - - - 11,589

Shares and rights on shares
of the Parent Company
assigned to employees and

directors - - - - - - - - -
Changes in equity interests 37,568 17,343 -21,314 - -442 - -29 - 33,126
Comprehensive income - - - - -5,236 - - 701,880 696,644
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY AS AT

31 DEC. 2017 934,838 2,997,386 | 1,164,710 | -14,534 -18,941 365,000 -4,065 690,240 6,114,634
MINORITY INTEREST AS

AT 31 DEC. 2017 100,356 135,025 9,787 2,939 695 - -963 11,640 259,479
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flow from operations 1,082,046 1,815,128
- profit (loss) for the period (+/-) 273,898 690,240
- "profit/losses on financial assets held for trading and on financial assets/liabilities measured at fair through profit
or loss(-/+)" 1,637 -7,131
- gains/losses on hedging activities (-/+) 10,832 8,307
- net losses/recoveries for credit risk on (+/-) 211,153 197,541
- net adjustments of/recoveries on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (+/-) 129,014 104,040
- Net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) -23,378 58,219
- Taxes and levies to be paid (+) 128,817 105,003
- net adjustments /recoveries on discontinued operations net of tax effect (-/+) - -
- Other adjustments (+/-) 350,073 658,909
2 Cash flow generated/absorbed by financial assets 391,196 -1,527,633
- Financial assets held for trading 15,066 23,618
Financial assets designated at fair value - -
- Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 2,890 -
- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -48,876
- Financial assets available for sale 1,807,440
- Financial assets measured at amortized cost 214,374
- Loans to banks: on demand -118,248
- Loans to banks: other receivables -2,044,954
- Loans to customers -1,470,902
- Other assets 207,742 275,413
3. Cash flow generated/absorbed by financial liabilities -3,413,256 3,331,074
- Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -3,301,861
- Loans to banks: on demand 131,276
- Loans to banks: other due and payables 589,967
- Due to customers 3,743,012
- Debt securities issued 165,703
- Financial liabilities held for trading -2,305 -37,479
- Other liabilities -109,090 -1,261,405
Net cash flow generated/absorbed by operating activities -1,940,014 3,618,569
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow generated by: 24,586 295,520
- sales of equity investments 11,731 10,038
- dividend received on equity investments 12,614 -
- sales of property, plant and equipment 241 8,839
- sales of intangible assets - 1,199
- sales of business units - -
2. Cash flow absorbed by: -126,966 -1,660,255
- purchases of equity investments -5,917 -21,799
- purchases of investments held to maturity -2,234,277
- purchases of property, plant and equipment -54,049 -36,528
- purchases of intangible assets -67,000 -60,517
- purchases of business units - 692,866
Net cash flow generated/absorbed by investing activities -102,380 -1,650,217
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
- issues/purchases of treasury shares 148,156 -221,550
- issues/purchases of equity instruments 326,229 149,360
- distribution of dividends and other -126,398 -129,763
Net cash flows generated/absorbed by funding activities 347,987 -201,953
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -1,694,407 1,766,399
[RECONCILATION
Financial Statement items 31,12,2018 31,12,2017
Opening cash and cash equivalents 1,990,365 223,966
Total net increase in cash and cash equivalents -1,694,407 1,766,399
Cash and cash equivalents: foreign exchange effect - -
Closing cash and cash equivalents 295,958 1,990,365

KEY: (+) generated/ from  (-) absorbed/used in

The statements of cash flows for the reporting period and for the previous one were prepared using the indirect method, based on which cash flows from
operating activities are represented by the profit or loss for the year, adjusted for the effects of non-monetary transactions.
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As set forth in the “Statement of compliance with the International Accounting Standards”, the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group, consistently with the choices made by the Crédit Agricole Group, has opted to exercise
the option provided for by IFRS 9 and IFRS 1, not to restate the comparison figures of the IFRS 9 first-time
adoption financial statements.

Consistently with the amendment to IAS 7, adopted with Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/1990 of 6 No-
vember 2017, to be applied as from the commencement date of the first financial year starting on or after 1
January 2017, the disclosures required by paragraph 44 B in order to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.

De 0 Changes from Changes from Changes Othe changes 31 Dec. 2018
cash flows obtaining or at fair value
generated by losing control

financing of subsidiaries
or other
businesses

Liabilities arising from
financing activities
(items 10, 20, 30 of Liabilities) 57,493,628

-3,144,867 -86,423

- 54,262,338
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PART A - ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

A.1 GENERAL
Section 1 — Statement of compliance with the International Accounting principles

The consolidated Financial Statements of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group have been prepared pursu-
ant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 38 of 28 February 2005, in accordance with the International Accounting
Standards - IAS/IFRS - issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the related inter-
pretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and endorsed by
the European Commission, as provided for by Regulation (EC) no. 1606 of 19 July 2002.

Therefore, the IAS/IFRS in force as at 31 December 2018 (including the interpretations documents called SIC
and IFRIC) have been applied, as endorsed by the European Commission and listed in detail in the specific
table in an annex to these Financial Statements.

The financial statements and the contents of the note to the financial statements have been prepared in com-
pliance with the provisions set down in Circular No. 262 “Banks’ financial statements: layout and preparation”
issued by the Bank of Italy on 22 December 2005, within the exercise of its powers as provided for in Article
9 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 38/2005 and in compliance with the subsequent updates issued, the latest
one is the 5th update published on 22 December 2017

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION AND ENTERED
INTO FORCE IN 2018

Standards, amendments or interpretations Date of publication Date of first application

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

Replacement of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

22 November 2016
(UE n° 2067/2016)

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers

Replacement of IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue

22 September 2016
(UE n° 1905/2016)

1 January 2018

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers

9 November 2017
(UE n° 1987/2017)

1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 Cycle:
* |AS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

¢ [IFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

7 February 2018
(UE n° 182/2018)

1 January 2018
1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and measurement of share-based payment
transactions

26 February 2018
(UE n° 289/2018)

1 January 2018

Amendment to IAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property:

Clarifying when assets are transferred to, or from, investment properties

14 March 2018
(UE 2018/400)

1 January 2018

Amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

3 November 2017
(UE n° 1988/2017)

1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Clarifications on IAS 21

3 April 2018
(UE n° 519/2018)

1 January 2018

The 2018 Financial Statements of the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group have been prepared for the first
time in accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with custom-

ers-.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” has replaced IAS 39 “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”.
The Standard is applicable for reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 was endorsed by
the European Union on 22 November 2016 and published in the Official Journal of the European Union on 29
November 2016.
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IFRS 9 lays down new principles on Classification & Measurement of financial instruments, credit risk meas-
urement (impairment) and on Hedge Accounting, excluding macro-hedges.

IFRS 9 shall apply retrospectively with mandatory effective date on 1 January 2018 with adjustments to open-
ing items on the first-adoption date; it does not require restatement of comparative data for the 2017 FY but it
provides for optional restatement. Having regard to the representation of IFRS 9 first-time adoption effects, the
Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group has decided to exercise the option provided for in paragraph 7.2.15 of IFRS
9 and in paragraphs E1 and E2 of IFRS 1 “First time adoption of International Financial Reporting”; in accordance
with these paragraphs, without prejudice to the retrospective application of the new measurement and recogni-
tion requirements of the standard, restating of prior year figures in the first-time adoption financial statements is
not mandatory. In accordance with the instructions contained in the document issuing the 5th update of Bank
of Italy Circular no. 262 “Banks’ financial statements: layout and preparation”, banks that opt for the exemption
from the obligation to restate comparative figures shall nevertheless include a statement of reconciliation in their
first financial statements prepared in accordance with the new update of Circular no. 262 and the statement of
reconciliation shall set forth the method use and shall reconcile the figures as per the latest approved financial
statements and the first financial statements in accordance with the new requirements. This information is given
below, in the “Information on the first-time adoption of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments” paragraph, in a table, in
accordance with the independence given to the relevant corporate bodies as regards the form and contents of
such information. For more exhaustive reporting on IFRS 9 developments, please refer to Part A.2- Part reporting
on the main financial statement items.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with customers” has replaced IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Reve-
nue, as well as all related interpretations, namely IFRIC 13 customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements
for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from customers and SIC 31 Revenue — Barter
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. In accordance with this standard, revenue from transaction asso-
ciated with provision of services shall be recognised when control on the service provision is transferred to the
customer, if it can be reliably estimated. This transfer may occur as the service is provided (ongoing service) or
on a specific date (one-off service). Fees and commissions to be paid or collected, or not yet earned, shall be
progressively recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied over time. As regards the application of IFRS
15, based on the analyses carried out, the accounting treatment of the main cases of revenues from contracts
with customers was found already compliant with the new standard; therefore, no material quantitative impacts
have been generated on the Group’s equity as recognised by the first-time adoption of the standard.

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION BUT NOT YET
ENTERED INTO FORCE

For its financial statements as at 31 December 2018, the Group did not adopt standards and interpretations
that, on 31 December 2018, had already been published by the IASB and endorsed by the European Union,
but that are applicable to reporting starting on or after 1 January 2019.

Standards, amendments or interpretations Date of publication Date of first application

IFRS 16 Leases 31 October 2017 1° January 2019
Replacement of IAS 17 for recognition of leases (UE n° 1986/2017)

Amendment to IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 22 March 2018 1° January 2019
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (UE n° 498/2018)

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 23 October 2018 1° January 2019
Interpretation of IAS 12 on measurement and recognition of tax assets or liabilities in (UE 2018/1595)

when there is uncertainty in the tax legislation application

IFRS 16 “Leases”, applicable to annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2019, shall replace IAS 17
and all related interpretations (IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives, SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease).

The new standard changes the recognition of leases by the lessee, eliminating the distinction between finance and
operating leases and requiring the use of just one accounting model for lessees, going from a “Risk and rewards”
approach to a “Rights of use” approach.
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Therefore, the reporting entity shall recognize all leases in which it is the lessee in the balance sheet:

- future lease payments shall be recognised under financial liabilities as Lease Liability, which reports the
obligation to make future payments and is discounted at the marginal rate of discount (the liability de-
creases in accordance with payments made);

- fheright of use, expressed in the contracts, shall be recognised reporting the value of the asset as a sep-
arate lease component, under property, plant and equipment and shall be calculated as the present value
of the future lease payments, with a subsequent impact on RWAs.

In the income statement:

e the asset recognised as right of use shall be depreciated over the lease term of validity on a straight-line
basis (impact on income from operations);

¢ interest expenses shall be calculated on the financial liability upon the lease payments (impact on finan-
cial expenses and income from banking activities);

e |ease payments shall no longer be recognised under administrative expenses.

In 2018, the work analysis continued involving various structures of the Bank, with a special focus on the
development of IT solutions for the management of all contracts falling within the scope of application of the
new standard.

Upon its first-time adoption, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group applied the modified retrospective ap-
proach pursuant to paragraph C.5 b) of IFRS 16 recognizing the cumulative effect of its first-time adoption as
at the transition date (1 January 2019); consequently, no impacts are expected on the Group’s equity. Con-
versely, the adoption of the new standard is expected to generate impacts on capital ratios, which have been
estimated as a decrease of approximately 9 bps in the CET1 Capital ratio and of approximately 14 bps in the
Total Capital ratio, subsequent to the increase in RWAs.

In determining the scope of application of the new standard, the Group exercised the options for the exemp-
tions listed below:

e short-term leases (with a contractual term equal to or less than 12 months);
e |eases of low-value assets (lease contracts for assets worth less than euro 5 thousand).

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION

The standards and interpretations that, as at 31 December 2018, had been published by the IASB but had not
yet been endorsed by the European Union are not applicable by the Group:

Document title Issued by the IASB on Date of entry into force Expected date of

IASB document of the Expected date of endorsement by the EU
endorsement by the EU

Standards

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts January 2014 (Note 1) (Note 1)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts May 2017 1 January 2021 TBD

Amendments

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor September 2014 | Deferred until the completion Postponed pending the

and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to of the IASB project on the completion of the IASB

IFRS 10 and IAS 28) equity method | project on the equity method

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint

Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28) October 2017 1 January 2019 2019

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards

(2015-2017 Cycle) December 2017 1 January 2019 2019

Plan Amendment, Curtailment (Amendments

to IAS 19) February 2018 1 January 2019 2019

Amendments to References to the Conceptual

Framework in IFRS Standards March 2018 1 January 2020 2019

Definition of business (Amendments to IFRS 3) October 2018 1 January 2020 2019

Definition of material (Amendments to IAS 1
and IAS 8) October 2018 1 January 2020 2019

(Note 1) IFRS 14 entered into force on 1 January 2016, but the European Commission decided to suspend the endorsement process and to wait for the new
standard on “rate-regulated activities”
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On 18 May 2017, the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) published the new IFRS 17 “Insurance
contracts”. This standard shall apply to reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2021, granted that it
is endorsed by the European Union.

Specifically, the new standard provides for three approaches to measure insurance contracts:

1. building Block Approach (BBA) - the general measurement approach for long-term contracts;
2. premium Allocation Approach (PAA) - a streamlined model (mainly for short-term contracts);
3. variable Fee Approach (VFA) - for contracts with direct participation features.

ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS 2015-2017 CYCLE

The IASB published several amendments to and interpretations of the existing standards, which generated
no considerable impacts for the Group. They include the amendments to IAS 12 - Income taxes (which con-
firmed the goodness of the accounting choice made by the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group as regards
recognition in the Income Statement of the tax effect resulting from the deductibility of the remuneration paid
to subscribers of the Additional Tier 1 instruments issued by Crédit Agricole ltalia since December 2016),
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, IFRS 3/IFRS 11 Business Combinations, IAS 19 Employee Benefits and a second
amendment to IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures applicable to reporting periods starting
on or after 1 January 2019. The IFRIC 23 interpretation “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” shall be
applicable to reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2019. This interpretation shall be mandatorily
applied to reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2019 and it is expected to generate no material
impacts for the Group.

BANK OF ITALY - CIRCULAR NO. 262 “BANKS’ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: LAYOUT AND PREPARA-
TION” - 6TH UPDATE

On 30 October 2018, the Bank of Italy published the 6th update of its Circular no. 262 of 22 December 2005,
in order to implement the new IFRS 16 “Leases”, which was endorsed with Regulation (EU) 2017/1986 of
31 October 2017 and which shall replace IAS 17 for the accounting treatment of leases in reporting periods
starting on or after 1 January 2019. It also implemented the subsequent amendments to other international
accounting standards, including IAS 40 on investment property, aimed at ensuring overall consistency of the
accounting framework.

The update also implemented IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, which has clarified that the
reporting obligations in force as regards equity investments shall apply also to equity investments held for
sale; the reporting in the note to the financial statements on credit risk has also been supplemented requiring
more information on financial assets classified as “non-current assets held for sale and discontinued opera-
tions” pursuant to IFRS 5.

The update, which is a full revision of the Circular, shall apply to the financial statements with reporting dates
on or after 31 December 2019.

Section 2 - General accounting standards

The Annual Report and Financial Statements consist of the Balance Sheet, the Income Statement, the State-
ment of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the
Note to the Financial Statements, as well as of the Management Report on the performance of operations, on
the profits (losses) made and on the Group’s financial and cash flow position.

In accordance with Article 5 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 38/2005, the euro has been used as the reporting
currency. The amounts in the Financial Statements, in the Note to the Financial Statements and in the Man-
agement Report are expressed in thousands of euro, where not otherwise specified

The Annual Report and Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with the general presentation
principles set down by IAS 1 and with the specific accounting standards endorsed by the European Commis-
sion and reported in Part A.2 of this Note.

No exceptions were made in applying the IASs/IFRSs.
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The financial statements are compliant with the layouts and requirements set down in the Bank of Italy Circular
no. 262 of 22 December 2005 “Banks’ financial statements: layout and preparation” (5th update published on
22 December 2017).

The Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018 have been prepared on a going-concern
basis, since the Group is believed to continue in operation in the foreseeable future.

As regards the reporting required pursuant to IFRS 7 on the risks which the Group is exposed to, appropriate
information is provided in the Management Report and in the Note to the Financial Statements, specifically in
Section E.

The Note to the Financial Statements also reports the verifications that were carried out in order to assess any
impairment of financial assets and intangible assets (including goodwill).

USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS IN PREPARING THE ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

To prepare the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements, estimates and assumptions must be
made, which can generate significant effects on the values recognised in the Balance Sheet and in the In-
come Statement, as well as on the information on contingent assets and liabilities reported.

The estimation process requires the use of the information that is available at the relevant time and of sub-
jective assessments.

By their very nature, the estimates and assumptions used may vary from one period to another. Therefore, it
cannot be ruled out that the recognised values for this reporting period may vary, even to a significant extent,
in future periods, subsequent to any changes in the subjective assessments used.

The main instances that require the use of subjective assessments to be made by the Senior Management
are the following:

e quantifying losses resulting from the impairment of loans and of other financial assets in general;

e using measurement models for the recognition of the fair value of financial instruments that are not listed
on active markets;

using measurement models for equity investments;

assessing the consistency of the value of goodwill and of the other intangible assets;

quantifying the provisions for staff and for risks and charges;

estimating the recoverability of deferred tax assets;

calculating the fair value of financial instruments to be used for financial reporting purposes.

The description of the accounting policies applied to the main aggregates reported in the financial statements
provides detailed information on the major assumptions made and subjective assessments used in preparing the
financial statements.

CONTENTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK OF ITALY - CIRCULAR NO. 262 OF 22 DECEMBER 2015 “BANKS’ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
LAYOUT AND PREPARATION” - 5TH UPDATE

On 22 December 2017, the Bank of Italy issued the 5th update of Circular no. 262 of 22 December 2005
“Banks’ financial statements: layout and preparation” in order to implement IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(which was endorsed with Regulation (EU) 2016/2067 of 22 November 2016) and the subsequent amend-
ments to other international accounting standards, including IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

The update also covers the new IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with customers” (which was endorsed
with Regulation (EU) 2016/1905 of 22 September 2016). The update, which is a full revision of the Circular,
shall apply to the financial statements with reporting dates on or after 31 December 2018.

The main developments in the regulation on financial statements concern:

1. classification and measurement of financial assets: the financial statement layouts and the table in the
note to the financial statements are compliant with the new reporting approach by accounting portfolios
of financial instruments required by IFRS 9 (financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss,
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financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets meas-
ured at amortized cost);

2. impairment model based on the recognition of expected losses: the note to the financial statements has
been amended to comply with the reporting requirements (qualitative and quantitative) concerning the
methods to manage credit risk and the recognition and measurement of expected losses pursuant to
IFRS 7;

3. hedging policies: the new reporting requirements pursuant to IFRS 7 having regard to IFRS 9 have been
implemented. However, IFRS 9, at paragraph 7.2.21, gives the option to reporting entities to continue to
apply IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to hedging policies. The bank in-
termediaries exercising that option shall report the required information in the ways they deem the most
appropriate.

On the one hand, the amendments have continued to take into account the need to ensure that financial reporting
is as consistent as possible with the EU harmonized supervisory reporting of consolidated financial information
(FINREP); on the other hand, they have continued to consider the need to confirm some information, currently
included in the financial statements, which is relevant for correct assessment of intermediaries’ operations.

Furthermore, the note to the financial statements complies with the reporting requirements pursuant to Principle
8 “Disclosure” of EBA “Guidelines on credit institutions’ credit risk management practices and accounting for
expected credit losses”.

As regards comparative information (T-1), the Bank of Italy has specified that, in case the reporting entity exercises
the option not to restate the comparative figures pursuant to paragraphs E1 and E2 of IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standards”, its first financial statements prepared in accordance with this up-
date shall include a statement of reconciliation setting forth the approach used and reconciling the figures as per
the latest approved financial statements and the first financial statements prepared in accordance with the new
requirements. The relevant corporate bodies are free to decide the form and contents of such disclosure.

Within its First Time Adoption of IFRS 9, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group exercised the option, as provided
for by the transitional provisions of the aforementioned standards, not to restate comparative figures; therefore,
the impacts resulting from the first-time adoption have been reported with an adjustment of the consolidated eqg-
uity opening balances as at 1 January 2018 and are reported in a specific section. The balance sheet and income
statement balances for the previous financial year, as prepared pursuant to IAS 39, are not fully comparable to the
new accounting categories and to the related measurement bases pursuant to the new standard. As regards the
closing balances of the previous year, in order to ensure the best possible comparability of the relevant items, the
Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group opted for:

- reporting the figures of balance sheet and income statement items not impacted by IFRS9 under the
same financial statement item;

- separately reporting the financial statement items covering the financial and P/L balances of financial
instruments within the scope of application of IFRS 9; therefore, the closing balances of such items as at
31 December 2018 are not stated but are reported under the new financial statement items provided for
by Circular no. 262.

This is why the tables in the fair value reporting section and in the explanatory notes, show, along with the
data as at 31 December 2018, the comparative balance only for the items that, in the financial statements,
have a balance both for the reporting and for the previous one. Otherwise, the tables are given in double
(tables as at 31 December 2018 and, separately, tables as at 31 December 2017) as these data are not fully
comparable.

BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT

The Balance Sheet and Income Statement contain items, sub-items and further information (the “of which”
for items and sub-items) and comply with the templates supplied by the Bank of Italy with Circular No. 262 of
22 December 2005 (5th update published on 22 December 2017).

In order to facilitate understanding of the figures, the statements are given in full including also the items with
no amounts for the reporting year, and with no amounts for the previous year. In the Income Statement, rev-
enues are set forth without a sign, while expense figures are set forth in parenthesis.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The statement of comprehensive income consist of items showing the changes in the value of the assets
recognised in the year as balancing items of the valuation reserves, net of the related tax effect.

As for the Balance Sheet and the Income Statement, in the layouts, in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s
definition, the items with no amounts for the reporting year, and with no amounts for the previous one, have
been stated also.

Negative amounts are set forth in parenthesis.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In order to facilitate understanding of the figures, the rows and columns of the Statement of Changes in Equity
were inverted with respect to the same statement layout provided for by the above Bank of Italy Circular No.
262/2005. The statement shows the composition and movements of the shareholders’ equity items during the
reporting year and in the previous one, broken down into share capital (ordinary shares and savings shares),
capital reserves, retained earnings reserves, comprehensive income and net profit or loss.

The value of treasury shares is deducted from equity.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statements of cash flows for the reporting period and for the previous one were prepared using the indi-
rect method, based on which cash flows from operating activities are represented by the profit or loss for the
year, adjusted for the effects of non-monetary transactions.

Cash flows are broken down into flows generated by operating activities, investment activities and funding
activities.

In the Statement, cash flows generated in the period are reported without sign, while those absorbed are
reported with a negative sign.

CONTENTS OF THE NOTE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Note to the Financial Statements contains the information required by Bank of Italy Circular no. 262/2005,
with its updates and specifications already applicable, as well as further information required by the interna-
tional accounting standards.

As for the Balance Sheet and the Income Statement, in the statements, in accordance with the Bank of ltaly’s
definition, the items with no amounts for the reporting year, and with no amounts for the previous one, have
been stated also.

In the tables relating to the Income statement items, revenues are set forth without a sign, whereas expense
figures are set forth in parenthesis.

Section 3 - Scope and methods of consolidation
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

In addition to the Parent Company, Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A., the consolidation perimeter includes its sub-
sidiaries and associates specified below.

In accordance with IFRS 10, Subsidiaries are companies in which Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., directly or
indirectly, holds at the same time:

e the power to influence the Investee’s relevant activities, i.e. the activities that significantly affect the in-
vestee’s returns;

e exposure and/or rights to variable returns of the Investee;

e the ability to exercise its power over the Investee to affect the amount of its returns.
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The companies in which Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., directly or indirectly, holds over 50% of the rights to vote
in the General Meeting of Shareholders are considered subsidiaries.

Control exists also where the Group, even though not holding the majority of the voting rights, has sufficient
rights to unilaterally manage and direct the investee’s relevant activities or where it holds:

substantial potential voting rights through underlying call options or convertible instruments;
rights that result from contractual agreements and that, combined with its voting rights, make the Group
actually able to manage and direct production processes, other management or financial activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the investee’s returns;

e power to affect, under the investee’s articles of association or other agreements, its governance and de-
cision-making processes concerning relevant activities;

e the majority of voting rights under formally executed agreements with other holders of voting rights (for
example, voting agreements and shareholders’ agreements).

Special-purpose entities/special-purpose vehicles (SPE/SPV) have also been included, when the require-
ments are met, also irrespective of the existence of a majority shareholding.

Associates, i.e. subject to significant influence, are companies in which Crédit Agricole Italia holds, directly
or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting rights or has the power to participate in determining the financial and
operating policies of the Investee, despite holding less than 20% of the voting rights, due to specific legal ties
such as being party to shareholders’ voting agreements.

CONSOLIDATION METHODS

As regards consolidation methods, subsidiaries, joint ventures and investees on which the Group exercises
significant influence have been consolidated on a one-line basis in accordance with the equity method.

Full consolidation involves the line-by-line aggregation of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement items.

After attributing the relevant portion of the equity and profits or losses to minority interests, under a separate
dedicated item, the value of the equity investment is derecognised with the remaining value of the equity of
the subsidiary as the balancing item.

Positive differences resulting from this operation are reported under “Intangible assets” as goodwill or other
intangible assets, after recognition- where any - under other asset and liability items of the subsidiary. Nega-
tive differences are taken to the Income Statement.

Business combinations are recognised using the acquisition method provided for by IFRS 3, applied start-
ing from the date of acquisition, that is to say, from the moment in which control of the business is actually
achieved In accordance with this method, the identifiable assets acquired and the identifiable liabilities
taken (including contingent ones) shall be recognised at their respective fair values as at the acquisition date.
Moreover, for each business combination, any minority interests in the acquired company may be recognised
at fair value or proportionally to the minority interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquired company.

Profit or losses of a subsidiary acquired in the period are reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements
starting from the date of acquisition. Conversely, profit or losses of a subsidiary sold in the period are reported
in the Consolidated Financial Statements up to the date on which control is transferred

Equity investments in joint ventures or the companies on which the Group exercises significant influence
(associates) have been consolidated on a one-line basis, with the equity method.

Consolidation using the equity method provides for initial recognition of the equity investment at cost and,
subsequently, for its value adjustment based on the portion held of the investee’s equity. Any differences
between the value of the equity investment and the equity portion held are included in the book value of the
investee.

The Group’s share of the subsidiary’s profit or loss for the year is recognised under a specific item in the con-
solidated income statement.

The other main consolidation operations include:
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e elimination of dividends paid or declared by consolidated companies;

e elimination of significant intercompany transactions from the balance sheet or income statement;

e elimination of gains and losses resulting from intercompany sale and purchase transactions and relating
to amounts included in equity;

e adjustments needed to harmonize accounting standards within the Group;

e where applicable, recognition of the tax effects of any adjustments to harmonize the bases for the meas-
urement of financial statement items or other consolidation adjustments.

The reporting date of the Financial Statements of the Parent Company and of the other companies consoli-
dated on a line-item basis is 31 December 2018.

Where necessary — and with the exception of marginal instances — any Financial Statements prepared by the
consolidated companies on the basis of other accounting standards are adjusted to be fully compliant with
the Group’s accounting policies. In a few marginal instances, the companies do not apply the IASs/IFRSs
and, therefore, for such companies it was assessed that application of the IASs/IFRSs would have caused no
material effects on the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group.

1. Equity investments in subsidiaries
The following table shows the equity investments included within the scope of consolidation, reporting:

the consolidation method;

the type of control;

the Investee Company;

the percentage of voting rights held by the Investor.

Company name Type of Equity investment available
i (1)
s I

A. COMPANIES
Parent Company
Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. Parma, Italy
A1. COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED ON A LINE-ITEM
BASIS
1. Crédit Agricole FriulAdria S.p.A. Porden(l)tmle, 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 80.95% 81.33% (2)
aly
2. Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A. La Speltzi?, 1 Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. 80.00% 80.00%
aly
3. Crédit Agricole Leasing lItalia S.r.I. Milan, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 85.00% 85.00%
4. Sliders S.r.l. Milan, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
5. Mondo Mutui Cariparma S.r.l. Milan, Italy 4 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. | 19.00% 19.00%
6. Crédit Agricole Italia OBG S.r.l. Milan, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. | 60.00% 60.00%
7. Credit Agricole Group Solutions S.c.p.a. Parma, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 86.60% 86.60%
Crédit Agricole FriulAdria S.p.A. 8.75% 8.75%
Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A. 2.50% 2.50%
Crédit Agricole Leasing Italia S.r.l. 1.19% 1.19%
8. ltalstock S.r.l. 0 Milan, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
9. Crédit Agricole Real Estate Italia S.r.l. Parma, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
10. Unibanca Immobiliare S.r.l. Cesena, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
11. Carice Immobiliare S.p.A. Cesena, ltaly 1 Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
12. Agricola Le Cicogne S.r.l. Faenza, Italy 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 50.01% 50.01%
18. San Piero Immobiliare Srl Cesena, Italy 1 Unibanca Immobiliare S.r.l. | 100.00% 100.00%
14. San Giorgio Immobiliare S.r.l. Cesena, Italy 1 Unibanca Immobiliare S.r.l. | 100.00% 100.00%
15. San Genesio Immobiliare S.p.A. San Minilatcl), 1 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. | 100.00% 100.00%
taly

0'in liquidation as of 22 January 2019
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Joints ventures and investees subject to significant influence

Company name Type of Equity investment avallable
(1)

Consolidated using the equity method

1. Fiere di Parma S.p.A. Parma, Italy 4 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 32.42% 32.42%
2. Le Village by CA Milano S.r.I. Milan, Italy 4 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 38.91% 38.91%
3. Cassa di Risparmio di Volterra S.p.A. Volterra, Italy 4 Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. 20.00% 20.00%

™ Type of control:

1= Majority of the voting rights in the General Meeting of Shareholders

2= dominant influence in the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 3= agreement with other shareholders

4 = Investees subject to significant influence

5= unitary management pursuant to Article 26, paragraph 1, of Italian Legislative Decree No. 87/92 6= unitary management pursuant to Article 26, paragraph
2, of Italian Legislative Decree No. 87/92 7= joint control

@ The percentage has been calculated taking account of the treasury shares held by the Bank as at the reporting date

2. Significant considerations and assumptions to determine the area of consoli-
dation

As specified above, subsidiaries are companies regarding which Crédit Agricole Italia is the investor that is
exposed to or has right to variable returns from its involvement with such investees and, at the same time,
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over such investees.

Specifically, the Group takes the following factors into account to assess whether control is held:

e the investee’s purpose and structure, in order to identify the entity’s objectives, its relevant activities, i.e.
the activities that significantly affect the investee’s returns, and how such activities are directed;

e power, in order to understand whether the Group has contractual rights giving the ability to direct the
relevant activities;

e exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, in order to assess whether
the return received by the Group could potentially change based on the investee’s performance.

In accordance with IFRS 10, “relevant activities” are only those activities that significantly affect the investee’s returns.

In general terms, when relevant activities are directed through voting rights, the following factors give evi-
dence of control:

e holding, directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, more than half of the voting rights of an investee,
unless, in exceptional cases, it can be clearly proved that holding more than half of the voting rights does
not amount to holding control;

¢ holding half or less than half the voting rights that can be exercised at the general meeting and practical
ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally through:

o control over more than half of the voting rights through a contractual arrangement with other investors
holding voting rights;

o the power to determine the investee’s operating and financing policies pursuant to the entity’s articles
of association or to a contract arrangement;

o the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or of the equiv-
alent corporate governance body;

o the power to exercise the majority of the voting rights at meetings of the board of directors or of the
equivalent corporate governance body.

In order to exercise power, the rights held by the Group over the investee must be substantive; in order for
rights to be substantive, their holder must have the practical ability to exercise them when decisions on rele-
vant activities are made.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights, if substantive, are taken into account in assessing whether
the power to direct another entity’s operating and financing policies is held.

Sometimes, the Group may have the “practical ability” to exercise control over some entities, when, despite
holding less than a majority of the voting rights, it has rights that are sufficient to give it the power to direct
the investee’s relevant activities unilaterally.
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Structured entities - securitization special-purpose entities. To verify whether the requirements are met for
control on special-purpose entities, the factors taken into considerations are the ability to exercise power on
the investee’s relevant activities to the investor’s advantage and the ultimate purpose of the transaction, as
well as the involvement of the investor/sponsor in structuring the transaction.

For these entities, the subscription of essentially all notes by companies of the Group is considered evidence,
especially in the structuring phase, of the power to manage the entity’s relevant activities to influence the
returns on the transaction.

3. Investments in subsidiaries with minority interests

3.1 MINORITY INTERESTS, AVAILABILITY OF MINORITY INTEREST VOTES AND DIVIDENDS DISTRIB-
UTED TO MINORITY INTERESTS

Dividends distributed to
minority interests

Dividends distributed to

Company hame

% minority interests

1. Crédit Agricole FriulAdria S.p.A. 19.05% 18.67% 8,246
2. Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A. 20.00% 20.00% 5,024
3. Crédit Agricole Leasing Italia S.r.l. 15.00% 15.00% -

3.2 INVESTMENTS IN COMAPNIES WITH SIGNIFICANT MINORITY INTERESTS: FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
Total assets Cash and Financial Property, Financial | Shareholders’ | Net interest Net banking
cash assets plant and liabilities equity income income
equivalents equipment
and
intangible
assets
1. Crédit Agricole
FriulAdria S.p.A. 10,684,146 42,424 10,137,192 175,398 9,622,915 635,445 177,407 338,096
2. Crédit Agricole
Carispezia S.p.A. 4,495,022 29,485 4,277,134 48,228 4,128,886 200,367 76,863 157,117
3. Crédit Agricole
Leasing ltalia S.r.l. 1,981,418 1 1,907,322 24,545 1,817,710 99,137 28,471 29,394

Operating Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss) Profit | Profit (Loss) for Other income Comprehensive
costs before taxes after taxes (Loss) from the period (1) components, income
rom continuing from discontinuing net of taxes (2) @) =)+
operations continuing operations,
operations net of
taxes
1. Crédit Agricole
FriulAdria S.p.A. -206,140 91,283 61,416 0 61,416 -22,327 39,089
2. Crédit Agricole
Carispezia S.p.A. -93,592 51,624 35,026 0 35,026 -10,373 24,653
3. Crédit Agricole
Leasing Italia S.r.I. -6,670 9,617 6,707 0 6,707 2 6,709

5. Other information

In the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018, the company LE VILLAGE BY CA MILANO
S.r.l. was consolidated with the equity method; this company was incorporated in July 2018 and its activities
aim at supporting the development of startups, both in their beginning and subsequent growth, through a
network of various types of partners and investors.

In 2018 the mergers by absorption, into the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia, of Cassa di Risparmio di
San Miniato (on 24 June), of Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena (on 22 July) and Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini (on
9 September) were finalized, ended with the IT systems migration.
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Share Capital increase

In the first half of the reporting year, in order to handle the impacts resulting, on the one hand, from the end
of the Basel 3 phase-in arrangements and, on the other hand, from the initial application of the new IFRS9,
the Group strengthened its capital, specifically its Common Equity Tier 1, with a share capital increase of euro
147 million (of which: euro 26,678,766 to share capital and euro 120,321,234 to share premium reserve) made
by the Parent Company Crédit Agricole Italia.

Subsequent to the merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di San Miniato S.p.A. into Crédit Agricole
Italia S.p.A., finalized on 24 June 2018, another 556,030 shares in Crédit Agricole Italia were issued, having
a nominal value of euro 1 (with no share premium), for the exchange to the minority shareholders of the ab-
sorbed bank.

Subsequent to the merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena S.p.A. into Crédit Agricole Italia
S.p.A., finalized on 22 July 2018, another 430,711 shares in Crédit Agricole Italia were issued, having a nom-
inal value of euro 1 (with no share premium), for the exchange to the minority shareholders of the absorbed
bank.

Subsequent to the merger by absorption of Cassa di Risparmio di Rimini S.p.A. into Crédit Agricole ltalia
S.p.A., finalized on 9 September 2018, another 168,693 shares in Crédit Agricole Italia were issued, having
a nominal value of euro 1 (with no share premium), for the exchange to the minority shareholders of the ab-
sorbed bank.

Subsequent to the exercise of warrants on shares of the former Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena Spa, which
it had issued within its share capital increase on 23 September 2016, another 108 shares in Crédit Agricole
[talia S.p.A. were issued having a nominal value of euro 1.

Section 4 — Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to the exercise of warrants on shares of the former Cassa di Risparmio di Cesena Spa, which it
had issued within its share capital increase on 23 September 2016, another 20,625 shares in Crédit Agricole
ltalia S.p.A. were issued on 9 April 2019 having a nominal value of euro 1.

On 26 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders of Crédit Agricole Cariparma
S.p.A. resolved to change the company’s name into Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A.

In 2019, the rationalization of the Group’s physical structures is going to continue with the closure of 102
branches.

On 16 November 2018, the Boards of Directors of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. and of its subsidiary Crédit
Agricole Carispezia approved the plan for the merger by absorption of Crédit Agricole Carispezia into Crédit
Agricole ltalia pursuant to Articles 2501-ter and 2505 of the Italian Civil Code. On 12 February 2019, the ECB
authorized this combination.

On 26 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A.
resolved a share capital increase, for a consideration and ruling out option rights, pursuant to Article 2343-ter,
paragraph 2, letter b), Article 2440 and Article 2441, paragraph 4 of the Italian Civil Code, of a nominal amount
of euro 16,539,731.00 through the issue of 16,539,731 ordinary shares having a nominal value of euro 1.00
each, exclusively intended for the subscription of Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio della Spezia, to be paid in
through a contribution in kind of the

33,079,463 shares held by Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio della Spezia into Crédit Agricole Carispezia S.p.A.,
representing 18.5% of the latter’s share capital.

Subsequent to the aforementioned resolution, the authorized share capital of Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A.
amounts to euro 979,211,943.00 and is subdivided into 979,211,943 ordinary shares having a nominal value
of euro 1 each.

The merger is expected to become legally effective by the end of July 2019.
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Section 5 - Other Matters

OPTION FOR THE ITALIAN NATIONAL TAX CONSOLIDATION

In March 2016, the national tax consolidation scheme was adopted, with effects since the 2015 tax period, by
the Crédit Agricole S.A. Group in Italy; such scheme was introduced with Article 6 of Italian Legislative Decree
No. 147 of 14 September 2015, according to which also the ltalian “sister” companies, whose controlling
Company is resident in a EU Member State, may exercise the option for consolidated taxation.

18 Companies of the Group opted to join the tax consolidation scheme and, having been designated by Crédit Ag-
ricole S.A., Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A. has undertaken the role of Consolidating Entity. The option for the Tax Con-
solidation scheme was renewed also for the 2018-2020 three-year period and 5 new companies joined the scheme.

This regime provides for the consolidated companies to transfer their taxable income (or their tax loss) to the Con-
solidating Entity Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A., which calculates a single taxable income or a single tax loss of the
Group for the Italian corporate income tax (IRES), as the algebraic sum of the income and/or losses of the single
Companies, and recognises a single tax account payable to or receivable from the Italian Inland revenue Service.

As balancing item of taxes/lower taxes for tax losses and Allowance for Corporate Equity (ACE) benefits to
be transferred to the consolidation scheme or withholdings, detractions and the like, the companies in the
consolidation scheme recognise due and payables/receivables from the consolidating entity.

In its separate Financial Statements, the Consolidating Entity recognises matching items of due and payables
to/receivables from the entities in the consolidation scheme. Specifically, the intra-group balances resulting
from the tax consolidation scheme are recognised in the items:

e “Financial assets measured at amortized cost - loans to banks”, or “Financial assets measured at amor-
tized cost - loans to customers”, in accordance with the kind of counterparty, for estimating the corporate
income tax (IRES) transferred by the member entities to the tax consolidation scheme;

e “Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost - due to banks”, or “Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost - due to customers”, in accordance with the kind of counterparty, for the transfer of tax
losses or ACE benefits by the member entities to the tax consolidation scheme.

Finally, the tax consolidation scheme’s tax account payable to or receivable from the ltalian Inland Revenue Agen-
cy is recognised under current tax liabilities or assets based on whether the IRES payable amount is higher or
lower than the down-payments made.

OPTION FOR THE VAT GROUP

In November 2018, the option for a VAT Group scheme pursuant to Article 1 paragraph 24 of Italian Law no.
232 of 11 December 2016 was exercised, with effects as of 1 January 2019; the VAT Group consists of the
companies based in Italy having at the same time financial, economic and organisational links in force be-
tween them, as provided for by Italian Ministerial Decree of 6 April 2018 and by Circular no. 19/2018.

The VAT Group consists of 15 CA entities and Crédit Agricole Italia S.p.A. is the VAT Group Representative Member.

Thanks to this scheme, the member entities operate, for VAT purposes, as a single taxable person in their trans-
actions with external companies, with a single VAT registration number. The main advantage generated by the
exercise of this option is that, general, the transactions between the Group member entities are not subject to VAT.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements are audited by EY S.p.A, implementing the Reso-
lution passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 24 April 2012, whereby this Firm was assigned the
audit task for the period 2012-2020.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018 of the Crédit Agricole
Italia Banking Group were approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 26 March 2019 and the
Board authorized their publication, also pursuant to IAS 10.
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A.2 THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE ACCOUNTS/MAIN ITEMS OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (IFRS 9, IAS 39 AND IAS 32)

DEFINITIONS

IAS 32 defines a financial instrument as any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity, or any contract establishing contractual rights and
obligations to receive or deliver cash or other assets.

Derivative instruments are financial assets or liabilities the value of which evolves in accordance with that on
an underlying instrument; they require low or no initial investment and are settled at a later date.

Financial assets and liabilities have been recognised in the financial statements in accordance with IFRS 9,
as endorsed by the European Union.

IFRS 9 regulates the bases for:

1. classification and measurement of financial instruments;
2. impairment of exposures for credit risk deterioration;
3. hedge accounting, excluding macro hedging.

However, it is pointed out that the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group, in accordance with the instructions of
its Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A., has exercised the option, which is given to IFRS 9 first-time adop-
ters, to continue to fully apply IAS 39 as regards hedge accounting. Therefore, all hedges have remained with-
in the IAS 39 scope, pending the future application of the new “dynamic risk management accounting model”.

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
INITIAL MEASUREMENT
On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, as defined in IFRS 13.

The IFRS 13 definition of fair value is “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date”.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities shall be measured, in accordance with their classification,
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method or at fair value. Derivative instruments shall
always be measured at fair value.

Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition,
including the transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue, minus principal repay-
ments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization calculated using the effective interest (EIR) method of any
difference (discount or premium) between that initial amount and the maturity amount. For financial assets,
the amount is adjusted, if necessary, for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash flows (paid or collected)
from the financial instrument through its expected life or, in case may be, over a shorter period, to the net
book value of the financial asset or liability.

Note to the Financial Statements - PartA 125



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets other than derivatives (debt instruments or equity instruments) shall be classified in one of
the three categories given below:

e financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss;
e financial assets measured at amortized at cost;
e financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification and measurement of financial assets depend on the financial asset nature, whether it qual-
ifies as:

debt instrument (i.e. loans and securities with fixed or determinable payments);
e equity instruments (i.e. shares).

Debt instruments

The classification and measurement of a debt instrument is determined at its initial recognition and is based
on two joint criteria: the business model and the analysis of its contractual characteristics in order to assess
that the financial asset contractual terms provide for, at set dates, cash flows that are ‘solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the “SPPI test”), unless the fair value option is
exercised.

Business Model

The business model defines how a cluster of financial assets is collectively managed in order to fullfill a cor-
porate objective set corporate, thus representing the strategy of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group in
managing its financial assets. The business model is determined for an asset portfolio, rather than specifically
for a single financial asset.

There are three business models:

e Hold to Collect (HTC), the objective of which is to hold the financial asset to collect its contractual cash
flows throughout its useful life; this model does not require that all the assets are held until their con-
tractual maturity; however, any sale of the assets is subject to restrictions in terms of frequency and
significance. In the financial year, sales are permitted as long as they do not breach a non-significance
threshold that varies in accordance with the portfolio average duration;

e Hold to Collect and Sell (HTC&S), the objective of which is to hold the financial assets both to collect their
contractual cash flows and to sell them; in this model, both the sale of financial assets and the collection
of their cash flows are permitted;

e Other, this is a residual category that includes both financial assets held for trading and financial assets
managed with a business model that does not qualify for the previous categories (Hold to Collect and
Hold to Collect and Sell). In general, this classification applies to a portfolio of financial assets whose
management and performance are measured based on fair value.

In accordance with the standard and with the choices made by the Group, the sale of financial assets classi-
fied in the HTC business model are allowed in different terms, as described below, based on whether the sale
concerns a security portfolio or a loan portfolio.

Sales of securities are allowed for the following reasons:

a) increase in credit risk;

b) debt instruments close to maturity;

c) the sales are frequent but not significant;
d) the sales are not frequent.
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Specifically:
a) Sales allowed due to significant in credit risk

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has identified the following criteria to allow the sale of debt securities
classified in the Hold to Collect Business Model; the sale shall be allowed when even just one of the following
criteria is met.

e accounting indicator: downgrade from Stage 1 to Stage 2 or to Stage 3;

e risk indicator: downgrade of 3 notches in the issuer’s long-term external rating (or the equivalent for inter-
nal rating) since the instrument purchase; downgrade of 2 notches in the issuer’s country risk since the
instrument purchase;

e market indicators:

- evolution in the issuer’s credit spread between the date of purchase and the date of sale of the instru-
ment;

- evolution in the issuer’s premium CDS between the date of purchase and the date of sale of the instru-
ment.

b) Sales permitted as the debt instruments are close to maturity

Financial assets in the Hold to Collect portfolio may be sold if they are close to maturity and the proceeds
from their sales approximate the collection of the remaining contractual cash flows (IFRS 9.B4.1.3B).

In order to judge such sales consistent with the Hold to Collect Business Model, the following parameters
were defined:

e time to maturity considered admissible of 6 months;
e a maximum difference between the proceeds from the sale and the remaining contractual cash flows
(amortized cost) of 3% (this difference must not take fair value hedge into account).

c) Frequent but not significant sales

In the financial year, sales are permitted up to a 15% limit; this non-significance threshold varies in accord-
ance with the portfolio average duration.

d) Infrequent sales

e Changes in the tax legislation entailing higher tax expenses generating a not negligible impact for the
Group;

e non-recurring transactions by the issuer/the issuer’s Group (i.e. mergers, sales of business units and, in
general, any other non-recurring transaction impacting on the entity’s equity);

e changes in the applicable legislation or regulations;

e need to strengthen capital requirements.

Sales of loans are allowed for the following reasons:

a. significant in credit risk;

b. loans close to maturity and with a sale price that approximates the remaining contractual cash flows;
c. the sales are frequent but not significant;

d. infrequent sales that are potentially significant.

Specifically:
a) Sales allowed due to significant in credit risk

The Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has identified the following criteria to allow the sale of loans clas-
sified in the Hold to Collect Business Model; the sale shall be allowed when even just one of the following
criteria is met:

accounting indicator: downgrade from Stage 1 to Stage 2 or to Stage 3;
e risk indicators (applying to large-corporate customers only): downgrade of 3 notches in the issuer’s long-
term external rating (or the equivalent for internal rating) since the instrument purchase; downgrade of 2
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notches in the issuer’s country risk since the instrument purchase.

b) Sales permitted as the loans are close to maturity

The sales of loans in the Hold to Collect portfolio shall be allowed if all the following criteria set by the Group
are met:

e the financial assets to be sold have residual life of less than 6 months;

e the value of the assets to be sold is close to the amortized cost of the financial asset (also in case of
frequent sales);

¢ The difference between the sale price and the amortized cost of the loan shall not be higher than 3%. This
difference should not take fair value hedge effects into account.

c) Frequent but not significant sales

In the financial year, sales are permitted up to a 15% limit; this non-significance threshold varies in accord-
ance with the portfolio average duration.

d) Infrequent sales

e Changes in the tax legislation entailing higher tax expenses generating a not negligible impact for the
Group;

e non-recurring transactions by the issuer/the issuer’s Group (i.e. mergers, sales of business units and, in
general, any other non-recurring transaction impacting on the entity’s equity);

e changes in the applicable legislation or regulations;

e need to strengthen capital requirements.

The contractual characteristics (‘Solely Payments of Principal & Interest or SPPI test’)

The SPPI test provides for a set of criteria to be examined as a whole, whereby it can be determined whether
the contractual cash flows are consistent with the characteristics of a basic lending arrangement (repayments
of face principal and payment of interests on the face principal still outstanding).

The test is passed if the loan entitles exclusively to principal repayment and if the payment of collected in-
terests represents the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the instrument, other costs and
risks of a classic lending arrangement, as well as a reasonable profit margin, in case of both fixed and floating
interest rates.

Under a basic lending arrangement, interest represents the cost of the passage of time, the price for credit
and liquidity risks over the period, and other components linked o the asses maintenance cost (e.g.: admin-
istrative costs...).

If no conclusion can be made with this qualitative analysis, a quantitative analysis (or Benchmark test) shall be
made. This additional analysis consists in comparing the contractual cash flows of the asset under analysis
to the cash flows of a benchmark asset (an asset with characteristics that are similar to those of the object
under analysis but “simple”).

If the difference between the cash flows of the financial asset and those of the benchmark instrument is not
deemed significant, the asset shall be considered a basic lending arrangement.

Furthermore, a specific analysis shall always be carried out if the financial asset provides for payments with
different priorities linked to flows from other benchmark financial assets (e.g. In case of Credit Linked In-
struments (CLI) or instruments issued by Special Purpose Entities (SPE) incorporated within Project Finance
schemes), as regards which the credit risk concentration for each single tranche shall be analyzed. In this
case, the SPPI tests requires the analysis of the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the asset in
question and of the underlying assets, in accordance with a “look-through” approach, and of the credit risk
borne by the subscribed tranches compared to the credit risk of the underlying assets.

SPPI testing upon FTA

At the first-time adoption of the new standard, the procedures were structured for the testing of the char-
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acteristics of contractual cash flows (SPPI Test) and the business models were formalized. As regards SPPI
testing of financial assets, the securities and loans as at 31 December 2017 were analyzed, in order to deter-
mine their proper classification at the First Time Adoption (FTA) of the new standard. Specifically, as regards
debt securities, the characteristics of the cash flows of the instruments recognised at amortized cost and as
financial assets available for sale in accordance with IAS 39 were thoroughly analyzed. No securities were to
be reclassified for having failed the SPPI test. At the first-time adoption of IFRS 9, the units of OICR collec-
tive investment undertakings (open-end funds and closed-end funds) held by the Group were categorized as
held in accordance with the “Other” Business Model and, therefore, they were classified as financial assets
held for trading measured at fair value through profit or loss; for the sake of completeness, it is pointed out
that, based on the thorough analyses carried out and on the clarifications given by the IFRS Interpretation
Committee, the OICR units for which the set Business Model is “Hold to Collect and Sell” shall be classified
as assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, as the SPPI test is considered failed. For
the loan portfolio, the Bank has determined modular analyses to be carried out considering the essential
standardization of the lending contracts; for tailor-made products, the test was performed on an adequately
selected sample based on significance. Also for loans, no significant impacts were found within the transition
to the new standard as regards classification.

As of 1 January 2018, the SPPI testing shall be concomitant with the structuring of every new standard prod-
uct and of every new “tailor made” product.

The recognition of debt instruments resulting from the definition of the business model along with the ‘SPPI’
test can be presented with the chart below:

Management models

Debt instruments

Fair value through other
comprehensive income with
. Passed Amortized cost recycling Fair value through profit or loss
SPPI testing
Not passed Fair value through profit or loss Fair value through profit or loss Fair value through profit or loss

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost

Debt instruments shall be measured at amortized cost if they are eligible for the HTC model and if they pass
the ‘SPPI’ test.

They are recognised at the settlement date and their initial measurement includes accrued interest and trans-
action costs.

This category of financial assets is subject to impairment in accordance with the criteria set forth in the spe-
cific paragraph “Impairment for credit risk”.

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling

Debt instruments shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling if they
are eligible for the HTC&S model and if they pass the ‘SPPI’ test.

They are recognised at the settlement date and their initial measurement includes accrued interest and trans-
action costs.

The amortization of any premiums/discounts and of security transaction expenses is recognised in the In-
come Statement with the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

These financial assets are then measured at fair value and fair value changes are recognised through equity
(with recycling) as the financial asset balancing item (excluding interest accrued taken to the Income State-
ment with the EIR method).

In case of sale, such changes are recycled to profit and loss.

This category of financial instruments is subject to impairment in accordance with the criteria set forth in the spe-
cific paragraph “Impairment for credit risk” (without any resulting impacts on the fair value on the balance sheet).

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss
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Debt instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss in the following cases:

e the instruments are classified in the portfolio held within the Other Business Model (or financial assets
held for trading or held with the main objective of selling them): financial assets held for trading are assets
acquired or generated by the company mainly in order to sell them in the short term or part of a portfolio
of instruments managed collectively in order to generate a profit from price fluctuations in the short-term
or from the profit of the operator. Although contractual cash flows are collected in the period in which the
Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group holds the assets, the collection of such contractual cash flows is not
essential but rather incidental.

e debt instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss as they do not comply with
the ‘SPPI’ test requirements. For instance, this is the case of OICR collective investment undertakings;

e the financial instruments classified in portfolios for which the entity opts for fair value measurement. In
that case, it is a specific designation of instruments to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, excluding
transaction costs (directly recognised in the income statement) and including accrued interest.

Afterwards, they are measured at fair value and value changes are taken to the income statement, in net
banking income, as the balancing item of the value of the financial assets on the balance sheet.

This category of financial assets is not subject to impairment.

Debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at the settlement date.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are recognised at fair value through profit or loss, unless an irrevocable option for their
measurement measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (in this case “without recycling”)
is exercised, granted that such instruments are not held for trading.

Equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, excluding
transaction costs (directly recognised in the income statement). They are recognised at their settlement date.

Afterwards, they are measured at fair value and value changes are taken to the income statement, in net
banking income, as the balancing item of the value of the financial assets on the balance sheet.

This category of financial assets is not subject to impairment.

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income without recycling (irrevocable
option)

The irrevocable option to recognise equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive in-
come without recycling may be exercised for each single transaction and shall apply as of the date of initial rec-
ognition. These securities are recognised at their settlement date. The initial fair value includes transaction costs.

At subsequent measurements, fair value changes are recognised in equity. In case of sale, these changes are not
recycled to profit or loss; therefore, the profit or loss from the sale continues to be recognised in equity.

Only collected dividends are recognised in the Income Statement

Reclassification of financial assets

In the very few cases of a significant change in the business model used for managing financial assets (which,
in accordance with the standard, may occur new activity, acquisition of entities, disposal or discontinuation
of a business line), a reclassification of these financial assets is necessary.

In such cases, the reclassification shall apply from the date of reclassification and the reporting entity is not
required to redetermine profits, losses and interests as previously recognised.

Where any "Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” is reclassified under “Financial
assets measured at amortized cost”, the fair value as at the reclassification date shall become the new gross
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book value; the date of reclassification shall be the date of initial recognition for assigning the credit risk stage
in order to estimate impairment. Where the financial asset is reclassified under “Financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income”, the financial asset shall continue to be measured at fair val-
ue. The effective interest rate shall be determined based on the asset fair value as at the reclassification date.

If the financial asset is reclassified from measured at amortized cost to measured at fair value through profit or
loss, its fair value shall be measured as at the reclassification date. The profits or losses from any difference
between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and its fair value shall be recognised through profit
or loss.

If the financial asset is reclassified from measured at fair value through other comprehensive income to
measured at amortized cost, the financial asset shall be reclassified at fair value on the reclassification date.
However, accumulated profit (loss) previously recognised through other comprehensive income shall be
derecognised in equity and adjusted to the fair value of the financial asset as at the reclassification date.
Consequently, the financial asset shall be measured as at its reclassification date as if it had always been
measured at amortized cost. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses shall
not be adjusted subsequent to reclassification.

If the financial asset is reclassified from measured at amortized cost to measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, its fair value shall be measured as at the reclassification date. The profits or losses
from any difference between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and its fair value shall be rec-
ognised through other comprehensive income. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected
credit losses shall not be adjusted subsequent to reclassification.

If the entity reclassifies a financial asset from measured at fair value through other comprehensive income to
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value. Ac-
cumulated profit (loss) previously recognised through other comprehensive income shall be reclassified from
“through other comprehensive income” to “through profit or loss” with a reclassification adjustment (as per
IAS 1) as at the reclassification date.

Reclassification is not allowed for equity securities.

Temporary investments in/disposals of securities

Temporary disposals of securities (loans of securities, securities delivered under repurchase agreements) do
not generally fulfil the conditions for derecognition.

Securities lent or sold under repurchase agreements remain on the balance sheet. In the case of securities
under repurchase agreements, the amounts received, representing the liability to the transferee, are recog-
nised on the liabilities side of the balance sheet by the transferor.

Securities borrowed or received under repurchase agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet of
the transferee.

In the case of securities disposed of under repurchase agreements, an account receivable from the transferor
is reported on the balance sheet of the transferee and offset against the amount paid. If the security is subse-
quently resold, the transferee recognises a liability measured at fair value representing its obligation to return
the security received under repurchase agreements.

Revenue and expenses relating to such transactions are recognised to profit and loss on an accrual basis,
except in the case of classification of assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or group of financial assets) is fully or partially derecognised if:

e the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire;

e the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset are transferred or are deemed as such
because they belong de facto to one or more beneficiaries; and substantially all the risks and rewards of
the financial asset are transferred.

In this case, any rights or obligations in force at the time of transfer are recognised separately as assets and
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liabilities.
If the contractual rights to the cash flows are transferred but some of the risks and rewards of ownership as

well as control are retained, the financial assets continue to be recognised to the extent of the entity’s contin-
uing involvement in the asset.

Furthermore, impaired financial assets may be derecognised when the entity can no longer reasonably expect
to recover a financial asset (write-off). A financial asset may be written off before the conclusion of the legal
actions for its recovery and this does not necessarily entail waiver by the Bank of its legal right to collect the
credit claim. In this case, the gross nominal value of the loan remains unchanged, but its gross book value
is written down by the write-off amount . The write-off may concern the entire amount of a financial asset or
part thereof and is equal to:

- the reversal of total value adjustments as the balancing item of the financial asset gross value;
- for any portion exceeding the amount of total value adjustments, the financial asset impairment recog-
nised directly through profit or loss.

Any recoveries from collection after the write-off are recognised in the income statement as recoveries on
impairment/writebacks.

2. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are classified on the balance sheet in the two accounting categories given below:

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, either by their nature or by designation;
e financial liabilities at amortized cost.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss by their nature

Financial instruments issued primarily to be bought back in the short term, instruments belonging to an iden-
tified portfolio of financial instruments which are managed collectively and for which there is evidence of a
strategy pursuing short-term profit-taking, and derivatives (with the exception of certain hedging derivatives)
are measured at fair value by their nature.

Any changes in the fair value of this portfolio are recognised through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on option

Financial liabilities fulfilling one of the three conditions defined by the standard (and described above) may
be designated for measurement at fair value through profit or loss: for hybrid issues comprising one or more
separable embedded derivatives, in order to reduce or eliminate the distortion of accounting treatment, or in
the case of groups of managed financial liabilities for which performance is measured at fair value.

This designation option is irrevocable and applies mandatorily from the date of initial recognition of the in-
strument.

Upon subsequent measurement, these financial liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss
for changes in fair value not related to own credit risk and with balancing item through other comprehensive
income with no recycling for value changes related to own credit risk.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

All other liabilities fulfilling the definition of a financial liability (excluding derivatives) are measured at amor-
tised cost.

These liabilities are initially measured at fair value (including transaction income and costs) and subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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Reclassification of financial liabilities

The initial classification of financial liabilities is irrevocable. No subsequent reclassification is authorised. Only
requalification (debt instrument versus equity instrument) may take place.

Distinction between debt - equity instruments

Securities are classified as debt instruments or equity instruments based on the economic substance of the
contractual arrangements.

A financial liability is a debt instrument if it includes a contractual obligation to:

provide another entity with cash, another financial asset or a variable number of equity instruments;
e exchange financial assets and liabilities with another entity at potentially unfavourable conditions.

An equity instrument is a non-redeemable financial instrument which offers discretionary return representing
a residual interest in a company after deduction of all its financial liabilities (net assets) and which is not qual-
ified as a debt instrument.

Treasury share buyback

Treasury shares or equivalent derivative instruments such as options on shares bought with a fixed strike
ratio, including shares held to cover stock option plans, do not meet the definition of a financial asset and are
recognised as deduction from equity. They do not generate any impact on the income statement.

Derecognition of and change to financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised in full or in part:

e when it is extinguished;
e when quantitative or qualitative analyses show it has undergone a substantial change following restruc-
turing.

A substantial change in an existing financial liability shall be recognised as the extinction of an initial financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability (novation). Any difference between the book value of the
extinguished liability and the new liability shall be recognised immediately in the income statement.

If the financial liability is not derecognised, the original effective interest rate (EIR) shall be maintained and
the book value shall be change through profit or loss on the date of change, discounting the new future cash
flows (as resulting from the change) to the date of change using the original EIR. This impact is then spread
over the residual lifetime of the instrument based on the original effective interest rate.

3. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Classification and measurement

Derivative instruments are financial assets or liabilities classified by default as derivative instruments held-for-
trading unless they can be considered to be hedging derivatives.

They are initially recognised at fair value on the settlement date and then measured at fair value.
At each reporting date, the fair value changes on derivative contracts shall be recognised:

e through profit or loss for derivative instruments held for trading or for fair value hedging;
e through other comprehensive income for derivative instruments held as cash flow hedges or hedges of
net investments in foreign operations, for the effective portion of the hedge.
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Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that meets the definition of a derivative product.
This definition applies only to financial liabilities and non-financial contracts. Embedded derivatives must be
accounted for separately from the host contract if the following three conditions are met:

e the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss;
the embedded component taken separately from the host contract has the characteristics of a derivative;
e the characteristics of the derivative are not closely linked to those of the host contract.

Conversely, financial assets with an embedded derivative are classified as a whole as separation is not al-
lowed: in these cases, the instrument as a whole shall be classified under *financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss”.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In accordance with IAS 32, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group offsets a financial asset against a finan-
cial liability and recognises a net amount when and only when it has a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and intends either to settle the net amount or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

The derivative instruments and the repurchase agreements handled with clearing houses that meet the two
criteria required by IAS 32 have been offset on the balance sheet.

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

For financial instruments recognised at fair value through profit or loss, this item notably reports the following
income statement elements:

e dividends and other revenues from equities and other variable-income securities which are classified
under financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

e changes in fair value of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;

e gains and losses on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

e changes in fair value and gains and losses on disposal or termination of derivative instruments not includ-
ed in a fair value hedging relationship or cash flow hedge.

This item also reports the ineffective portion deriving from hedging transactions.

Net gains (losses) on financial instruments measured at air value through other comprehensive income

For financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, this item notably reports the
following income statement elements:

e dividends from equity instruments classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income without recycling;

e gains (losses) on disposals and net income associated with the termination of hedging relationships on
debt instruments classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive in-
come with recycling;

* netincome on disposals or associated with the termination of fair value hedging instruments of financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income when the hedged item is sold.

COMMITMENTS TO DISBURSE FUNDS AND FINANCIAL GUARANTEES ISSUED

Commitments to disburse funds that are not designated as fair value through profit or loss or not treated as
derivative instruments within the meaning of IFRS 9 are not recognised on the balance sheet. However, they
are covered by provisions in accordance with the IFRS 9.
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A financial guarantee contract is a contract under which the issuer must make specific payments to reimburse
the guarantee holder for a loss incurred due to a specific debtor’s failure to make a payment when due under
the initial or amended terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at the highest between:

e the value adjustment amount for losses determined in accordance with the “Impairment” section of IFRS 9;
e the amount originally recognised less, where applicable, the costs recognised in accordance with IFRS
15 “Revenue from Contracts with customers”.

CREDIT RISK IMPAIRMENT

Scope of application

In compliance with the IFRS 9, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group recognises impairment with write-
downs representing Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the categories of financial assets given below:

e financial assets consisting of debt instruments measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value
trough other comprehensive income with recycling (loans and receivables, debt securities);
commitments to disburse fund which are not measured at fair value through profit or loss;
guarantee commitments that fall within IFRS 9 scope of application and that are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss;
lease receivables falling under the IAS 17 scope of application;
trade receivables generated by transactions under the IFRS 15 scope of application.

Equity instruments (at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income
without recycling) are not concerned by impairment provisions.

Derivative instruments and other instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subject to the calculation
of counterparty risk which is not covered by the ECL model.

Credit risk and impairment (provisioning) stages

Credit risk is defined as risk of loss related to default by a counterparty leading to its inability to meet its
commitments to the Group.

The impairment model for credit risk has three stages:

e stage 1: since the initial recognition of the financial instrument (credit, debt, guarantee...), the bank rec-
ognises the expected credit losses over 12 months;

e stage 2: if the credit quality has deteriorated significantly (compared to initial recognition) for a given
transaction (or portfolio), the Bank shall recognise expected losses to maturity;

e stage 3: where a default event has occurred on the counterparty that has a negative effect on the estimat-
ed future cash flows, the Bank shall recognise an analytical credit loss to maturity. Thereafter, if the condi-
tions for classifying financial instruments in stage 3 are not met, the financial instruments are reclassified
in stage 2 or stage 1, in the light of a further improvement in the quality of credit risk.

Definition of default:

The definition of default for the requirements of ECL provisioning is identical to that used in management and
for the calculation of regulatory ratios. Therefore, a debtor is considered to be in default when at least one of
the following conditions has been met:

e apayment more than ninety days past due (in accordance with the regulatory definition of non-performing
past due position given by the Bank of Italy);
e the entity believes that the debtor is unlikely to fully settle its credit obligations unless the entity imple-
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ments certain measures such as enforcement of collateral security right (in accordance with the definition
of unlikely to pay given by the Bank of Italy);
¢ insolvency status (in accordance with the definition of bad loan given by the Bank of Italy).

The definition of “default” is applied uniformly to all financial instruments, unless information becomes availa-
ble indicating that another definition of “default” is more suitable for a specific financial instrument

Definition of Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)
ECL is defined as the weighted expected value of the discounted credit loss (principal and interest).

It is the present value of the difference between contractual cash flows and expected ones (including principal
and interest).

The ECL approach has been designed to anticipate as early as possible the recognition of expected credit
losses.

ECL governance and measurement

The Risk Management and Permanent Controls Department is responsible for defining the methodological
framework and for supervising the process for ECL-related impairment of exposures and provisioning.

The calculation of impairment of performing assets is represented within the overall cost of credit process,
which is coordinated by the Unlikely to Pay (UTP) Management Division.

To define the IFRS 9 parameters required to calculate ECL, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has
primarily relied on its internal rating system and on the other regulatory processes already implemented.
The assessment of credit risk is based on an expected loss model and extrapolation based on reasona-
ble future scenarios. All information that is available, pertinent, reasonable and justifiable, including for-
ward-looking information, shall be taken into account.

Therefore, in compliance with the requirements set down by the standard, in order to estimate parameters,
a set of forward-looking scenarios is used, each one of which is weighted by the related probability of oc-
currence. In agreement with the Parent Company Crédit Agricole S.A., the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking
Group used the following scenarios:

- Baseline scenario, i.e. the most likely scenario;

- Adverse scenario, i.e. the economic scenario in adverse conditions;

-  Stress Budgétaire scenario, i.e. the adverse scenario used within the Stress Budgétaire exercise;;
- Favourable scenario, i.e. the economic scenario in favourable conditions;

The weights to be assigned to the four scenarios may vary at each new estimation of the parameters and are
defined by the Crédit Agricole Group.

The Crédit Agricole Group has decided to update the estimate of the parameters every six months.

The ECL calculation formula includes the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default - (LGD) and Exposure
At Default (EAD) parameters.

As already pointed out, these parameters have also been defined broadly based on the internal models used
as part of the regulatory framework (where any), although they had to be adjusted in order to determine an
ECL fully compliant with IFRS 9. Indeed, the standard requires a Point-in-Time analysis as at the reporting
date, while taking account of the historical loss data and forward-looking macroeconomic data. Therefore,
based on the above, the accounting approach is different from the prudential framework, where analyses are
multiyear and Through the Cycle to estimate the Probability of Default (PD); moreover, such analyses shall
include the Downturn in the estimate of the Loss Given Default (LGD), whereas this effect is not envisaged in
the IFRS 9 LGD.

ECLs are calculated according to the type of product concerned, i.e. financial instruments or off-balance
sheet instruments.

Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate (EIR) used for the initial recognition of the
financial instrument.
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The models and parameters used are backtested at least annually.

Significant deterioration in credit risk

For each financial instrument, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group assesses the deterioration in credit risk
from origination to each reporting date. Based on this assessment of changes in credit risk, exposures are
classified into the different risk stages.

Monitoring significant decline shall cover every financial instrument, unless specific exceptions apply. Con-
tagion is not required for the downgrading of financial instruments of the same counterparty from stage 1 to
stage 2. Significant deterioration monitoring shall consider the change in credit risk of the principal debtor
without taking account of any guarantee, including for transactions with a shareholder guarantee.

To measure the significant deterioration of credit risk since initial recognition, it is necessary to look back
at the internal rating and Probability of Default (PD) at origination. The Probability of Default at origination is
compared to the Probability of Default as at the reporting date and, setting the change between the two PDs
against the deterioration thresholds estimated with a statistical approach, it can be assessed whether the
financial instrument has undergone significant deterioration vs. origination. In case of significant deterioration,
the financial instrument shall be classified in stage 2. Otherwise, the instrument shall remain in stage 1.

The table below shows the PD change thresholds set by the Parent Company and used to classify instru-
ments into the three stages:

Large Corporate 2.0%
Small Medium Enterprises 3.0%
Retail Individuals with real estate collaterals 2.0%
Qualified rotating Retail Exposures 6.0%
Other exposures to individuals 3.0%
Small Enterprises and Sole Traders 3.0%

Origination means the settlement date or the date on which the Bank became bound by the contractual terms
of the financial instrument. For financing and guarantee commitments, origination means the date on which
the irrevocable commitment was made.

For exposures without an internal rating model, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group uses non-payment
as at the reporting date or in the previous 12 months. In case of non-payment, as at the reporting date or in
the previous months, the exposure is downgraded to stage 2.

For exposures (with the exception of securities) for which internal rating models have been implemented and
applied (all the more so if the rating models have been validated), the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group
considers that all of the information incorporated into the rating systems allows for a more detailed assess-
ment than the non-payment for over 30 days criterion alone as a back-stop threshold.

Other factors for downgrading to stage 2 are:

e a PD absolute threshold is breached. This threshold is set at 12% for the corporate portfolio and at 20%
for the retail portfolio;
no rating as at the assessment date if regarding loans disbursed over six months before;

e the exposure being classified as forborne performing.

If the conditions that triggered downgrading to stage 2 no longer apply, impairment may be reduced to
12-month ECL (stage 1).

For security portfolios, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group uses an approach that consists in applying an
absolute level of credit risk, in accordance with IFRS 9, at the breaching of which exposures shall be classified
in stage 2 and provisioned for based on ECL at maturity.

Therefore, the following rules shall apply for monitoring significant deterioration of securities:
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e “Investment Grade” (IG) securities, at the reporting date, shall be classified in stage 1 and provisioned for
based on 12-month ECL;

e “Non-Investment Grade” (NIG) securities, at the reporting date, shall be subject to monitoring for signifi-
cant deterioration, since origination, and be classified in Bucket 2 (lifetime ECL) in the event of significant
deterioration in credit risk.

The related deterioration shall be assessed prior to the occurrence of a known default (Stage 3).

Post-model adjustments

Based on the results obtained with the calculation approach defined by the Group and based on the manage-
ment information of the single counterparties, if the expected loss value associated with a specific counter-
party does not accurately reflect its riskiness, the provisioning on the counterparty may be adjusted manually
to a level deemed appropriate; such manual actions are allowed only if they increase the coverage ratio on
the counterparty.

Impairment model on stage 3

Within the review of its impairment model for the non-performing portfolio, already essentially based on the
discounting of future recovery flows in accordance with IAS 39, the further requirement of IFRS 9 to estimate
a multi-scenario and forward-looking ECL was complied with combining the scenario pursuant to IAS 39
(internal recovery) with an alternative recovery scenario consisting in the sale of the single non-performing
exposure on the market.

This choice proved consistent with the objectives set in the NPL strategy of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking
Group, which primarily identifies the reduction of the NPL stock (especially bad loans), through the sale of
certain portfolios, as the strategy able, in certain conditions, to maximize their value for the Group, consider-
ing also the time for NPE recovery.

Specifically, in the ECB “NPL Guidance” published in March 2017, Banks that have a weight of non-per-
forming loans higher than the average of EU banks are expected to design a strategy aimed at progressively
reducing NPLs.

These changes in the strategies for the recovery of NPLs were taken into account upon the first-time adoption
of the IFRS 9, which has introduced significant changes vs. IAS 39. Specifically, IAS 39 read (see paragraph
59). “A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)... omissis... Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter
how likely, are not recognised”.

The approach provided for by the new standard is materially different; indeed, paragraph 5.5.17 reads that
“the entity shall measure expected credit losses in a way that reflects:

a. an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible out-
comes;

b. the time value of money;

c. reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions”.

Specifically, the IFRS 9 defines loss as the difference between all the contractual cash flows due and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive. Therefore, whereas for IAS 39 the source of cash flows is limited to
the cash flows from the debtor or from the guarantee pursuant to the relevant contract, in accordance with
IFRS 9 the source of cash flows is not limited to the relevant contract, but

includes all the cash flows that the creditor will receive. Consequently, if the entity intends to sell a non-per-
forming loan to a third party in order both to increase its cash flows as much as possible and to implement
a specific strategy for NPL management, the ECL estimate shall reflect also the sale scenario and, thus, the
cash flows from the sale. In accordance with the IFRS 9, sales scenarios that are merely possible may be
taken into account and, as such, shall be smoothed with others that are deemed more likely; conversely, in
accordance with IAS 39, realization through the sale of a loan could be considered (as a single scenario) only
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where reasonably certain, as at the reporting date, because it could be considered the expression of a man-
agement direction already formalized at that date.

Having said that, in the measurement of loans and receivables, in accordance with the IFRS 9 impairment
model, the Crédit Agricole ltalia Banking Group considers the various assumed recovery strategies in order to
proportionally align them to a probability of sale determined consistently with the Group’s NPL Plan.

Consequently, to the “ordinary” scenario, which assumes a recovery strategy based on loan collection typ-
ically through legal actions, realization of mortgage collaterals, contracts with loan collection firms, also the
scenario of loan sale was added.

Determining impairment losses requires the measurement of future cash flows that the borrower is believed
able to generate and that shall be used for financial debt service.

The methods to assess the loan recovery forecasts, in compliance with the ECB Guidance, consist in an es-
timate of future cash flows made based on two general approaches:

- in ascenario where the borrower is assumed as a going-concern, the cash flows from operations continue
to be generated and can be used to repay the financial debt; the so-called “Going Concern Approach”;

- in a scenario where the borrower is assumed to discontinue operations, no cash flows from operations
are generated to be used for debt service; the so-called “Gone Concern Approach”.

The Going Concern Approach is mainly applied to cases in which the cash flows from the borrower’s operations
are material (vs. the debt) and can be reliably estimated, as well as in all cases in which the exposure is not
backed with collaterals or is limitedly secured and to the extent collaterals can be realized without prejudicing
the borrower’s ability to generate future cash flows.

In measuring generated cash flows, also the cash flows from operations of any guarantor may be taken into
account.

The Gone Concern Approach shall apply where there are no significant cash flows from operations vs. the debt
or where the exposure is largely secured and the related collaterals are essential to generate cash flows.

Contract modifications of financial assets

When the original contractual conditions are modified by the parties, it is to be verified whether the financial
asset shall continue to be recognised or the original financial asset is to be eliminated recognizing a new
financial instrument.

To this end, it is to be assessed whether the modifications to the contract terms and conditions as renegoti-
ated are substantial or not.

In case of substantial modifications, the entity shall derecognise the financial instrument affected by the mod-
ification and shall recognise a new financial asset based on the contract as modified, irrespective of whether
the renegotiation is finalized by signing a new contract or by modifying the existing one.

Renegotiations are deemed substantial if they introduce specific objective elements affecting the character-
istics and/or cash flows of the financial instrument or if they concern customers that are not experiencing
financial difficulties, in order to align the contract onerousness to the current market conditions. In the latter
case, it is to be specified that, if the Bank did not agree to a renegotiation of the contractual conditions, the
customer would be able to borrow from another intermediary with the subsequent loss by the bank of the rev-
enue flows under the renegotiated contract; in other words, in case of renegotiation for commercial reasons,
no loss in to be recognised by the bank in its income statement subsequent to the alignment to the current
market conditions that are more favourable for its customers.

Conversely, in case of renegotiations deemed not substantial, the entity shall redetermine the present value
of the new cash flows subsequent to the renegotiation, based on the original rate of the exposure in force
before the renegotiation. The difference between such value and the book value before the modification shall
be recognised in the income statement as profit or loss from contract modifications with no derecognition
(“modification accounting”).
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Restructuring due to financial difficulties (forbearance measures)

Debt instruments that are restructured due to financial difficulties are those for which the entity has modified
the initial financial conditions (interest rates, maturity) for business and legal reasons linked to the financial
difficulties experienced by the borrower, in ways that would not have been considered in other circumstances.

This concerns all debt instruments, irrespective of the category the security has been classified into based on
the deterioration in credit risk since initial recognition.

Loan restructuring includes all the modifications made to one or more loan contracts, as well as any other
loans or credit facilities granted in consideration of the financial difficulties experienced by the customer.

This restructuring concept shall be assessed with regard to the contract rather than with regard to the cus-
tomer (no contagion). The definition of restructured loans subsequent to financial difficulties experienced by
the customers is based on two cumulative criteria:

e contract modifications or loan refinancing;
e acustomer in a difficult financial position.

“Contract modifications” are, for example, situations in which:

e there is a difference in favour of the borrower between the modified contract and the conditions before
contract modification;

e the modifications made to the contract lead to conditions that are more favourable for the concerned
borrower than those that other borrowers of the Bank, having similar risk profiles, could have obtained at
that moment in time.

“Refinancing” means a new debt/loan is granted to the customer to repay, fully or in part, another debt as
regards which the customer cannot comply with the contract conditions because of its financial situation.

The restructuring of a loan (whether performing or defaulted) is a sign of possible incurred loss risk. Therefore,
the restructured/forborne exposure shall accordingly be assess for any impairment/provisioning (restructur-
ing does not systematically entail adjustment for incurred loss and classification as defaulted).

The classification as “restructured loan” or “Forborne exposure” is temporary.

When restructuring transaction is carried out in accordance with the instructions of the European Banking Au-
thority (EBA), the exposure retains the “restructured/forborne” status for at least 2 years, if it was performing
upon restructuring, or for 3 years if it was defaulted upon restructuring. These periods shall be longer if some
events provided for in the Group’s principles occur (for instance “reoccurrence”).

With no derecognition, the reduction in future flows granted to the counterparty or the deferral of such flows
over a longer time horizon than the one before the restructuring shall entail recognition of impairment in the
Income Statement.

The impairment for the restructuring shall be calculated as the difference between:

e the loan book value;
e the sum of the restructured future flows discounted at the original Effective Interest Rate (EIR).

In case of waiver of the claim to part of the principal, this amount shall be immediately recognised as a loss
under cost of credit.

Upon impairment, the portion regarding the passage of time shall be recognised under net interest income.

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired Assets (“POCI”)

Pursuant to the IFRS 9, a financial asset is considered impaired upon initial recognition if credit risk is very
high and it is purchased with significant rebates vs. the residual contractual debt.

If, based on the classification drivers (SPPI test e Business Model), these financial assets are classified as
assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, they shall be classi-
fied as “Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired Assets” (“POCI”) and shall be subject to specific treatment
as regards impairment.

As regards these exposures, the IFRS 9 requires:
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e the initial recognition at fair value;

e that the expected credit loss be always estimated based on the expected loss over the lifetime of the
financial instrument;

e that recognised interests be determined applying the “credit-adjusted effective interest rate” (“EIR Credit
Adjusted”) or the interest rate that, upon initial recognition, discounts all estimated future cash flows to
the amortized cost of the asset, taking account in the estimate also of expected credit losses.

HEDGE ACCOUNTING
General framework

In compliance with the decision made by the Crédit Agricole Group, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group
has not applied the “hedge accounting” section of the IFRS 9, exercising the option given by the IFRS9 itself.
All hedges have continued to be reported in accordance with IAS 39, up to the date of application of the sup-
plement on fair value macro hedging (after its endorsement by the European Union). However, the eligibility of
financial instruments for hedge accounting in accordance with the IAS 39 takes into account the bases of clas-
sification and measurement of financial instruments pursuant to the IFRS 9.

In accordance with IFRS 9 and with the IAS 39 hedging principles, eligible fair value and cash flow hedges are
debt instruments at amortized cost measured at fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling.

The Group hedges interest rate risk in order to immunize the Banking Book from changes in the fair value of
funding and lending, caused by adverse movements in the interest rate curve, or of reducing the uncertainty
of cash flows linked to a specific asset/liability in an integrated balance sheet perspective. Specifically, fixed-
rate debenture loans have been hedged (micro-hedging), as have the mortgage loans with cap to customers
(macro-hedging), government securities in reserves (asset-swap hedging) and fixed-rate gaps detected by the
internal model, which have been subject to macro-hedging. The hedges were made exclusively by purchasing
Interest Rate Swaps and Interest Rate Options.

Documentation
Hedging relationships shall comply with the following principles:

e fair value hedges have the purpose of protecting the entity against exposure to changes in the fair value of
a recognise asset or liability or of an irrevocable commitment not recognised, attributable to the hedged
risk or risks and able to impact on the income statement (for instance, total or partial hedge of fair value
changes due to interest rate risk on a fixed-rate debt);

e cash flow hedges have the purpose of protecting the entity against exposure to changes in future cash
flows of a recognised asset or liability or of a transaction deemed very likely, attributable to the hedged
risk or risks and able (in case of an expected transaction not occurred) to impact on the income statement
(for instance, hedging of all or part of the payment of future interests on a variable-rate debt);

e hedges of net investments in foreign operations have the purpose of protecting the entity against the risk
of any unfavourable change in fair value associated with the foreign exchange risk within an investment
in foreign operations in a currency other than the euro.

When an entity intends to use hedges, the following conditions shall be met in order to benefit from hedge
accounting:

e eligibility of the hedging instrument and of the hedged instrument;

e formalized documentation since inception, specifically including the individual designation and the char-
acteristics of the hedged item, of the hedging instrument, the type of hedging relationship and the nature
of the hedged risk;

e evidence of the hedge effectiveness, at inception (i.e. prospectively) and retrospectively, through tests
made at each reporting date.

For interest rate risk hedging of a portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities, the Crédit Agricole Italia
Banking Group prefers a fair value hedge documentation, as permitted by the IAS 39 endorsed by the Euro-
pean Union (carve out version).
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Specifically:

the Group documents these hedging relationships based on a gross position of derivative instruments
and hedges items;
the effectiveness of these hedging relationships is proved with effectiveness tests.

Measurement

The remeasurement of the derivative at fair value is recognised as follows:

fair value hedges: the derivative remeasurement is recognised in the income statement matching the
remeasurement of the hedged item. The income statement reports only the net amount of any ineffective
portion of the hedge;

cash flow hedges: the derivative remeasurement is recognised as a balancing item of a specific profit or
loss account directly recognised through equity with recycling for the effective portion and any ineffective
portion of the hedge is recognised through profit or loss. Accumulated profits and losses through equity
are then recycled to the income/through profit or loss when the hedged cash flows occur;

hedges of net investments in foreign operations: the derivative remeasurement derivative is recognised
as a balancing item through equity with recycling and the ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised
through profit or loss.

Where the conditions for benefiting from hedge accounting are no longer met, the following accounting treat-
ment shall be applied prospectively:

fair value hedges: only the hedging instrument continues to be remeasured through profit or loss. The
hedged item is wholly recognised in accordance with its classification. For debt instruments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling, fair value changes after the termination of
hedging relationship shall be fully recognised through equity. For hedged items measured at amortized
cost, which were hedged for interest rate risk, the remaining portion of the remeasurement difference
shall be amortized over the remaining life of the hedged items;

cash flow hedges: the hedging instrument is measure at fair value through profit or loss. The amounts
accumulated through equity and regarding the effective portion of the hedge shall remain in equity until
the hedged element affects profit or loss. Interest-rate hedged items shall be recognised through profit
or loss as interests are paid. The remaining portion of the remeasurement difference is then amortized
over the reaming life of these hedged items;

hedges of net investments in foreign operations: the accumulated amounts in equity regarding the hedge
effective portion shall remain in equity as long as the net investment is held. When no longer within the
scope of consolidation, net investments in foreign operations shall be recognised through profit or loss.
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REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (IFRS 15)

Fee and commission revenues are recognised in the Income Statement based on the nature of services they
refer to.

Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective yield on a financial instrument are recognised
as an adjustment to the yield on the instrument and included in its effective interest rate.

The recognition of other types of fees and commissions in the income statement shall reflect the time of
transfer to the customer of control of the goods or services sold.

The net income from a transaction associated with the provision of services is recognised under Fee and
commission income at the time of transfer of control of the service to the customer, if this can be reliably
estimated. This transfer may occur as the service is provided (ongoing service) or on a specific date (one-off
service).

a. Fee and commission income from ongoing services (fees and commissions on payment instruments, for
example) shall be recognised through profit or loss according to the degree of progress of the service
provided;

b. fees and commissions collected or paid as consideration for one-off services shall be fully recognised
through profit or loss when the service is provided.

Fees and commissions to be paid or collected, or not yet earned, shall be progressively recognised as the
performance obligation is satisfied over time. These estimates shall be updated at every reporting date. In
practice, this condition can result in the deferred recognition of certain items of performance-related fee and
commission income until such income has been definitively acquired.

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS

1. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

CLASSIFICATION

This category contains the financial assets not classified as “Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income” or as “Financial assets measured at amortised cost”.

The “Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” item consists of three sub-items:

a. “Financial assets held for trading”: this category consists of financial assets (debt securities, equity securities,
loans and units in OICR collective investment undertakings) managed in order to realize cash flows through
their sale and, therefore, under the “Other” Business Model; this category also includes derivative instruments
(except for those classified as hedging derivatives or financial guarantee contracts);

b. “Financial assets designated at fair value”: this category consists of financial assets (debt securities and
loans) so designated upon initial recognition and where the related requirements are met (fair value op-
tion). As regards this category, an entity may irrevocably designate a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss if, and only if, by doing so it removes or materially reduces any measurement inconsistency;

c. “Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value”, consisting of the financial assets that are managed
with the Business Model is “Hold to Collect” or “Hold to Collect and Sell”, but that do not meet the re-
quirements for measurement at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.
These are financial assets that do not pass the SPPI test, as their contractual terms do not solely envisage
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, or that are managed under the
“Other” business model but are not held for trading. This category reports also units in OICR collective
investment undertakings and equity securities that are not held for trading, for which, at first recognition,
the entity did not exercised the option to classify them at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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The IFRS 9 allows reclassifications between the different categories only if the entity changes its business
model for the management of the financial assets concerned (IFRS9 par. 4.4. and 5.6). In such cases, which
are expected to be infrequent, the reclassification shall apply from the date of reclassification and the report-
ing entity is not required to redetermine profits, losses and interests as previously recognised.

For more exhaustive reporting on the accounting effects generated by reclassifications, please refer to the
“Financial instruments (IFRS9, IAS 39 and IAS32)” paragraph in Part A.2 herein.

RECOGNITION

Debt and equity securities and units in OICR collective investment undertakings are initially recognised at the
settlement date, while derivative contracts are recognised on the date they are signed. Loans are recognised
on their disbursement date.

Specifically, upon recognition at the settlement date, the reporting entity recognises any changes in the fair
value of the asset to be received occurred between such date and the previous trading date, in the same way
the purchased asset is recognised.

On initial recognition, “Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” are recognised at fair
value; unless otherwise specified, it consists of the price paid to execute the transaction and any transaction
costs or revenues attributable to the instrument are not taken into account but are taken directly to the In-
come Statement.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA
After initial recognition, “Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” are stated at fair value.

The IFRS 13 defines the fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

To measure the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market, market prices are
used. Where there is no active market, fair value is measured using generally accepted estimation methods
and measurement models that take account of all the risk factors correlated to the instruments and that are
based on information available on the market, such as: the measurement of the price of listed instruments
with similar features, discounted cash flows, option pricing models, values reported for recent comparable
transactions, etc.

For equity securities and derivative instruments that have equity securities as underlying assets, not quoted
in an active market, the cost approach is used as the fair value estimate only to a residual extent and limited
to very few cases, that is to say when there is a wide range of possible fair value measurements of which cost
is the most significant estimate.

The effects of the application of this measurement approach are recognised in the Income Statement, under
item 80 “Net profit (loss) on trading” for “Financial assets held for trading” and under item 110 “Net profit
(loss) on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss” for “Financial assets
designated at fair value” and for “Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value”. The same items report
the derecognition of such financial assets. For more information on fair value measurement, please refer to
paragraph 16 “Other Information - Fair Value Measurement” and to “Part A.4 - Fair value reporting”.

DERECOGNITION
Financial assets are derecognised if one of the following cases occurs:

e contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets have expired;

¢ the financial asset is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and rewards resulting from its ownership.
Conversely, when a prevalent share of the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the financial
assets is retained, the assets continue to be recognised, even if the relevant legal title has been trans-
ferred. Where it is not possible to ascertain whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred, financial assets are derecognised when no form of control over the assets has
been retained. Conversely, if even a portion of control is retained, the asset continues to be recognised
to the extent of the continuing involvement, measured by exposure to changes in the value of the assets
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transferred and to changes in the related cash flows;
e the entity retains the contractual right to receive the cash flows from the assets, but it concomitantly un-
dertakes the contractual obligation to pay such flows to a third party (pass-through arrangements).

2. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive in-
come (FVTOCI)

CLASSIFICATION
This category consists of financial assets that meet both the following conditions:

- the financial asset is managed in accordance with the “Hold to Collect and Sell” Business Model whose
objective is achieve both by collecting the contractual cash flows and by selling the asset;

- the contractual terms of the financial asset provide for, at specified date, cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and, therefore the SPPI test is passed.

Therefore, this category includes debt securities and loans that are managed in accordance with the “Hold
to Collect and Sell” Business Model and that have passed the SPPI test. This category also includes equity
instruments, not held for trading, for which the irrevocable option was exercised upon initial recognition for
their designation at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The IFRS 9 allows reclassifications between the different categories only if the entity changes its business
model for the management of the financial assets concerned (IFRS9 par. 4.4. and 5.6). In such cases, which
are expected to be infrequent, the reclassification shall apply from the date of reclassification and the report-
ing entity is not required to redetermine profits, losses and interests as previously recognised.

For more exhaustive reporting on the accounting effects generated by reclassifications, please refer to the
“Financial instruments (IFRS9, IAS 39 and IAS32)” paragraph in Part A.2 herein.

RECOGNITION

These financial assets are initially recognised at the settlement date for debt and equity securities and, as
regards loans, at their disbursement date. At initial recognition, these assets are recognised at fair value that
equal to, unless otherwise stated, the price paid for the transaction execution, including any costs or reve-
nues directly attributable to the instrument.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

After initial recognition, Assets classified at fair value through other comprehensive income, consisting of debt
securities and loans, are measured at fair value, recognizing the impacts generated by the amortized costs
application in the Income Statement. For amortized cost measurement, please refer to paragraph 16 “Other
information - Amortized Cost Measurement”. Profits and losses on fair value measurement are recognised
in a specific equity reserve (item “120. Valuation reserves”), which shall be recycled to the income statement
(item 100b “Profit/losses from disposal/repurchase of financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income) upon derecognition of the financial asset.

“Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” - being them debt securities
and loans - are subject to impairment testing in accordance with the IFRS 9, as are Assets at amortized cost,
with subsequent recognition of value adjustments in the Income Statement for expected losses.

These adjustments are recognised in the Income Statement under item “130. Net losses/recoveries for credit
risk”, as the balancing item of the specific valuation reserve in equity (item “120. Valuation reserves”); the
same applies to recoveries on part or all write-downs made in previous periods.

Equity instruments for which the option was exercised for their classification in this category are measured
at fair value; profits or losses from fair value measurement are recognised as a balancing item of a specific
equity reserve (item “120. Valuation reserves”). These reserves shall never be recycled to the income state-
ment, including where allocated by selling the asset; in that case, the accumulated balance of the reserve is
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not recycled through profit or loss, but it is classified under retained earnings reserves in equity (item “150.
Reserves”). Moreover, these assets shall not be written down in the Income Statement as they are not subject
to impairment. The only component recognised in the Income Statement is collected dividends.

Fair value is determined using the standards adopted for “Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss”. For the equity instruments included in this category, which are not quoted in an active market,
the cost approach is used as the fair value estimate to a residual extent only and in very few circumstances,
i.e., when all the measurement methods referred to above cannot be applied, or when there is a wide range
of possible measurements of fair value, of which cost is the most significant estimate. For more information
on fair value measurement, please refer to paragraph 16 “Other Information - Fair Value Measurement” and
to “Part A.4 - Fair value reporting”.

DERECOGNITION

Financial assets are derecognised only if their sale has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards
associated with ownership of the same assets. Conversely, when a prevalent share of the risks and rewards
associated with ownership of the financial assets is retained, the assets continue to be recognised, even if
legal title has been transferred.

Where it is not possible to ascertain whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred, financial assets are derecognised when no form of control over the assets has been retained.
Conversely, if even a portion of control is retained, the asset continues to be recognised to the extent of
the continuing involvement, measured by exposure to changes in the value of the assets transferred and to
changes in the related cash flows.

Finally, financial assets which have been sold are derecognised if the contractual rights to receive the related
cash flows are retained with the simultaneous assumption of an obligation to pay such flows, and only such
flows, without relevant delay to other third parties.

3. Financial assets measured at amortized cost

CLASSIFICATION

This category consists of financial assets, specifically debt securities and loans, that meet both the following
conditions:

- the financial asset is managed in accordance with the “Hold to Collect” Business Model whose objective
is achieve by collecting the contractual cash flows;

- the contractual terms of the financial asset provide for, at specified date, cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and, therefore the SPPI test is passed.

More specifically, this category includes loans to customers and banks - in any technical form - and debt
securities that meet the requirements referred to above. This item also reports Loans and receivable from
finance leases that, in compliance with IAS 17, are recognised with the “cash flow method”.

This category also includes operating loans and receivables linked to the provision of financial services, as
defined by the Italian Consolidated Law on Banking (T.U.B.) and by the Italian Consolidated Law on Finance
(T.U.F) (e.g. for the distribution of financial products and servicing activities).

The IFRS 9 allows reclassifications between the different categories only if the entity changes its business
model for the management of the financial assets concerned (IFRS9 par. 4.4. and 5.6). In such cases, which
are expected to be infrequent, the reclassification shall apply from the date of reclassification and the report-
ing entity is not required to redetermine profits, losses and interests as previously recognised.

For more exhaustive reporting on the accounting effects generated by reclassifications, please refer to the
“Financial instruments (IFRS9, IAS 39 and IAS32)” paragraph in Part A.2 herein.
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RECOGNITION

These financial assets are initially recognised at the settlement date for debt and equity securities and, as
regards loans, at their disbursement date. This asset item reports separately:

e |oans to banks;
e |oans to customers.

Financial assets classified in this category are initially recognised at fair value, including any costs and reve-
nues directly attributable to them.

Specifically, for loans, their disbursement date is usually the same as the date of contract signing. Should this
not be the case, upon contract signing a commitment to disburse funds shall be recognised and derecog-
nised on the loan disbursement date.

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at their fair value that is equal to the amount disbursed, or sub-
scription price, including costs and revenues directly attributable to the individual loan and determinable from
the inception of the transaction, even if settled at a later time.

The initially recognised amount does not include costs to be reimbursed by the borrower or that can be clas-
sified as normal administrative overhead costs, despite having the above characteristics.

Repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements are recognised as funding or lending transac-
tions. Specifically, repurchase agreements are recognised as due and payables for the spot amount received,
whereas reverse repurchase agreements are recognised as loans and receivables for the spot amount paid.

MEASUREMENT

Following initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Measurement at amortized cost entails that the asset is recognised at an amount equal to its initial recognition
value less principal repayment, plus or minus accumulated amortization in accordance with the aforemen-
tioned effective interest rate method, of the difference between the initial amount and the amount at maturity
(typically attributable to costs/income directly pertaining to the individual asset) and adjusted by any loss
coverage provision.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows generated by the
asset in terms of principal and interest, to the amount disbursed including costs and revenues attributable
to the asset. Expected cash flows shall be estimated taking account of all contractual terms of the financial
instrument, but irrespective of expected losses on loans and receivables. The calculation includes all fees
and commissions, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. This measurement method uses
a financial approach and allows the economic effect of the costs/income directly attributable to a financial
asset to be spread over its expected remaining lifetime. For more exhaustive reporting on this matter, please
refer to paragraph 16 “Other information - Amortized Cost Measurement”.

The amortized cost method is not used for assets that have short lifetime, as their discounting is expected
to have negligible effects, for those with indefinite maturity and revocable loans. These assets are measured
at historical cost and the costs/revenues attributable to them are recognised in the Income Statement on an
accrual basis throughout their contractual term of validity.

The book value of financial assets at amortized cost is adjusted in order to report any provision for expected
loss coverage. Indeed, at every reporting date, these assets are tested for impairment in order to estimate
any Expected Credit Losses (ECL).

This scope includes non-performing loans (so-called “Stage 3” loans) classified as bad, unlikely- to-pay or
non-performing past due in accordance with the rules issued by the Supervisory Authorities; this scope also
includes performing loans classified as “Stage 1” and “Stage 2”, to which the “Expected credit losses” con-
cept applied on a 12-month or lifetime basis, respectively.

The used bases of measurement are exhaustively described in the paragraph “Financial instruments (IFRS9, IAS
39 and IAS32) - Impairment for credit risk)” in Part A.2 of this document and, as already said, are strictly linked to
the classification of these instruments in one of the three stages (credit risk stages) provided for by the IFRS 9.
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The model of impairment (provisioning) for credit risk comprises:

e stage 1: from the initial recognition of the financial instrument (loan, debt security, guarantee...), the entity
shall recognize expected credit losses over 12 months;

e stage 2: if the credit quality deteriorates significantly for a given transaction or portfolio, the entity shall
recognise the losses expected up to maturity;

e stage 3: when one or more default events have occurred on the counterparty with an adverse effect on
the estimated future cash flows, the entity shall recognise incurred credit losses up to maturity. Subse-
quently, if the conditions for classifying financial instruments in stage 3 are not met, the financial instru-
ments are reclassified in stage 2, then in stage 1 according to the subsequent improvement in the quality
of credit risk.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement under item “130. Net losses/recoveries for credit
risk”.

The original value of the financial assets is written back in following financial years if the exposure credit
quality improves vs. the one that entailed the previous write-down. Writebacks for impairment recoveries are
recognised in the Income Statement under the same item and the value of the loan after the writeback shall
not in any event exceed the amortized cost that the asset would have had if the prior adjustment had not
been made.

For non-performing exposures, accrued interests recognised in the Income Statement under item “10. Inter-
est and similar income” are calculated based on amortized cost. The same item reports interest income due
to the passage of time, calculated within the measurement of non-performing financial assets based on the
original effective interest rate.

The income statement reports interest income calculated with the effective interest method in accordance
with Bank of Italy Circular 262.

DERECOGNITION
Financial assets are derecognised if one of the following cases occurs:

contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets have expired;

the financial asset is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and rewards resulting from its ownership.
Financial assets are derecognised only if their sale has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards
associated with ownership of the same assets. Conversely, when a prevalent share of the risks and rewards
associated with ownership of the financial assets is retained, the assets continue to be recognised, even if
the relevant legal title has been transferred. In case of substantial modifications to the contract (i.e. modifi-
cations affecting the characteristics and/or cash flows of the financial instrument), the instrument affected
by such modifications shall be derecognised and a new financial asset shall be recognised based on the
new contractual clauses, both where the renegotiation is formalized with the signing of a new contract and
where it is executed by modifying an existing contract.

Where it is not possible to ascertain whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred, financial assets are derecognised when no form of control over the assets has been retained.
Conversely, if even a portion of control is retained, the asset continues to be recognised to the extent of
the continuing involvement, measured by exposure to changes in the value of the assets transferred and to
changes in the related cash flows.

e financial assets are written off where their recovery can no longer be reasonably expected, including in
case of waivers of the rights to the asset;

¢ the entity retains the contractual right to receive the cash flows from the assets, but it concomitantly un-
dertakes the contractual obligation to pay such flows to a third party (pass-through arrangements).

e the contract undergoes modifications that qualify as “substantial”. In case of substantial modifications to
the contract (i.e. modifications that affect the characteristics and/or the cash flows of the financial instru-
ment), the entity shall derecognise the financial instrument affected by the modification and shall recog-
nise a new financial asset based on the contract as modified, irrespective of whether the renegotiation is
finalized by signing a new contract or by modifying the existing one.
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4. Hedging transactions

TYPES OF HEDGES

In compliance with the decision made by the Crédit Agricole Group, the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group
has not applied the “hedge accounting” section of the IFRS 9, exercising the option given by the IFRS9 itself.
All hedges have continued to be reported in accordance with IAS 39, up to the date of application of the sup-
plement on fair value macro hedging (after its endorsement by the European Union). However, the eligibility of
financial instruments for hedge accounting in accordance with the IAS 39 takes into account the bases of clas-
sification and measurement of financial instruments pursuant to the IFRS 9.

CLASSIFICATION

The “Hedging Derivatives” asset and liability items report financial derivatives held for hedging, which, as at the
reporting date, have positive or negative fair values, respectively.

Hedging transactions are used to neutralize potential losses occurring on a given item or group of items attributa-
ble to a given risk, should the risk event take place.

The following types of hedges are used:

e fair value hedges: these are used to hedge exposures to changes in the fair value (attributable to the dif-
ferent types of risk) of assets and liabilities or portions thereof, groups of assets and liabilities, irrevocable
commitments and portfolios of financial assets and liabilities, including core deposits, as permitted by
IAS 39, which was endorsed by the European Commission;

e cash flow hedges: these are used to hedge exposures to changes in future cash flows caused by certain
risks associated with financial statement items. In some cases, similar hedges are used for some varia-
ble-rate loans;

e hedge of an investment in a foreign currency: it is used to hedge risks of an investment in a foreign oper-
ation expressed in a foreign currency.

RECOGNITION

Hedging derivatives, like all derivatives, are initially recognised at subscription date and later measured at fair
value.
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MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA
Hedging derivatives are measured at fair value. Specifically:

- in case of fair value hedging, changes in the fair value of the hedged item are offset against changes in
the fair value of the hedging instrument. This offsetting is recognised in the Income Statement under item
“90. Net profit (loss) on hedging activities” by reporting value changes regarding both the hedged item
and the hedging instrument. Any difference that may arise, since it represents the partial ineffectiveness
of the hedge, also represents its net effect through profit or loss;

- cash flow hedges: these are used to hedge exposures to changes in future cash flows caused by certain
risks associated with financial statement items. This type of hedge is essentially used to stabilize interest
cash flows from variable-rate funding to the extent it concerns fixed-rate loans. In some cases, similar
hedges are used for some variable-rate loans. Changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognises in
equity (item “120. Valuation reserves”), for the effective portion of the hedge, and are recognised through
profit or loss only when the cash flow change to be offset occurs regarding the hedged item;

- hedge of an investment in a foreign currency: it is used to hedge risks of an investment in a foreign oper-
ation expressed in a foreign currency and it is recognised as cash flow hedges are.

The derivative instrument is classified as held for hedging where there is formal documentation of the re-
lationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument and where it is effective at inception and
throughout its life.

The effectiveness of the hedge depends on the degree to which changes in fair value of the hedged instru-
ment or the relative expected cash flows are offset by changes in that of the hedging instrument. Accordingly,
the actual effectiveness is gauged by comparing the above-mentioned changes, taking into account the
intention of the company at the inception of the hedge.

Hedging is deemed effective when changes in the fair value (or the cash flows) of the hedging instrument
almost entirely —i.e. within an interval of between 80% and 125% - offset changes in the value of the hedged
item for the hedged risk factor.

Effectiveness is assessed at the end of each year, or interim period, using:

e prospective tests, which justify the application of hedge accounting, since they demonstrate the expect-
ed effectiveness of the hedge;

e retrospective tests, which show the degree of effectiveness of the hedge achieved during the reference
period. In other words, they measure how actual results deviate from the perfect hedge.

Any hedge ineffectiveness caused by economic circumstances that are expected to return to normal as con-
firmed by prospective tests is not taken into account.

Interuption of the hedging relationship

It the hedge effectiveness is not proved by the verifications and tests carried out, from that time on hedge
accounting, as described above, shall be terminated, the derivative contract shall be reclassified to “Financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” and, specifically, to “Financial assets held for trading”.

In case of fair value hedges, the hedged item is measured with the original measurement approach of the
category it belongs to; for instruments measured at amortized cost, any accumulated recoveries/losses rec-
ognised subsequent to the fair value change of the hedges risk are recognised in the Income Statement under
interest income and interest expense throughout the residual life of the hedged item, based on the effective
interest rate. If the hedged item is sold or repaid, the fair value portion that has not yet been amortized shall
be immediately recognised in the Income Statement.

Hedging of portfolios of assets and liabilities

The hedging of portfolios of assets and liabilities ( “macrohedging”) and its consistent recognition can be
done after:

e identifying the portfolio to be hedged and breaking it down by maturity;
e designating the item to be hedged,;
e identifying the interest rate risk to be hedged;
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e designating the hedging instruments;
e determining effectiveness.

The portfolio hedged against interest rate risk may contain both assets and liabilities. This portfolio is broken
down by maturity in terms of collection or repricing of the interest rate, after analyzing the cash flow structure.
Fair value changes occurred in the hedged item are recognised in the Income Statement under item “90. Net
profit (loss) on hedging activities” and in the Balance Sheet under item “60. Fair value change of financial
assets in macro-hedge portfolios” or under item “50. Fair value change of financial liabilities in macro-hedge
portfolios”. Fair value changes occurred in the hedged item are recognised in the Income Statement under
item “90. Net profit (loss) on hedging activities” and in the Balance Sheet under asset item “50. Hedging De-
rivatives” or under liability item “40. Hedging derivatives”.

In case of early termination of fair value macrohedging, the accumulated recoveries/losses are recognised
in the Income Statement under interest income or interest expense throughout the residual duration of the
original hedging relationships, granted that it is verified that the related requirements are met.

5. Equity investments

RECOGNITION, CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

This item reports equity investments held in associates and joint ventures that are recognised using the equity
method.

Joint ventures are companies in which the voting rights and the control of its business activities are shared
equally, directly or indirectly, between the Parent Company and another party. Joint arrangements also in-
clude equity investments in which, despite the lack of equal voting rights, control over the business activities
and the strategic policies of the investee company is shared with other parties under contractual agreements.

Associates are companies in which the Group exercises a significant influence, holding, directly or indirectly,
at least 20% of the voting rights (including “potential” voting rights that may be exercised) or having the pow-
er to participate in determining its financial and management policies, despite holding less than 20% of the
voting rights, owing to specific legal ties, such as being party to a shareholders’ agreement.

RECOGNITION

These financial assets are initially recognised at the settlement date. At initial recognition, these financial as-
sets are recognised at cost, including any goodwill paid upon acquisition which, therefore, is not separately
recognised.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

The book value of the financial asset is then increased or decreased in order to recognise the portion of profit
and losses of the investees attributable to the Group and realized after the equity investment acquisition, as
the balancing item of the Consolidated Income Statement item “250. Profit (losses) on equity investments”.
Dividends received from an investee are recognised as a reduction in the book value of the equity investment.

Where there is evidence that the value of an equity investment may be impaired, its recoverable value is deter-
mined, taking into account the present value of future cash flows that the equity investment could generate,
including its value upon divestment.

If the recoverable value is lower than the book value, the difference is recognised in the Income Statement.

If the reasons for the impairment should be removed subsequent to the recognition of the impairment loss, a
writeback is taken to the income statement.
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DERECOGNITION

Equity investments are derecognised in case of any sale that transfers essentially all rights and rewards as-
sociated with their ownership.

In case significant influence or joint control can no longer be exercised, any residual investment shall be re-
classified to the portfolios of financial assets in accordance with the IFRS 9.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

CLASSIFICATION

“Property, plant and equipment” includes land, operating property, investment property, technical plants,
furniture, furnishings and equipment of any type, works of art and property, plant and equipment inventories
governed by IAS 2.

These assets are held to be used in production or supply of goods and services (property, plant and equip-
ment used in operations in accordance with IAS 16), to be rented out to third parties or for investment purpos-
es (investment property governed by IAS 40) and are intended to be used for longer than one period.

This item also reports the assets used within finance lease contracts, even though the lessor remains the
owner of the asset.

RECOGNITION

“Property, plant and equipment” items are initially recognised at cost, which includes, in addition to the purchase
cost, all costs directly attributable to purchasing and placing the asset in service. Extraordinary maintenance ex-
penses that increase the future economic benefits generated by such assets are recognised as an increase in the
value of the assets, while ordinary maintenance costs are recognised in the Income Statement.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

Property, plant and equipment items, including investment property, are measured at cost less depreciation
and impairment.

These assets are systematically depreciated over their useful life on a straight-line basis, as reported in the
table below:

posorpten | Owsn]

Land No depreciation
Operating property 33 years "
Other investment property

- Other 33 years "

- High-end property and inventories (IAS2) No depreciation
Furniture, fittings, alarm systems and vehicles From 4 to 10 years
Computers and electronic equipment From 3 to 10 years
Works of art No depreciation

M 1t is specified that, in few specific cases and for specific property units, their useful life, appropriately calculated, may have different duratione

Buildings are depreciated at a rate based on a useful life deemed fit to appropriately represent the deterioration
of the assets over time due to use, taking into account any extraordinary maintenance costs, which increase the
value of the asset, and ordinary maintenance costs, which maintain the value of the assets for longer periods of
time. However, the assets’ remaining useful life is verified on a regular basis.

The cost of depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the Income Statement under “210
Net adjustments of/ recoveries on property, plant and equipment”.
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The following assets are not depreciated:

e land, whether acquired separately or incorporated in the value of the building, since it has an indefinite
useful life. Where its value is incorporated in the value of the building, under the components approach,
the land is considered separable from the building. The division between the value of the land and the
value of the building is based on appraisals by independent experts, for buildings entirely owned by, and,
therefore, fully available to the Company, including the land;

e high-end property;

e property, plant and equipment inventories governed by IAS 2;

e works of art, since their useful life cannot be estimated and their value normally increases over time.

If there is evidence of impairment of the asset, the asset’s book value is compared to its recoverable value.
For more exhaustive reporting, please refer to paragraph “16 Other Information - Method to calculate impair-
ment losses - Other non-financial assets”.

Any adjustments are recognised in the Income statement under item “210 Net adjustments of/recoveries on
property, plant and equipment”.

If the reasons for impairment cease to exist, a writeback is recognised. The book value following the writeback
shall not exceed the value the asset would have had, net of depreciation, in the absence of the prior writedown.

DERECOGNITION

Un’immobilizzazione materiale € eliminata dallo stato patrimoniale al momento della dismissione o quando il
bene & permanentemente ritirato dall’uso e dalla sua dismissione non sono attesi benefici economici futuri.

7. Intangible Assets

CLASSIFICATION

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets that are identifiable and not physical, stem from legal or contrac-
tual rights, are held to be used for several years and are expected to generate future economic benefits. The
main types of intangible assets are:

e software acquired from external sources or with licence for use;

¢ in-house developed software;

e residual goodwill recognised as the difference between purchase cost and the fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired and contingent assets and liabilities recognised upon acquisition in accordance with
the IFRS 3 determination criteria;

e theintangibles representing business with customers are recognised subsequent to the application of IFRS 3.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Separately acquired and internally generated intangible assets are initially recognised at cost adjusted by any
ancillary expenses, only if the economic benefits from the asset are likely to be generated and if its cost can
be reliably determined. Otherwise, the intangible asset cost is recognised in the Income Statement for the
period in which it is borne. Intangible assets acquired through business combinations are recognised at fair
value as at the acquisition date.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

After initial recognition, intangible assets are recognised net of the accumulated amortization and of any ac-
cumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets’ useful life is assessed as finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortized over their useful life and are tested for impairment every
time signals of possible impairment are detected. The amortization period and approach for intangible assets
with finite useful life are reassessed at least at the end of every year. Changes in the expected useful life or
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in the modalities with which the future economic benefits linked to the assets occur, are recognised through
the change in the amortization period or approach, as the case may be, and are considered as accounting
estimate changes. The amortization cost for intangible assets with finite useful life is recognised in the Income
Statement in the item “220 Net adjustments of/recoveries on intangible assets”.

Generally, software useful life is estimated as being five years. In compliance with IAS 38 paragraph 104,
some large projects have been specifically identified and their useful life has been measured as being ten
years.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life, including goodwill are not amortized, but are tested for impairment
annually, both at individual level and at a cash-generating unit level.

The amount of any impairment is calculated based on the difference between the recoverable value of the
cash-generating unit and its book value.

This recoverable value is the higher of the fair value of the cash-generating unit, net of any selling costs, and
its value in use. Any subsequent value adjustments are recognised in the Income Statement

DERECOGNITION

Intangible assets are derecognised from the Balance Sheet when disposed of or when no future economic
benefits are expected to be generated by the asset.

Profits or losses resulting from the derecognition of intangible assets are calculated as the difference between
the net disposal revenue and the book value of the intangible asset and are recognised in the income state-
ment for the year in which the derecognition is made.

8. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

“Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” and “Liabilities in respect of assets held for sale”
report non-current assets or groups of assets/liabilities which are in the process of being divested and for which
a sale is considered highly probable. In case of transactions subject to authorization to be issued by Supervisory
Authorities, the Group’s accounting policy, since it attaches an essential value to such authorization, provides
for “Non-current Assets/Liabilities and discontinued operations” to be recognised as from the date of receipt of
the such authorization (whether express or tacit).

These assets/liabilities are measured at the lower between their book value and their fair value net of disposal
costs. The related income and expenses (net of tax effects) are recognised as a separate item in the Income State-
ment.

9. Current and Deferred Taxe

RECOGNITION, CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

These items report current and deferred tax assets and current and deferred tax liabilities, respectively, as
regards income taxes.

Income taxes, calculated in accordance with the ltalian tax legislation, are recognised on an accrual basis,
consistently with the recognition of the costs and revenues generating them. Therefore, they represent the
expense, equal to the balance of current and deferred tax assets and current and deferred tax liabilities, for
taxes on income for the period. Income taxes are recognised in the Income Statement, except for those relat-
ed to items debited or credited directly in equity, for which the related taxes are recognised, for consistency
purposes, in equity.

The effects of current taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at the applicable tax rates.

Provisions for income taxes are calculated on the basis of prudential forecasts of the current tax liability and
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Specifically, deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of

154 Note to the Financial Statements - Part A



Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements

temporary timing differences — without time restrictions — between the value attributed to an asset or a liability
pursuant to the Italian Civil Code and the corresponding values used for tax purposes.

In March 2016, the national tax consolidation scheme was adopted, with effects since the 2015 tax period, by
the Crédit Agricole S.A. Group in Italy; such scheme was introduced with Article 6 of Italian Legislative Decree
No. 147 of 14 September 2015, according to which also the Italian “sister” companies, whose controlling Com-
pany is resident in a EU Member State, may exercise the option for consolidated taxation.

This regime provides for the consolidated companies to transfer their taxable income (or their tax loss) to the
Consolidating Entity Crédit Agricole ltalia S.p.A., which calculates a single taxable income or a single tax loss of
the Group for the ltalian corporate income tax (IRES), as the algebraic sum of the income and/or losses of the
single Companies, and recognises a single tax account payable to or receivable from the ltalian Inland revenue
Service.

In the consolidating entity’s financial statements, the intra-group balances resulting from the tax consolida-
tion scheme are reported under the “Financial assets measured at amortized cost - loans to banks” item for
the provisions for Corporate Income Tax (IRES) allocated by the scheme member entities net of withholdings
due and down-payments made (in the “Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost - due to banks” item if
the down-payments made are higher than the provisions). In the same financial statement items, the scheme
member entities recognise the receivable or payable balances resulting from their respective taxable income
contributions to the consolidating entity.

Deferred tax liabilities are calculated using the so-called balance-sheet liability method.

Deferred tax assets, with regard to deductible temporary differences or future tax benefits that can be gained by
carrying forward tax losses, are recognised to the extent their recovery is deemed likely.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except for the reserves subject to tax
deferral arrangements, since the amount of available reserves already subject to taxation makes it likely that no
taxable operations will be carried out.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the Balance Sheet with open balances without any offset-
ting, the former under the “Tax Assets” item and the latter under the “Tax Liabilities” one.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically measured to reflect any changes in tax regulations or rates,
as well as in any other situation specifically applying to the Company. The effects are recognised in the Income
Statement, except when these regard changes in the temporary differences in items for which accounting pol-
icies require recognition directly in equity, in which case the change in the deferred tax liability or asset is taken
directly to equity.

It is pointed out that, as regards the tax losses/ACE surplus acquired within the merger of the Fellini Banks, in
2018 a specific tax ruling was applied for pursuant to Article 172 of the Italian Consolidated Act on Income Taxes
(TUIR) and had a favourable outcome.

10. Provisions for risks and charges

Allocations to provisions for risks and charges are made when:

a present obligation (legal or implicit) exists resulting from a past event;

e tis likely that resources will have to be used in order to generate the economic benefits necessary to fulfil
the obligation;

e the obligation amount can be reliably estimated.

Where the time factor is significant, provisions are discounted. The allocation to provision is recognised in the
Income Statement, which also reports interest expense accrued on provisions that have been discounted.
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The company pension plans, created pursuant to corporate agreements, qualify as “defined-benefit plans”.

The liability in respect of these plans and relative current service cost are determined on an actuarial basis by
applying the projected unit credit (PUC) method. Under this method, future outlays are projected based on
analyses of time series and the demographic curve and the discounting of these cash flows using a market
interest rate, as set forth in the relevant tables in the Note to the Financial Statements.

Contributions paid in each period are treated as separate items, recognised and measured individually in
calculating the final obligation.

Actuarial profits and losses, defined as the difference between the liability book value and the present value
of the commitments as at the reporting date, are fully recognised directly in equity, under the item “Valuation
reserves”.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES REGARDING COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES ISSUED

This sub-item of the “provisions for risks and charges” item reports credit risk allowances recognised for
commitment to disburse funds and for guarantees issued within the scope of application of the impairment
rules pursuant to IFRS 9. In principle, for these cases, the same methods apply for the allocation to the
three credit risk stages and for the calculation of the expected loss as reported with regard to financial as-
sets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

OTHER PROVISIONS

Other provisions for risks and charges include provisioning for legal or other obligations associated with
employment relationships or disputes, including tax disputes, resulting from a past event for which a cash
outflow to settle the obligation is likely, granted that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount.

Where the time factor is significant, provisions are discounted using current market rates. The amount allocat-
ed to provision is recognised in the Income Statement under item “200. Net provisions for risks and charges”
and reports the increases in the provisions due to the passage of time.

This item also reports long-term employee benefits, the liabilities for which are determined using the same
actuarial assumptions described for post-employment benefits. Actuarial gains and losses are immediately
recognised in full in the Income Statement.

11. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

CLASSIFICATION

The “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Debt securities issued” items report all forms of interbank
and customer funding, repurchase agreements and funding through certificates of deposit, bonds and other
funding instruments issued, less any amounts repurchased.

This item also reports due and payables recognised by the entity as the lessee in finance leases.
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RECOGNITION

These financial liabilities are initially recognised upon the signing of the relevant contract, which is usually the
date of receipt of the funds raised or of the issue of debt securities.

These financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, which usually is equal to the amount collected
or the issue price plus any additional expenses/income that can be directly attributed to the single financing
or issue transaction.

Internal administrative expenses are excluded.

Repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements are recognised as funding or lending transac-
tions. Specifically, repurchase agreements are recognised as due and payables for the spot amount received,
whereas reverse repurchase agreements are recognised as loans and receivables for the spot amount paid.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

Following initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. The result of this method is recognised in the Income Statement under item “20 Interest and similar
expenses”.

This does not apply to short-term liabilities which are recognised in the amount collected since the time factor
is negligible.

DERECOGNITION

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they mature or are settled. Financial liabilities are also derecog-
nised when previously issued securities are repurchased.

The difference between the liability book value and the amount paid to purchase such liability is recognised in
the Income Statement under item 100 “Net profit (loss) on sale or repurchase of financial liabilities”.

The subsequent placement of repurchased securities on the market is treated as a new issue and is recog-
nised at the new placement price, with no effect through profit or loss.

12. Financial liabilities held for trading

RECOGNITION

These financial instruments are recognised, at the date of subscription or at the date of issue, at cost that is
equal to the instrument fair value, without taking into account any directly attributable transaction costs or
income.

This item also reports the negative value of derivative contracts held for trading, as well as the negative value
of derivatives that are embedded in complex contracts but that are not strictly connected to such contracts.

It also includes liabilities originating from technical overdrafts generated by securities trading.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA
All liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

For more information on fair value measurement, please refer to paragraph 16 “Other Information - Fair Value
Measurement” and to “Part A.4 - Fair value reporting”.

Profits and losses on trading and any capital gains and losses on measurement of the trading book are rec-
ognised in the Income Statement under item “80. Net profit (loss) on trading activities”.
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DERECOGNITION

Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised when the contractual rights to the relevant cash flows
expire or when the financial liability is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and rewards of ownership.

13. Financial liabilities measured at fair value

No one of the companies of the Crédit Agricole Italia Banking Group has exercised the fair value option to
measure financial liabilities, in other words to measure financial liabilities at fair value (separately reporting
through equity any fair values changes attributable to its own credit rating) as regards all financial liabilities
as at 1 January 2018.

CLASSIFICATION
Financial liabilities are designated at fair value if one of the following conditions is met:

- this classification allows to eliminate or significantly reduce any “accounting mismatching”;
- they belong to groups of liabilities that are managed and their performance is measured based on fair
value, in accordance with an appropriately documented risk management strategy.

RECOGNITION

They are initially recognised at fair value, without taking into account any transaction income or costs.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA

These liabilities are recognised at fair value with the related effects recognised in accordance with the follow-
ing rules laid down by the IFRS 9:

e any fair value changes attributable to changes in the entity’s credit rating shall be recognised in a specific
valuation reserve (item “120. Valuation reserve”) net of the related tax effect in the Statement of Compre-
hensive Income (Equity);

e any other fair value changes shall be recognised in the Income Statement under item “110. Net profit
(loss) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

For more information on fair value measurement, please refer to paragraph 16 “Other Information - Fair Value
Measurement” and to “Part A.4 - Fair value reporting”.

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income shall not be later recycled through profit
or loss, including when the liability has expired or has been settled; in this case, the accumulated Profit (Loss)
shall be reclassified to the specific valuation reserve under another Equity item (item “150. Reserves”). This
recognition approach shall not be applied if the recognition of the effects of the entity’s credit rating in Equity
determines or increases any accounting mismatch in the Income Statement. In this case, profits or losses
associated with the liability, including those resulting from any changes in the entity’s credit rating, shall be
recognised through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at fair value.
To measure the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market, market prices are used.

Where there is no active market, estimate and measurement models that are generally accepted and based
on observable market inputs shall be used, such as: methods based on the measurement of quoted instru-
ments having similar characteristics, discounting of future cash flows, models to determine the price of op-
tions, values reported for recent comparable transactions.
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DERECOGNITION

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they mature or are settled. Liabilities are also derecognised when
previously issued securities are repurchased. The difference between the liability book value and the amount
paid to purchase such liability is recognised in the Income Statement under item 110 “Net profit (loss) on
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

14. Foreign currency transactions

RECOGNITION

Transactions in a foreign currency are initially recognised in the cuurency of account by translating the foreign
currency amount at the exchange rate in force on the date of the transaction.

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA AND REVENUE RECOGNITION CRITERIA
At each annual and interim financial reporting date, foreign currency items are measured as follows:

monetary items are translated at the exchange rate in force as at the reporting date;
non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate in force as at the
transaction date;

e non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated at the exchange rate in force as at the reporting
date.

Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of monetary items or from the translation of monetary
items at exchange rates other than the initial translation rate, or the translation of previous Financial State-
ments, are recognised in the Income Statement for the period in which they emerge.

When gains or losses relating to a non-monetary item are recognised in equity, the exchange rate difference
for the item is also recognised in equity.

Conversely, when a profit or a loss is recognised in the Income Statement, the related exchange rate differ-
ence is also recognised in the Income Statement.

15. IAS 39 financial statement items

The accounting standards used to prepare financial statement items reporting financial instruments as at 31
December 2017 are given below (IAS39).

Financial assets held for trading

CLASSIFICATION

This category consists of debt and equity securities, as well as of the positive value of derivatives contracts
held for trading.

Derivatives contracts include derivatives embedded in complex financial instruments that have been recog-
nised separately because

e their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the characteristics of the host contract;

e the embedded instruments, also when separated, meet the definition of derivative;

e the hybrid instruments which they belong to are not measured at fair value with the relevant changes
taken to the Income Statement.
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MEASUREMENT

After initial recognition, financial assets held for trading are measured at fair value. The effects of the applica-
tion of this measurement standard are taken to the Income Statement.

IFRS 13 defines the fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

To measure the fair value of financial instruments that are listed on an active market, market prices are used.
Where there is no active market, fair value is measured using generally accepted estimation methods and
measurement models that take account of all the risk factors correlated to the instruments and that are
based on information available on the market, such as: the measurement of the price of listed instruments
with similar features, discounted cash flows, option pricing models, values reported for recent comparable
transactions, etc.

Equity securities, derivatives on equity securities and UCITS units, whose fair value cannot be reliably meas-
ured according to the above guidelines, are recognised at cost.

Financial assets available for sale

CLASSIFICATION

This category includes financial assets that are not otherwise classified as “Loans and Receivables”, “Financial

Assets Held for Trading”, “Investments Held to Maturity” or “Financial Assets measured at Fair Value”.

In addition to bonds that are not held for trading and are not classified as “Financial Assets Held to Maturity”,
as “Financial Assets measured at Fair Value” or as “Loans and Receivables”, this item includes also equity in-
vestments that are not held for trading and do not amount to subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, including
investments in private equity and in private equity funds, as well the shares of subscribed syndicated loans,
which have been held for sale since inception.

MEASUREMENT

Following initial recognition, “Assets available for sale” are measured at fair value, with the recognition in the
income statement of the interests calculated based on the effective rate of return, whereas the gains and
losses resulting from changes in the fair value are recognised in a specific equity reserve until the asset is
derecognised or an impairment is recognised. Upon disposal or recognition of an impairment loss, the accu-
mulated gains or losses are taken to the Income statement.

Fair value is determined using the standards adopted for “Financial assets held for trading”.

Equity instruments included in this category, for which the fair value cannot be reliably determined, are rec-
ognised at cost. Poorly tradable Equity Instruments and UCITS Funds are measured including an illiquidity
discount.

“Financial assets available for sale” undergo impairment testing to determine whether there is objective evi-
dence of impairment.

Where impairment is found, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between purchase cost and
fair value, net of any losses already recognised in the Income Statement.

For equity securities, a fair value decrease by over 30% below the initial book value or for a period over 6
months is considered evidence of impairment. Further impairment is reclassified from equity to gains (losses)
for the year, until the asset is derecognised.

Should the reasons for impairment no longer apply subsequent to an event occurred after the recognition of
the impairment loss, a value recovery is recognised in the Income Statement for debt securities and loans; for
equity instruments this value recovery is recognised in a specific equity reserve.

For debt securities and loans, this value recovery shall in no case determine a book value higher than the
amortized cost that the financial instrument would have had if the loss had not been recognised.
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LOAN RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS ENTAILING PARTIAL OR FULL CONVERSION INTO EQUITY IN-
STRUMENTS CLASSIFIED AS FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR- SALE

For equity instruments received within loan restructuring transactions carried out by debtors, the received
equity instruments are initially recognised at fair value; the difference between the loan book value and the fair
value of the equity instruments is taken to the income statement under value adjustments.

Moreover, where the restructuring with total or partial equity conversion relates to non-performing exposures,
since the conversion does not modify their quality, the equity instruments received are also considered as
issued by a “non-performing” issuer”; this entails that subsequent reductions in their fair value are considered
impairment evidence and, therefore, are recognised in the Income Statement until the issuer is restored to a
performing status.

Investments held to maturity

CLASSIFICATION

This category includes debt securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Com-
pany has the intention and the ability to hold to maturity. If, following a change in such intention or ability, it
is no longer appropriate to continue to classify an investment as “held to maturity”, it is reclassified under
“Financial Assets available for sale”.

MEASUREMENT

Following initial recognition, investments held to maturity are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Gains and losses relating to assets held to maturity are recognised in the Income Statement at the moment
in which the assets are derecognised or have incurred impairment, as well as through the amortization of the
difference between the book value and the amount repayable at maturity.

Financial assets held to maturity are subject to impairment testing to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment.

If such evidence exists, the amount of this loss is measur